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PER B FEACE R

'HIS SOCIAL HISTORY makes extensive use of unpublished letters, diaries,
journals, and information gathered in interviews by the author over the last
thirty years. Particular brographical attention is paid to William B. Close and
his brothers, since their ingenuity and enterprise created the colony of gentle-
men on the prairie, and to a great extent their personal lives affected its
l;'lr_‘_‘.'[iﬂ‘_'»'.

To portray a sense of what homesteading in lowa was actually like for these
upper-class immigrants, a substantial portion of the book also concerns the
lives of Walter and James Cowan, who established a stock farm on the banks of
the Big Sioux River on the border between lowa and South Dakota. These
bright, well-educated young men wrote letters home that are wonderfully
witty, telling in detail, and full of the pathos of self-knowledge regarding their
difficult situation.

William Van Der Zee's early account of the colony for the State Historical
Society of lowa The British in lowa (1922), has been an invaluable research
source because he corresponded with William B. Close just before his death
and consulted other colonists still living in the area. Since the subject was
recent history then, fronter newspapers with stories on colony activities were
still available; many of these, unless transcribed to microfilm, have been lost
Van Der Zee viewed the British immigration in terms of its impact on Jowa,
but the perspective of time and the uncovering of many new sources of infor-
mation have greatly enlarged the picture. Increasing public interest in
genealogy and cultural backgrounds has not only heightened curiosity about
this colorful immigration venture but also resulted in new information from
family sources

My researches began in 1953 for “The Amazing English ( olony of North-
west lowa,” published the following year in the lowan magazine. Having been
born in Le Mars and raised on a farm nearby, I had long known about the
colony. My paternal grandfather (of German ancestry), a pioneer during this
period, had been acquainted with some of these immigrant gentlemen in the
course of his harvest work. I interviewed a few colony survivors who remem-
bered the days of the British, including T. J. Maxwell (Frederic Close's groom)
whom [ found in Kingsley, just down the road from the old Close farms. I
made pilgrimages to each of the colony farms I could identify from early plat
records and local hearsay. Since I recorded this research. material from it comes
into this account when the story of the tracking down of information seems
appropriate to the narrative
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With publication of a second article, “An English Colony on the Praine,’
in the London |."L‘r'hullx.|]_ Couniry Life ."'-h’??fm‘flil‘}cl_]. descendants of col-
onists wrote me from all over the world. Some twenty years later while living 1n
England 1 successfully located relatives of the ( loses and learned that William
B. Close had kept a journal during the early years of his American stay. = Lhe
Prairic Journal," as he entitled it, had been transcribed to typescript by his
niece. Anne Eaden, although upon her death in the early 1950s the original
manuscript was lost. Close’s journal, dispatched in sections to friends and
Camilv. convevs a sense of what a sharp, amusing Cambridge graduate noted
+bout Americans and their ways. With such a wealth of new information on
how the colony came into being, followed by discovery of a cache of Close
Brothers. Limited. business letters, I decided to write a history of the Close
Colonv. also referred to as the Le Mars Colony or the English Colony

Another important research source was James P Reed’s 1974 thesis manu-
script, “The Role of an English Land Company in the Settlement of Northwest-
ern lowa and Southwestern Minnesota,” in the library of the University of
Nebraska at Omaha. He had scrutinized courthouse records throughout the
area. resulting in a detailed assessment of the Closes land-buying and selling

operations [ am also indebted to Professor Bernard ( rick of the London School

— #

of Economics for his advice and for his compendium, A Guide to Manuscripts
Relating to Americans in Great britain and Ireland, which put me onto the
Cowan brothers letters. And to J. O. C. Willson, my appreciation for permis-
sion to quote from these letters of his grandfather and great-uncle

| particularly wish to thank Susanne Knowles, granddaughter ot James
Close. for her aid on the Close family history; Jonathan ( lose-Brooks, great-
orandson of John Close, tor his extensive help: also, James Close, grandson of

the James Close 1n this account. for permission to use extensive portions ot

William B. Close’s “The Prairie Journal” and Close Brothers letters
[hanks. also. to Gordon and Malcolm Brodie tor allowing me to use thei
and to the late Roger Close-Brooks for crucial information,

1

orandfather’s diary
including the material in the Close family Bible and various letters. I am also
orateful to Eleanor Jackson Piel for her legal services providing access to papers
n the archives of the Superior Court of the State of New York, and to Gordon

1ction which brought about a change n the law ot New

Bovd for ininating
Glada

York State regarding closed files on matrimonial cases; to Carter Pitts,

-nd Dick Koerselman of the Le Mars Sentinel tor their Plymouth County help
Robert Maxtone Graham for information regarding his ancestors: and James
Paullin for genealogical aid; also, Cynthia Brants, Mrs. C. W. Sloan, Robert
Van Der Zee. E. V. Heacock, Beverly Brodie, Bette Brodie. Lois and Rex
Allen. Mrs. W. H. McHenry, James McCowan ot the University of lowa library
Maureen Duffy, Professor Leland L. Sage tor his editorial suggestions; and most

especially, Naona and Bee her Moore. whose London home was my headquar-

ters during the years of research
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UROPEANS have emigrated to the United
States for a wide variety of reasons, but rarely

) has it been “the thing to do” to preserve social

( status. After all, America 1s supposedly
> withourt class structure or social hierarchies. All
the more remarkable, then, that a sizable
colony of British gentry should have flourished on the frontier in western lowa
and southeastern Minnesota in the 1880s, “a colony of 500 wealthy
Englishmen, many of them of noble blood, who live like veritable lords and
spend from $500 and $600 a month for their common living expenses,” accord-
ing to a contemporary issue of Macmillan's magazine.' For these privileged
young men who sailed into New York harbor past the newly erected Statue of
Liberty, Emma Lazarus’s famous lines, “Give me your tired, your poor/ Your
huddled masses yearning to breathe free,” did not pertain. They had crossed
the Atlantic in saloon or cabin class, and their conversation had been the
delight of the captain’s table. The American West with its cowboys and
gunslingers lured them as romantically as the Hindu Kush, the Transvaal, the
Sudan, or any other exotic setting where young Englishmen “of the better
class” sought adventure —or were sent to be gotten rid of.?

They came to Iowa (many of them imagining it was part of the fabled
West) from England’s public schools, especially Cheltenham, Wellington,
Eton, and Harrow, or had just finished studies at Oxford or Cambridge —or
possibly been “sent down.” They were the sort Thomas Hardy in 7ess of the
D 'Urbervilles portrays in Angel Clare, a clergyman’s son, who tries to learn
about agriculture on an English dairy farm in preparation for his removal to
“the colonies or America” In Great Britain a limited choice of careers lay
before them, given the strictures of the Victorian class code: a commission 1n
the army or navy, ordination as a clergyman, government civil service—and for
the eldest son, farming the ancestral lands. Beyond that, a few of the profes-
sions were socially acceptable, among them medicine and law, and even high
finance in the city of London, provided a good deal of money was made. But
they should have nothing to do with commerce, trade, or industry. Little
wonder, then, that an attractive alternative was to go overseas with a remit-

tance of some sort, establish a ranch or plantation or farm, and pursue the life
of the landed gentleman

For parents, this solved the problem of “What to do with our Boys?” —the
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second, third, or other son.* The margin of money left for these extra boys was
sometimes fairly scant, particularly since dowries had to be provided for
daughters to make them marriageable. It did not much matter where in the
world the young man might be sent, but a place where other British of his kind
already were was an important consideration. It could be lowa, Tennessee,
British Columbia, New Zealand, Africa, or Ceylon, and the farther away the
more likely his life accomplishments might be viewed as a fulfillment of Vic-
torian ideals of manhood, with its emphasis on practical achievements and
Christian piety. Just as the playing fields of the public schools were the scene of
contests of larger implications, so a boy in a far land was engaged 1n proving to
himself and his family that he was capable of carrying on and even advancing
the Empire. True, neither lowa nor Minnesota were part of the Union Jack’s
territories, but questions of citizenship and loyalty could be held in abeyance
because the farm might turn out to be a temporary venture, depending on how
financially successful it was and if emigration “took.”

But why lowa, with its brutal extremes of climate, lack of cosmopolitan
centers, and without mountains, large lakes, or other appealing topography?
Romantic travel literature, such as Sir William Drummond Stewart’s A/zowan
and Edward Warren, the Earl of Dunraven’s The Great Divide, and Isabella
Lucy Bird’s A Lady's Life in the Rocky Mountain, depicted the glories of the Far
West. Getting there, the British traveler hardly noticed the dull, tlat plains,
except as an enormous tract to be traversed as quickly as possible. By the 1880s
Colorado, with its big game hunting and splendid fishing, had lured scattered
English settlers, and Colorado Springs was commonly called “Li'l London.” In
the Rawlins area of Wyoming a British cattle-ranching community was thriy-
ing, but it required considerable capital and ranching skill for a man to get
started there

lowa in the late 1870s happened to be the place where fertile land was
newly coming on the market, after having been held for years by the railroads,
which had received land grants from the government. It took an enterprising
young Cambridge graduate, William B. Close, to envision the possibilities of
creating a colony of “like-minded men and women” in northwestern lowa, a
group so self-contained and resourceful, so sure of nauve abilities and talents,
that the unpromising prairie setting would make little difference.® Not only
would Towa become zhe place to be, but money could also be made there,
doubling the attractiveness of the venture

Close first visited the United States as captain of the British crew partici-
pating in the international Centennial Regatta at Philadelphia in the summet
of 1876. One weekend while training for the race he met a wealthy Illinots
landowner who suggested that a fortune could be made buying and selling
western lands. In the fall, Close toured the middle western prairies and became
convinced of this vocational direction for himself. The next year he and his

brother began farming in Iowa, an enterprise that yielded a 54 percent return
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on their investment the very first year.® With this testimony and facts to back 1t
up, Close quickly caught the attention of British squires who had sons needing
to be set up properly on good land somewhere. It helped that Close was a
famous oarsman, the only man who ever rowed three years in the University
Boat Race (Cambridge vs. Oxford) and in every respect seemed a model for any
young man to pattern himself after.

Frederick Jackson Turner in his classic treatise, The Frontier in American
History, remarked: “The wilderness masters the colonist. . . . It takes him from
the railroad car and puts him in the birch canoe. It strips off the garments of
civilization. . . .""7 But this was exactly what those who directed the Close Col-
ony in lowa would not allow to happen. Instead, the young British immigrant
was placed as an apprentice in an agricultural “school,” the farm of a retired
Royal Navy captain—the brother of the Earl of Ducie—or on some other
suitable gentleman’s place, where he was tutored in the rudiments of lowa
farming. Once the farm pupil, or “pup” as he was called in the ragging way of
public school locution, became acquainted with the basic techniques of Ameri-
can agriculture, Close Brothers helped him purchase land with funds from “the
Guv” back home. In this way a young man from Great Britain presumably
could become a country gentleman almost instantly, 1n a county 1in lowa 1n-
stead of Wiltshire or Bucks, but a landowning farmer just the same —a sort of
aristocrat.

Poultney Bigelow, the American journalist, described the Close Colony in
Harper's: “They have the very best ground for fox hunting in the world —a
rolling prairie with a creek here and there. Every colonist makes it his chief
care, after buying his farm, to breed a good hunter for the steeplechase. They
have regular meets for fox or ‘paper’ hunts, as the case may be. They last year
opened a racing track, and wound up the race with a grand ball"® These high-
living frontier British were among the earliest polo players in America, if not
the first. Their Prairie Club in Le Mars, Iowa, was patterned after a London
club, with English and Scottish newspapers and magazines in plentiful supply,
imported wines and spirits, billiard tables, and traditional British cooking.
Some of the married colonists brought over their housekeepers, butlers, nan-
nies, overseers, and maids, as well as bathtubs, favorite horses, and hunting
dogs.

A newspaper reporter in Le Mars, population 2,500 at the time, described
the arrival of one batch of these well-heeled immigrants: “They descend from
the recesses of the Pullman palace cars dressed in the latest London and Paris
styles, with Oxford hats, bright linen shining on their bosoms, a gold repeater
ticking in the depths of their tashionably cut vest pockets.. .. We recall last
summer a single family that had eighty-two pieces of luggage.™

During the heyday of the Close Colony, 1879-1885, many of Great Brit-
ain’s socially prominent families had some son or relative there, among them:
Ronald Jervis, who became Viscount St. Vincent; Eric Rollo, son of the tenth

o
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Lord Rollo: the son of Sir John Lubbock, M.P. for the city of London; the sons
of Admiral Sir Arthur Farquhar, who established “Carlogie Ranch.” named
after their father’s home in Aberdeenshire; and the son of Lord Alfred Paget,
Almeric Paget, who later married the sister of Harry Payne Whitney and even-
tually became Lord Queenborough. Even the Duke of Sutherland, crony of the
Prince of Wales and England’s largest landowner, was shown around lowa by
William B. Close, who hoped to get him to invest.

By 1884 the pound-sterling purchasing of American soil had reached such
huge proportions that a bill was introduced in Congress to stop the “Leviathan
squatters” from buying more of America.'® At that time the British owned
tracts equal to about one-fourth the size of the British Isles Close Brothers
controlled a firm called the lowa Land Company, believed to be the largest
foreign company doing business in the United States.™ Close Brothers, 1n the
course of buying and selling acres in lowa, Minnesota, Kansas, lexas, and other
states. owned at various times about 400,000 acres of some of the choicest soil
in the country.'*

What happened to this glittering enterprise, and why didn’t the Close
Colony play an important historic role in the cultural and economic life of the
Middle West? From immigration failures one can sometimes se¢ more clearly
the qualities of those who succeeded —as well as why history took one direction
instead of another. The Close Colony actually had little to bind 1t together
sside from the social code of the English class system, which colonists at-
tempted to import to America intact. They expected the old rules would work
in the new land, anticipated loyalties and friendships would hold because of it,
1nd were determined to live in a style decreed by birth and cultural upbring-
ing. For the German, Dutch, and Scandinavian immigrants to this area of lowa
during the period, the old country was left behind of necessity, along with
most of its associations. Many of these immigrants held onto native languages
and religious convictions but became assimilated in most ways, accepting
America as their new home.

Few British immigrants in the Close Colony were so sure that a home had
heen chosen. In most cases these settlers had the options that are available
when money is at hand or easily procurable. They could try something else i
homesteading on the Iowa prairie did not ultimately surt them. To the all-or-
nothing immigrants who had uprooted themselves from Europe, often con-
suming assets in the process of the transplantation while leaving family mem-
bers and homeland. the British gentleman immigrant seemed dilettantish, an
casy figure of fun. The incongruity of the rough life of the frontier and the
presence of these drawing-room individuals struck many “real” Americans,

even if they had only recently arrived, as ridiculous. What did polo playing or
cricket have to do with farming? What was the point of a hunt, 1f not for
killing game for the family table? Some of the Close Colonists relished the
contrast between effete British social life and the middle western pigstyes and
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barnyards, since it seemed an appropriate antidote to overstufted Victorian

life. Lord Hobart, when he left his lowa farm for visits to England, carried with

him cards that read: “Lord Hobart, Dealer in Hogs.” to leave on silver trays at

friends’ houses.™

One of the chief difficulties colonists encountered was who would do the

farm labor? In the early years, almost any itinerant with a little cash could buy

land and farm on his own, not work as a hired hand. Of necessity, the Close

Colony apprentices, fresh from the public schools and universities, became the

labor supply. As soon as these greenhorns learned a little, they persuaded their

fathers to buy them farms and in turn engaged “pups” to work for them—a

pyramid scheme of labor that evolved because there was no native population

to exploit, unlike the situation of their friends in Africa or India. Many settlers

in the colony kept trying to import a yeoman class from home, but when they

arrived most of these workingmen were lured away by other opportunities, saw

L their chance and took it. Housemaids, cooks, and nannies were besieged by

marriage offers in this woman-scarce region, making domestic help also a prob-

lem. Some English landowners with the bluest of blood in their veins ended up

baking bread, scrubbing floors, and doing the washing, as well as all the field

work and animal husbandry. A few such gentlemen found housekeepers by

marrying local women; they dropped out of colony high life and disappeared
into the ordinariness of American middle-class life.

But such a destiny was not what most of them had in mind. Instead,
living within the atmosphere of the Close Colony, they could almost believe
they were still part of the British Empire. They deliberately kept themselves
from integrating into the local scene. When President Garfield was shot 1n
1881, the colony leaders sent a telegram to the widow: “As from representa-
. tives of the largest English Colony in America...” as if a sort of sovereignty
held, and as leaders of a separate principality they were communicating a state
message following proper protocol.'

In the Prairie Club their British identities could always be reaffirmed; the
club was probably an institution even more important in this respect than St.
George’s Episcopal Church, in which prayers were offered each Sunday for the
health and well-being of Queen Victoria. The young gentlemen-immigrants
drank away loneliness in their favorite taverns, the House of Lords, the House
of Commons, and Windsor Castle; their principal hotel was Albion House.
Their June horse-racing meet was called “the Derby,” with thoroughbred racers
shipped from England to compete and gentlemen-owners in bright colored
silks frequently serving as jockeys. The Race Ball with men in white tie and tails
and bejeweled ladies was always a glittering affair. T/4zs was life on the frontier
! as they intended it could and must be, not the grinding, dispiriting experience

it might have been had they no money and a different social attitude. It was an
adventure that enlivened their sense of individual accomplishments—a
triumph over circumstances—and in the end, faith in their birthright was

T
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bolstered. The enterprise would remain in memory, particularly if they left
lowa in time, as an interesting movement to have been part of.

The colony did not disappear overnight. It dwindled under the onslaught
of several unfortunate turns of event, among them, the death of its leader,
Frederic Close, in a polo accident in 1890; also that year marked the beginning
of an economic depression that reached its worst in 1893, lowering land values
and turning most agriculture unprofitable. In 1895 a tire destroyed the Pratrie
Club. and although the rebuilt club continued to exist well into the twenteth
century, the new establishment began to admit Americans. The British packed
and left: those who remained were forced to consider themselves American —
certainly their children were of this new citizenry. The few British who stayed
saw their colony wither and themselves becoming increasingly distant from
who thev once were. since nobody was left to view them as gentlemen or help
shore up their fading image of themselves as part of “the better class.”

The British had based their colony in lowa upon the idea that the future
should closely resemble the Victorian present. But 1t is seldom possible to

impose upon tomorrow a set of circumstances and conditions that are fully
developed today. What the colonists in lowa and their parents who had sent
them out could not have imagined was that the Empire had painted as much
of the globe pink as it ever would, had reached its peak, and was already
starting its great decline. “For each age i1s a dream that is dying,/ Or one that 1s
coming to birth.”'s The settlers in the Close Colony felt they could do anything
because they were gentlemen and Britsh. It was a faith that took them far
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Athlete into Immigrant

=D,
EW young men have arrived in America un-

der such auspicious circumstances. In the sum-
mer of 1876 William B. Close of Trinity Col-
lege, Cambridge, was twenty-three years old, a
handsome, noted athlete of the day, president
of the University Boat Club and captain of the
British crew scheduled to row in the Centennial Regatta at Philadelphia. Presi-
dent Ulysses S. Grant was expected to watch the regatta. New York Newspapers
ran front-page articles about the English visitors; as the Times explained, the
extensive coverage was called for “because the Centennial Regatta will raise
amateur boating from a local to an international position.” Even while the
Brittanic was still on the high seas, the virtues of “the English stroke” were
discussed in print and whether it was patriotic or merely foolish to stick to the
“thoroughly American stroke.” “Are not Oxford, Cambridge, and Dublin un-
dergraduates formidable opponents? If so, is it not probable that their stroke is
dangerous?’"

William B. Close had been around water all his life. He was the fifth of
eight children who had grown up on board the sailing yacht S76#//a, which
cruised the Mediterranean and Adriatic, with 2 home base at Antibes. France.
His father, a banker and intimate business advisor of Ferdinand II of Naples,
had accumulated enough money at the time of the king’s death in 1859 to
retire and devote himself to his family, yachting, and other hobbies. When he
died of a heart attack six years later, the boys were placed in English schools
and expected to pursue careers that would enable them to earn a proper living,
although only the year before their mother's father, Samuel Brooks of the well-
established firm of Brooks Bank, had died, leaving her £100,000. William’s
father hoped his sons would learn the habits of gentlemen, yet “acquire the
impression that labour and industry are absolute requisites to their indepen-
dence and happiness.” Thus at an early age, William was exposed to the idea
that being a gentleman and earning money were in no way incompatible. His
father had done just that. The Closes even had connections with the British
aristocracy. While William was still a schoolboy at Wellington, his cousin Amy
Brooks married the Marquis of Huntly, a socially lustrous name since the seven-
teenth century, when the daughter of King James I of Scotland married the
second Earl of Huntly. This family access to the upper levels of society later
helped William in the development of his Iowa colony: proper blue-blood
credentials enabled him to reach persons of means who could invest.?

9




welcome us to America,
men arrived n 1
not only more econ
also a suitable way to relate his
\{'Itin:‘n I‘!U\Hlf('ti OI ]}ll.i'_'r'l'll f,il\{'
reading the journal
observer and seized upon
the American character,

For instance,
growing on famous Fifth Avenue:

[ ()

“CHAMPAGNE corks fly about and they
" wrote William in his journal as the Cambridge oars-
New York on a hot July morning in 1876. Writing a journal was
omical in time than composing individual letrers, but it was
adventures and gain a perspective on them He
with his brothers, sisters, and other relatives
they all knew him too well He enjoyed the role of bright
aspects of his experiences that would throw light on
‘n the manner of Tocqueville, Martineau, or Dickens

‘he bad streets and roads puzzled him; there was cven grass
“one could keep three cows comfortably” He

reported discussing this situation with a fictional Jonathan

[ caid “The American nation, instead of being the go-ahead people

one had heard of so much were behind the age in patronising such bad

Ladl

streetrs,
“Not a bit of it. It only proves we arc far ahead of the time. What

does it matter to us if our roads are rough? We build carriages to suit the

roads. with such light springs that going over these rough stones only

makes a pleasant rocking motion, and the Corporation save vast amounts

of public money whi h ought to be spent on roaas but which the Cor-

poration spend on chemselves, and thus encourage trade

“But vour carriages and horses cannot last vou long. They must get

worn out by this rough usage.

“So thev do, and that 1s just another proof that we
grandfather's coach will last unul your Grand-
1s Here we ket p up

SIX

are not behind

time. In England your
children. It cannot be worn out with vour good roac
with the fashion — being obliged to— having to get 4 new Cartidss every
months. about. And after having had a horse for sometime we gel ured of

it and want a change, so are very glad when it goes lame We get nid of 1t

and buv a new one.

American boosterism was rampant durng the height of the centennial

| William was wryly amused that this causc 1ol joy — separation
did not seem incompatible with the requests of newspaper
nrimate information about their persons
15 a five feet eleven inch blond with sandy

celebratons, anc
from England

reporters for interviews to obtain

William was described 1n the 1zes
whiskers, \H‘ighlng 104 i“!nl.lmi\. A1
Their daily movements and "ul‘lprrw\lulh“ were
[he English oarsmen werc taken through Central Park
boat clubs and introduced one by one to each member of fifreen clubs, some ot

.bout. drinking beer, and plunging 1nto the
ng to meet these

| measuring 42 inches around the chest
recorded, often inaccurately.
to the Harlem River

them in bathing suits, lounging

river to cool off. William was outraged by the indignity ol havi

louts. many of whom were quite indifferent to the British visitors, and yet the

“handsomely entertained.”* What particu-
called “amateur oarsmen,’

Nnewspapers H']Hﬂlt*ti that they were
larly affronted him was that these Americans were
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but only two clubs aside from the Columbia College club were actually com-
prised of gentlemen. “Carpenters, tailors, shop-keepers, etc., abound and pre-
dominate in the others.” In boating circles at home such riffraff would not be
tolerated: the rules of Henley Regatta stated that any man was ineligible to
participate who was “by trade or employment for wages a mechanic, artisan, or
labourer’®

Later, 1n Philadelphia, the Cambridge crew was again treated in a rather
cavalier manner because of American ignorance of British regard for class dis-
tinctions. William’s report to his family explained how he managed to prevail
despite American egalitarian customs. The lodging house where they were
driven upon arrival was barely completed. After they were shown a room with
three beds, a washstand, and chair, their host remarked, “I guess this room will
suit you all first style” Five members of the crew and their boatman were
expected to sleep there, and while the whole American committee agreed they
were fine accommodations, William quietly insisted that he did not concur.
stating that “we were not accustomed to sleep two in a bed, nor to have our
boatman sleeping with us.” This astonished the Americans, who “seemed to
consider this as only one more instance of the prejudices and effete customs of
bloated England.”

However, they were provided with two more rooms, and the oarsmen got
down to work practicing on the Schuylkill, using their own boats, their seats
moving on rollers—a major innovation first used in the Henley Regatta of
1872. One day the slide under William’s seat became very stiff; he became
quite bruised and unable to sit down without cushions. The crew went to Cape
May, New Jersey, for the weekend, and although William accompanied them,
he could not train. Thus he happened to find himself in conversation with a
man from Quincy, Illinois—Daniel Paullin—whose son and daughter were
staying with him at the resort hotel. Mary Paullin, a Bradford and Andover
graduate, was an attractive girl of William's age and the first he had thus far
met who displayed a refinement comparable to what he expected in English
ladies of his class. William commented that on their first meeting Daniel
Paullin “told me how he had made his fortune by buying lands in Illinois in
the early 1860s, which had grown very much more valuable, and stated that he
was going to start his sons in lowa in the same way, as the same opportunity
occurred. He invited me to go West to pay him a visit at Quincy, and volun-
teered to lead an expedition into Western Iowa .

This fortuitous encounter, which so profoundly affected William Close’s
life, was in strong contrast to the ill luck he experienced in what seemed to be
his crucial moment— the great contest of the international regatta. The Cam-
bridge four did well in the trial heats, although in England the Pa// Mal/
Gazette termed them “a miserably moderate crew” and hoped Americans
wouldn’t accept them as a specimen of ordinary college rowing, indicating that
if Close hadn’t been president of the boat club he would not even be partici-
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pating. They might well have won, however, if William had not suddenly
collapsed in his seat, too ill with diarrhea to continue. “These beastly Yankees
are crowing over us,” William wrote home, and yet all the foreign crews suf-
fered from the bad water of Philadelphia.’

William recuperated at the British Commission, while his mates enjoyed a
festive round of entertainments in Washington, D.C., at the invitation of the
Washington boat club. General William T. Sherman presented them with
flags, there were receptions, balls, “a perfect furore about them,” but William
missed it all. By mid-September he felt well enough to travel with a crewmate
to West Virginia, where his younger brother Frederic had been farming the last
two years. Frederic, like William, attended Wellington College but decided he
was “no good at books” and didn’t want to matriculate at Cambridge, as his
three older brothers had done. He asked instead that his mother give him the
money to buy a ranch in the United States. Since Frederic knew nothing about
agriculture, he was placed through family connections on a farm 1n Scotland.
This prudent course to gain experience before land ownership was to be devel-
oped later in the Close Colony, with an agricultural “school™ as part of the
scheme.®

The visit to West Virginia was William's first chance to study the Ameri-
can countryside, and now that Mr. Paullin had put ideas into his head regard-
ing his future, he tried to learn as much as possible about the land. The South
seemed slow, sleepy, and fatigued from the ordeal of the Civil War. Frederic
was slated to be a possible witness in a shooting case, and so William observed
1 ludicrous scene of justice, with an inattentive jury, a tobacco-spitting lawyer,
and a judge so bored that he read a newspapet while the defending attorney
cross-examined a witness. William and his companion travelled by horseback
with Frederic forty-two miles to his farm, staying overnight with a hospitable
farmer along the way. The brick house where they put up, once a grand
structure, was infested with rats and surrounded by unkempt gardens, all
because “of their having slaves to do so for them, but now they have to work
themselves and have no time to devote to ornamenting their farms.” Three
years later, when Willlam was promoting lowa as a place for settlement, he
wrote that he found good land in the backwoods of the Alleghenies too expen-
cive and most of the soil seemed played out. “Also, ] formed a very bad
opinion of the lower class of population. Everywhere 1 went [ saw far too much
loafing about at the saloon doors, and the blacks would only work just suffi-
ciently to keep themselves from actual starvation.”

After leaving Virginia they stopped in Washington, toured the national
monuments. and were entertained by American friends: “it was the ladies who
especially looked after us, and made much of us. . . . They were fun, didn’t care
what they said, full of spirits, 1n fact regular American girls.” Daisy Millers
everywhere —a type that interested him because of their boldness, although he

knew his sisters upon reading these remarks “would hold. . .hands up in horror
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at them.” One evening the boat club hosted a barge party on the Potomac and
outfitted the English visitors in uniforms, “exact imitations of sailors’ clothes.
We returned by moonlight, and the Capitol and its white marble dome rising
above the city with the moon shining on it made an admirable effect, the town
and the river being yet in darkness from the shadows of the adjacent hills: and
the ladies’ sweet voices rose in tuneful time to our oars, singing comic songs in
which we joined”

Fred's nickname was “Ginger,” probably because of the color of his hair
and sharpness of his personality. He took quickly to the pleasures of society,
after rusticating so long in the country. The American girls, eager to hear how
English ladies were brought up, were amused and surprised to learn of the
strict use of chaperones, that girls who had not yet “come out” were forbidden
to attend parties unsupervised. They exchanged photographs, each man col-
lecting about a dozen girls” pictures. “But the most remarkable thing is the
fondness of the ladies for giving one a bit of ribbon, or a bow, or a necktie or
scarf, and even one lady aged but seventeen gave me a small locket. . .I am
buying a box on purpose to bring these trophies back. . . .” The forwardness of
an American girl was often preliminary to a display of her accomplishments or
talent. One was very good at rowing and decided to compete in a race, but she
got William to do a little coaching beforehand, and he observed that “her form
was decidedly better than that of any American oar I have seen.” These brash
American girls fascinated him—as they did many other Europeans of the
time —and William would have been deaf to Anthony Trollope’s warning re-
garding American women: “They are sharp as nails, but then they are also as
hard "'°

Leaving Washington, the Englishmen toured the buildings of the Centen-
nial Exhibition in Philadelphia; then, on 17 October they departed for Quincy,
llinois, and a reunion with landowner Daniel Paullin and “his pretty daugh-
ter.” The train nde afforded them continuous views of America and further
discomforts of travel. From St. Louis they boarded a Mississippi steamboat
(“one can hardly call them boats— just as if a couple of funnels were placed on
a row of cottages”) to Quincy.

With the Paullins, they immediately felt at ease, for Daniel Paullin
seemed the American counterpart of an English gentleman. The first Paullin
to emigrate from England to America bought land from William Penn and
settled in southern New Jersey in the latter part of the seventeenth century.
Daniel Paullin’s father was a tobacco merchant who lived in Philadelphia and
Camden, until he bought a tract of land in Adams County, Illinois, and moved
there in 1849, making his home in Quincy. He was a supporter of Abraham
Lincoln’s early efforts in politics, and he married the daughter of Jonathan B.
lurner, pioneer educator and friend of Lincoln’s. Turner framed the first con-
gressional bill to ser aside public lands for colleges of agriculture and mechani-
cal arts, which finally passed as the Morrill land-grant act in 1862 during
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Lincoln’s presidency. This single piece of legislation profoundly affected the
course and quality of American life '* In the Paullin’s Quincy home the Closes
found themselves among people they liked to regard as their own sort— leaders
in society and public affairs. Among the Paullins, William wrote, “we felt as
they wished us to—completely at home.” With their mother dead, the five
Paullin siblings were perhaps more united because of this loss, in much the
way the Close children maintained strong ties following the death of their
father when they were still quite young. Quincy society had “not a vestige of
narrow-mindedness.” William found. “Nearly everybody had been a year or
two in Europe, and that improves Americans very much” The ladies were well-
read and accomplished, but with the exception of Henry Paullin, “I did not
come across any young man worth knowing." They were mostly interested 1n
billiards, saloons, and trading.

Quincy, a long-established city on the Mississippi, was open to the world
and served as a departure point for many settlers headed West. The pioneers
line of movement was no single demarcation, such as a general might draw to
show the advance of troops. Certain areas, including most of northwest lowa.
were still largely open prairie. In 1862, when the Homestead Act was passed,
lowa had only 1,720,000 acres remaining to be claimed out of an original 36
million.'? The act was intended to encourage small-claim settlers; title to 160-
acre tracts could be had without payment, provided the pioneer occupied the
land for five years and accomplished certain improvements. such as building
house. barns, and clearing and cultivating part of the farm. But in practice the
Homestead Act actually encouraged land monopoly instead of preventing it
False claims were entered on plat books and foreign and U.S. syndicates pur-
chased huge tracts, sometimes 100,000 acres ot MoIc at time. Land from the
public domain was first bought by these speculators, who in turn sold 1t to
actual settlers. Daniel Paullin had made a small fortune 1n just such interme-
diary investment speculation By 1876, the best area for such money-making

Railroad had pushed

opportunities lay 1n western [owa. The Illinois Centra
through a line connecting Sioux City with Chicago 1n 1870, and other routes
were being built or planned in the area.

Why had some of the finest land in the world been left so long without
settlement? Why had the frontier jumped over this region and moved farther
west? For one thing, would-be settlers were «till uneasy following Inkpaduta’s
Spirit Lake massacre of 1857. Problems with the Indians sull threatened. The
e Big Horn and Custer’s last stand happened only a few weeks

battle of the Litt

before William Close's arrival for the centennial Also, the grasshopper plagues
in the upper Middle West had been reported 1n newspapers throughout the
world: the epidemics were especially severe in 1874, 1875. and 1876. The sky
would darken, limbs of trees would break off under the weight of the insects,
and railroad trains were unable to get traction on the rails, the wheels slipping
1s if oiled or soaped by the crushed grasshoppers. They flew in clouds resem-
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bling storms, usually with the wind, and when they descended, devoured
everything 1n a matter of minutes—sideboards of prairie schooners, shovel
handles, curtains, sheets, and the clothes of homesteaders.*?

Congress in 1856 had granted the railroads four million acres of public

lands in lowa as an incentive to build four east-west rail routes across the state.
Some companies received six miles on both sides, others got nine miles if
portions of the strip were already occupied. Occasionally, if a large quantity of
land was already homesteaded, the railroad was awarded twenty miles on both
sides. The Civil War stopped much of the railroad construction until the 1870s.
This effectively retarded settlement; actually many of the railroad lands, partic-
ularly in northwest lowa, did not come onto the market until the 1880s when
Close Brothers, Limited, was in full operation.

“To see what sort of land we should buy and to have some idea of their
value we organized our party for a week or ten days cruise on wheels through
the western and less settled parts of the State of lowa,” William wrote in his
journal. They would stop first in Des Moines to interview land agents about
available tracts. The party consisted of crewmate Jerry Mann, nicknamed
“Ptolemy,” because of his silence and wisdom; Henry Paullin, son of Daniel.
called “Grin,” because of his happy disposition; Fred or “Ginger,” and Wil-
liam, now referred to as “Brag.” no doubt because he did too much of it. In
Des Moines, “like all western American towns, there is nothing worth looking
at,” and so they projected a swing through the western part of the state,
making a circle that would cover about 250 miles by team from the railroad
town of Stuart located 40 miles west of Des Moines. They set out with a buggy
and hired team, arranged for by the hotel in Stuart.

Ordinary roads and civilization were left behind. William had his first
encounter with the fabled mid-American prairie, about which Trollope had
waxed eloquent: “The earth is rich with the vegetation of thousands of years,
and the farmer’s return is given to him without delay”'® William wrote his
tamily that there was nothing art all like it in Europe, “rolling prairie. . . none
of the hills rising to much above 100 feet.above the level of the larger creeks.”
No trees, only a very few “mean looking specimens” growing along the creeks,
and hedges were rare. There were hardly any fences because the stock laws
allowed open grange grazing, usually with a herd boy in attendance. This
adjunct use of lands was a crucial resource of the stockman. When lands began
to be fenced (by 1883 Glidden’s produced 600 miles of barbed wire daily), a
different kind of agriculture came into being: smaller farms, with grains raised
primarily for the feeding of livestock, since the open pastures of wild prairie
were gone.

They were touring in early November, after frost, and no green was visi-
ble; “all the grass had turned into a dry reddish brown and the only contrast to
it was either the pale yellow of the dry stalks of the Indian corn or here and
there the dark brown, almost black, of newly ploughed land” The roads were
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i 2 dreadful state. although usually straight, since the surveyors had created
blocklike mile-square sections; one could never reach a destination on the
diagonal but always had to zigzag, checkerboard fashion, “which 1s a nui-
sance” The land they inspected was selling for six to seven dollars an acre,
higher than they wished to pay. On their return to Stuart they had a ternible
time with the balky team. It took them three hours to cover five miles. Their
buggy fell off a bridge the horses refused to cross. The travellers had to walk
the last six miles in a cold rain, night having fallen. It was so dark they couldn't
see one yard in front of them. "Now wading through a slough, then up to our
knees in mud. then stumbling over a mud heap. I can tell you we were glad
when at last the lights of Stuart showed themselves — and still more when we
got to the inn—and sull more when we got to supper and got some warm
drink in us (only tea, Stuart is a temperance town), and still more glad when
we got to bed and asleep.”

Next day the drizzly weather had wurned to sleet and snow as they
boarded a train west another forty miles to the county seat town of Atlantic
They discovered the land there was 100 expensive and so they hired a team,
pushed north, off the route of settlement. That night they turned in at a farm
although only the third farm where they stopped agreed to take them, possibly
hecause there were four of them and most frontier cabins were already
crowded. The normal courtesy of pioneer life was to welcome a passerby if he
qeeded a room or a meal, for a small charge, which provided the farmer with
auxiliary cash. “The farmer’s wite told us afterwards that she was nearly send-
ing us on, but that she took Ginger, who was quite muffled up, for an old
man. and thought of her own old man who was yet out, and took pity on him.”
Their shelter for the night was a two-storied wooden cabin occupied by the
farmer. his wife, her pipe-smoking mother, and five strapping sons. They
didn’t mind the crowding, saying they once had as many as seventeen divided
up for sleeping in the three rooms In the middle of the night, however,
William and Jerry Mann's bed gave way, and the farmer’s wife shouted: "I
ouess you boys had better pull the mattress off and make yourselves happy on
the floor.”

The next day the touring Englishmen planned their strategy for meals and
rccommodations. Since the charges for lodging would be scaled down if they
looked poor, Paullin in his dark flannel shirt and old trousers, and Fred in his
Virginia hat and outfit were to step forward to engage rooms. Jerry Mann and
William in their English-cut clothes “did duty when we wished to impress
people with our importance. They moved on into wilder country, now and

then encountering Germans for their noon meal at a farmhouse, "very unsocia-
ble. and what was worse, had just finished all edibles (they weren't sure we
would pay).” Even in remote areas they found schoolhouses on the corner of
alternate square miles, which suggested proper public aims and boded well for
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future settlers. Good land alone couldn’t be the sole criterion for determining
the best location.

On their latest excursion they found rich loam three to ten feet thick “and
so fertile that no attempt 1s made to manure it” The weather turned fine —
Indian summer—and in their exuberance to discuss the country with the driver
of an immigrant wagon in the distance, they got off the trail and became
deeply sloughed, “the horses up to their stomachs in mud.” These notorious
quagmires presented a serious obstacle to early farming, since the land could
not be worked. In later years a network of tiling was constructed six feet down,
below the frost level, neighbors cooperating to hook up with tiling systems of
one another, creating a drainage route that emptied into a creek or river.

The inhabitants Willilam met were a different sort from the Virginians he
had encountered. “Everyone 1s busy, and attending to his business” Little
towns were bustling with enthusiasm and energy, and there was a refreshing
absence of provinciality. “The people in the remotest districts know what is
going on in all corners of the world” He was even able to buy George Eliot’s
latest novel, Danie/ Deronda, in the village of Stuart, as well as the current
issue of Punch. And yet a few years before there was nothing to Stuart but a
couple of cabins alongside the railroad tracks.

The national presidential election had just been held, but nobody knew
whether Samuel Tilden or Rutherford B. Hayes had been elected. In the little
town of Exira, where they spent the night, the Democrats were celebrating a
Tilden victory, making speeches and gathering around a bonfire in the town
square, bells ringing. The landlord of the hotel kept pulling his bell, “and it
seemed likely as not that he would go on ringing this all night.” Frederic
noticed a trombone hanging on the wall, took it down, put it close to “our
unsuspecting landlord. . .and blew such a blast that might easily have been
mistaken for the report of an 81 tonner. . . .1 suspect 42z landlord will never
forget the sound of his own trombone

The following day they left by rail for Quincy, where they relaxed in the
Paullin home betfore continuing home to England. For William it had been
the most important few months of his life. He had sailed from England as a
well-known university athlete on a mission representing his country but was
returning with life plans beginning to take a distinct shape —a career in the
American West, once he arranged his financial affairs. His emotional involve-
ment with the whole Paullin family was an important aspect of those plans.

Toward the end of his life, William mused over the twists of fate: “If the
builder of our racing shell at Newcastle-on-Tyne had not happened to put this
faulty screw into the bars supporting my slide, I should never have had the
bruise; [ should have gone out with the boys at Cape May on the training walk;
[ should never have met Mr. Daniel Paullin, who well advised me as to my
business career; and I should never have married his daughter!”'
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HE following spring, before William emi-
grated to America with his brother Frederic,
he had one last moment of glory as an oars-
man. He rowed in the annual Oxford/ Cam-
bridge University Boat Race; and 1n 1877, for
the onlv time in its history, the contest was a

dead heat. There was a great to-do, and William enjoved living at this fast

pace. But a few days later thel ship sailed, and a large family contingent saw

them off at the dock. The Close boys were loaded down with serviceable all-

weather gear, “easy-chairs for the voyage and for our future comfort in lowa,

and two fox terriers

In New York and Philadelphia they looked up friends from the previous
11 until they received word from Ed Paullin that his tathe and sister Mary
now in Boston. would soon embark by train for the 1 550-mile trip west
Would the Closes care to join the party? They lefr tor Boston at once, staying
with Ed in his Harvard rooms, and Willlam was asked to guest-coach the
college crew. Harvard students struck him as more like schoolboys than univer-
<itv men- although they studied a great number of courses, “only a supertx 1al
knowledge 1s required.” William was amused by their secret societies, their
attempts to dress like Englishmen and was certain that fox terriers would soon
supplant other dogs, “without which no swell swaggers

At Andover a few days later they met Daniel Paullin and Mary —she had
and they boarded a train for Quincy,

“In the Pullman'’s car from Chicago

returned for a reunion at het old school
passing the long hours by singing together
to Quincy there was a small harmonium. on which the conductor discoursed

«weet music” After a briet rest Daniel Paullin fulfilled his promise and es-

corted William and Fred to prairie country in lowa. Now they were 1In the

hands of an expert who believed that because 1876 had been a poor agri-

cultural vear, many speculators holding land, expecting a rising price, might be

induced to sell and take what profit was <t1ll left to them

[hey stopped again at Stuart, west of Des Moines. and while out walking

hefore dinner. William noticed a field of clover nearlv black with small grass-
hoppers. "It was a horrid sight and I confess to having felt like packing up mjy

bagpage and at once beating a retreat out of lowa " He heard that grasshoppers

ended to flv toward the northwest and preferred wheat and other small-grain
settle on the edge of a field and work their way in, then for
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1nd walks about head downwards, and then leads the blushing maiden fairly
captured to the harmonium.”

The presence of the young British gentlemen quite dazzled the local
population. Soon after the Closes arrived they received an invitation addressed
‘o “the Lords the brothers Closes.” They accepted in the same style, assuming
the title was in jest, only to learn that the citizens of Denison “concluded we
must be lords.” since British immigrants thus far had been lowly farmers, and
the Closes scemed on a grander level. Many of them had heard tales, however,
.bout the son of a Scottish laird who had earned a bad reputation in a town
twenty miles away. The youth and a servant dispatched to look after him had
been shipped off to lowa on a remittance, to work for one of the rich Scot's
former tenant farmers. “When he arrived,’ William wrote. “he was dressed 1n
knickerbockers”” and with the servant standing in attendance, 1t was "t00 m uch
for the minds of the people, and they straightaway pronounc ed him a /ord. He
was called Lord White after that” But the servant, instead of watching over
him. turned out to be a ne'er-do-well himself, “and their quarters were the
rendezvous of all the mauvais-susets ot the countrv.” But as soon as “Lord
White's” father died, the emancipated son immediately returned home to
enjoy his inheritance. There would be a number of these “lords” in the Close
Colony a few years later

During their first weeks in Denison, William and Fred became acquainted
with the countryside, entertained their cousin, went on excursions to a nearby
lake for fishing and swimming, and watched crude sulky racing at a trotting
rrack. All the while they were also “looking after the main chances' and trying
to decide what land to buy. On 7 August the Closes purchased 2,593"5 acres
from the American Emigrant Company in Des Moines, paying approximately
$3.25 per acre. The land lay in the vicinity of Denison, where they resided at
the Denison Hotel

The county-seat town then had 900 inhabitants, five churches, two banks,
. number of stores. residences, and two schools. Although the size of the place
might suggest vi/lage, the term was nevel used. William noted. Every settle-
ent was either a town or a city, and even a small burg like Denison had stores
stocked with a general line of merchandise, whereas an equivalent English
village had nothing for sale but a few jars of lollipops and the most ordinary
household articles. “Here it would be difficult to find anything they have not
got in their stores.” A proprietot wouldn’t try to sell you things out of fashion
in the city but sent down to the small towns to be in fashion again, as was done
in England. “Here everything moves up to the age, and everyone lives up to
§ The system of advertising 1s sO perfect (far too much so) that if a new
thing comes out everyone knows of It, and if it is a good thing everyone will
have it. Farmers especially waste the greater part of their earnings in buying
new machinery.” He noticed perfectly good farm equipment lying about in the
weeds, exposed to the weather, merely because of a farmer's neglect. “I almost
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think the farmer is glad when he has spoilt a good machine, for then he has the
pleasure of buying some wonderful new machine with the latest improve-
ments. Now no one thinks of walking behind his plough or harrow.. .. All
their machines have seats and require the driver to ride, and comfortably, too;
many of them have large umbrellas so that our farmer works in the shade and
rides along at his ease, his seat being supplied with a good spring.” William
does not foresee that bigger and fancier machinery will necessitate larger and
larger areas of land to farm; the American farmer's obsession with turning
agriculture into a complicated mechanical operation will eventually result in
the small farmer himself becoming obsolete.

[t was too late to count 1877 as a farming year for the Closes so far as crops
were concerned. They decided to embark on stock raising, which could be
carried on throughout the fall and winter, if shelters were built in time. With
so much open prairie grasslands available, during good weather a herd might
be fattened at virtually no cost. New railroad networks made 1t possible to ship
live cattle to the Chicago stockyards market; and the refrigerated car, in use
since 1875, enabled dressed carcasses to be hauled long distances. A calf cost-
ing five dollars might be fed on public-domain grass and sold a few years later
for forty or fifty dollars. In the Far West many cattle companies were declaring
annual dividends amounting to 25 percent and up to 40 percent of invested
capital, most of it money from Britain. In Wyoming alone in 1883 twenty
cattle companies largely foreign-owned were capitalized at twelve million dol-
lars.’

For the Closes, winter feeding of livestock depended on the price and
supply of corn, and since 1877 was a good grain year, ample quantities and low
prices were anticipated; “feeding cattle cheap and selling them dear equals big
profits”” William reported. He discoursed fully on the long-term plans for the
tract he and Fred had just purchased. Next spring they would try to put 600
acres into cultivation, building six or eight small houses and leasing them to
tenants with a contract calling for the renter to break an additional 20 or 30
acres. Crop costs and profits would be split with the tenant. The main lesson
European immigrants had to learn was that careful attention to a small plot of
ground, which they were accustomed to doing, did not suit the American farm
scene; instead, “it pays more to cultivate larger tracts less well” Of course he
hoped to get mostly British settlers, for the German immigrant, although good
at farming, did not seem of the right social class and often lived in low fashion.
“Outside their cabin all is untidy and in a2 mess. No attempt to keep the cabin
they live in distinct from the farm — pigstyes close up to the cabin and pigs
scratching themselves on the doorpost, chickens running in and out.”

By mid-August, it was time to buy feeder stock, and sixty miles east of
Denison Fred discovered the cattle he wanted and bought them for a good
price. He wrote William to suggest he help on the cattle drive home. “So,
arming myself with my brand new cattle whip, and a toothbrush, I started on
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my mare, Polly.” William practiced using the whip, which was twelve feet long,
cracking it over his head as he would a hunting whip, but he nearly hit Polly’s
head. After she calmed down he tried again, only to have the whip crack on
Polly’s flank. On the third attempt, hoping to produce the pistol-shot sound,
“I succeeded in bringing the lash smartly across my face. Ah! didn't it sting.”

As William approached the town where he expected to rendezvous with
Fred. he heard shouting and whip cracking and discerned two men on horse-
back trying to keep a herd of cattle out of unfenced corn. William assumed 1t
was Fred. but as he neared did not recognize him, for both these men wore
dark suits while Fred had left in a light grey suit. He was about to pass by,
“when a voice, unmistakably Ginger’s, shouts: “Where the (ahem) are you
going to, can’t you help us?

“Is this black, grimy-looking mortal, covered from head to foot with mud,
mounted on a wretched Indian pony, that gay, fascinating brother of mine? Yes
indeed, 1t 1s he.

“ ‘Look sharp, get to the centre!’

“ ‘All right, my general, and I get to the centre. My advent turned the
battle, for although I was not a very formidable operator on their hides, still
the cattle did not know it just then, and kept a respectful distance from me.”

Next day they rose early, taking advantage of the cool part of the day to
herd their eighty-two cattle toward Denison. William found the task “most
horrid, dirty, tedious, and slow.” with dust penetrating eyes, nose, €ars,
mouth. He had to wipe his spectacles frequently and had a gritty sensation in
his throat that no amount of water relieved. It was a blazingly hot day and no
breeze blew to cool them. The Mexican saddle with its high pommel seemed
very uncomfortable and he missed the lean, neat English saddle. They finally
reached home after thirteen hours on horseback, and because William had
fully experienced the legendary (even then) cowboy role of cattle driving, he
concluded. “there is remarkably little romance. . .and a great deal of weartness
and dirt”

He felt the same about farming, once he got into it. They finished con-
structing cattle and hog pens, which were situated in a sparse woodlot with a
small stream running through it to water the livestock. They now had 169
cattle and about 100 hogs; the latter had to be dosed with sulphur and charcoal
shes to ward off cholera, and all had to be branded. “Ginger was operator in
chief” It was becoming increasingly clear that while "Ginger worked like a
nigger. . .1 preferred superintending.” This was an important discovery for the
brothers to be clear about, for while Fred actually enjoyed the physical work in
farming, William relished the planning and management They would have to
conduct their future partnership accordingly

In his journal William mingles accounts of their recreations with reports
of their business pursuits. Their father’s brother, Uncle Thomas Close, age
cighty-one, responded with enthusiasm and attentiveness, keeping track of
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their purchases in land and livestock, offering advice, and reporting that their
older brother James, now looking after Brooks's banking in West Africa, might
very likely turn up 1n Iowa one day.

William’s spirits remained high, and these letters from the outside world
helped sustain the pioneering venture. An audience was necessary to make the
going easier. It was Indian summer, with warm bright days and cold, dry
nights. “I am sull wearing my summer clothes,” he wrote in October, “I cannot
tell you how jolly one feels being out on such days.” And the natives’ customs
continued to amuse him — oddities, like the passion for playing croquet, which
even farm laborers took up. It was perhaps the first sport to be played by both
men and women of all classes and was sometimes referred to as “the courting
game.” Once, coming down the hill toward Denison in the evening after
tending to cattle, William noticed dozens of lights moving about and it took
him some time to realize 1t was “nothing more than croquet players carrying
their light—1t looked as if a lot of fireflies were buzzing about....I have
several times been dragged into playing that horrible, hateful game.”

The better educated people in the community were eager to enjoy the
company of the lively Close brothers; their learning and manners were greatly
admired. How could these talents be put to use for the good of all? A school-
teacher invited them to visit her one-room schoolhouse near their farm. They
found the little scholars hard at work and the room itself well equipped and
exceptionally clean (the teacher, according to contract, was always responsible
for janitorial duties). As they sat down and listened to lessons, some of the
answers given greatly amused them. One small girl was asked what an am-
phitheater was and answered that it was the place where the “Roman Alligator
fought.” Another was to explain the meaning of canine. “She was sure of her
answer: ‘men who eat men!” ” The teacher tried to get William and Fred to tell
the children something about the many countries in which they had lived, but
they couldn’t think of anything appropriate or illuminating, “it was. . .a sort
of embarras de richesse—didn’'t know where to begin.”

Membership in the Episcopal church helped knit the Closes into the com-
munity. William served as superintendent of the Sunday school and Fred was a
mainstay in the choir. Their religious upbringing had been conventional,
without fervent overtones; their father, according to their mother’s Common-
place Book of 1855, was a man whose religion consisted of charity and good
works rather than faith.? The Denison church had been damaged by a tornado,
and since 1t was already encumbered by debt, William found belonging to the
Episcopal church was an expensive proposition. One evening a mum sociable
was held: “For an hour and a half whoever made the slightest noise or spoke
but a word was fined five cents, which went towards the paying off the church

debt” At Christmas special solicitations for various funds were made, always
requested by the ladies—and how could he refuse? “If they'd only send men
around . . .1t ain’t fair to send ladies”
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A ftew of his neighbors’ lives seemed poignant — particularly the Wygants,
whose seventeen-year-old daughter Carrie had been horseback riding with
him. Mr. Wygant, a lawyer in Denison, was discovered using trust money for
his own purposes; he fled, abandoning his wife. daughter, and two sons. All of
the Wygant property was seized except the tamily homestead, an 80-acre piece
on the edge of town, which under lowa law could not be claimed for debr since

i it was not mortgaged. The Wygants were highly respected, educated people,
& and William found “Miss W. decidedly. . . the best of the young ladies around,

and withal rather pretty; she plays the organ, leads the choir at church. and is

& an active teacher in the Sunday School. . . .” With no means of earning a living
/ except to farm, the Wygants sold all the possessions they could spare —among

them Carrie’s organ, although she loved music—to raise capital to buy stock
and equipment. William was fascinated to learn that the townspeople did not
regard the family as disgraced. “No one thinks the less of them because Mr. W
was a scoundrel and they are reduced to poverty, but on the contrary they are
greatly respected by all” Each of the Wygant children shared the farm work
William observed Carrie driving in the cows, and when one of her brothers had
to go off to attend to business matters, she took his place on the mowing
machine for the day. Although she served as church organist and directed the

choir for two years, she received no money since “money 1s very tight.” and
William suggested contributions from his correspondents would be thankfully
received.

Carrie Wygant and her friend, Miss Seyers, claimed to be experienced
riders, so one day William rode out into the country with them to test their
abilities. He proposed a canter, and their ponies began racing. Miss Seyers, a
poor rider, clutched the pommel, crying “woa, woa" and soon fell off. Twenty
yards farther, Carrie also tumbled off. “As I come up to the rescue, 1 think: ‘Is :
this Towa riding?' " Miss Seyers, pale and groaning. thought she had broken
her arm. Meanwhile, Carrie in emerging from the ditch, tripped on her riding
habit and fell into the ditch again. She came out holding a broken stirrup
leather, the cause of her accident. Her habit was badly torn, she was covered |

: with mud, and in the headfirst fall, exactly half her face was jet black. “the line ,
§ passing as if painted, right up the bridge of her nose. . . the indignant expres- .
L sion of her countenance and her eyes flashing (she has a pair of A.1 eyes) was
F too much for me, and I fairly roared with laughter” She was alternatels
1 amused and angry with William for laughing and asked how 4e would like to
] fall into a ditch that way? William begged her to look into a mirror and #4ex
I3 she would understand his amusement. The three of them sought the hospital-
d ity of a nearby farmhouse and examined their wounds. Miss Seyers had a
f! sprained wrist, while Carrie, “after washing her face, discovered a lump on her
E{, torehead, and her upper lip had swollen to twice its normal condition.” She

now fotgave William for finding her appearance funny. He sent for a carriage
to convey Miss Seyers home, and then he and Carrie Wygant continued their
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ride, “and I found she could ride well”

That a respectable young lady of seventeen and a gentleman of twenty-
four could ride alone together and not be talked about in scandalous terms was
now such a normal thing to him that he did not even bother to explain such
circumstances to his journal readers. Chaperones were impractical in a frontier
town, and with many women expected to do almost as much physical work as
men, the social conventions were impossible to observe. A girl of good family,
properly brought up, could never be suspected of succumbing to sexual impro-
prieties with a gentleman companion—in a world where one was either a
“good girl” or the other kind. Since these flirtations and casual companion-
ships could not endanger a girl’s honor, young men might enjoy genuine
friendship with unmarried females—an aspect of the American social scene
that Fred and William appreciated enormously.

William's pleasure in the lively company of Carrie Wygant occurred on
the brink of his engagement to Mary Paullin—and he seemed hardly aware of
it. Between the letter of 13 October describing the horseback-riding episode
and his Christmas epistle of 11 December, he had been “a month or so” in
Quincy, followed by a stay in Des Moines to study the latest land-market news.
[n his journal he spoke of the Quincy interlude as a trip “to get my warmer
clothing, which I had left there,” but to intimates he sent private letters an-
nouncing his engagement.

The Wygant family understood that Carrie and William were “keeping
company’ —it was generally known in Denison. But Carrie was a gallant, im-
pecunious lowa girl, and her marriage prospects—emotional involvements
aside —were not in a class with the well-educated, pretty daughter of the rich
landowner, Daniel Paullin. Nobody in Denison seemed to know about Wil-
liam's betrothal for several months, although he may have told Carrie. Ob-
viously, he was extremely fond of her; he seemed to have been the one who
decided their relationship would come to nothing beyond friendship. A few
weeks after William returned from Quincy and Des Moines, Carrie was intro-
duced to Fred's Virginia homesteading companion, H. Hyndman Wann, newly
arrived from a visit home to Belfast, Ireland, and their courtship began. A pun
in reference to this romantic shift has come down through the years in the
Wygant family: an uncle said to Carrie, “I see Will Wann is getting closer.”

While William’s engagement was stll secret, he played the role of eligi-
ble, fun-loving bachelor and escorted a local lady to a dance Fred organized:

CoriLLioN PArRTY
Yourselt and Ladies are cordially invited to a
Cotllion Party

at
McHenry's Hall, Friday Evening, Nov. 30
Music by Field's Band of Council Bluffs

Per order Commuttee of Arrangements
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The band was due to arrive on the 8:30 PM. express, with the dancing to
begin by 9:00 pM. As it turned out, the train was delayed and the party
probably wouldn’t begin until 10:00. The twenty-five couples waited patiently,
but at last someone suggested rousing the local band; “But the local band’s
feelings were hurt at the importation of the Council Bluffs band. Besides, with
the thermometer at 10° below zero, the local band utterly retused to leave his
bed, and the deputation was unsuccessful. N.B. The Local Band consists of one
piece —a fiddle”

When the grocery store clerk claimed he could play the concertina, all
urged him to fetch it at once, which he did, but one of Sankey’s hymns was the
only tune he knew. Another boasted he could “strum a Quadrille on a guitar,”
and although he hadn’t played for a couple of years, believed he could do well
enough for them to dance to his music. “But when he brought the case and
opened it, it was found the guitar was minus three strings, and his genius did
not rise to the occasion of playing on two strings.”

Ten o'clock and still no band. Finally, near eleven, they heard a train
whistle: the ladies in the cloakroom sent up a cheer—the band was arriving!
Although William expected about a dozen instrumentalists, “instead, enter
Mr. Field with a violin case, followed by a one-eyed youth with a cornet, and
they hurry to the platform. ‘Is this the entre band?’ I ask one of the Commit-
LCC.

“ ‘No indeed. says he somewhat indignantly. “There are three pieces,” and
sure enough, as he speaks the bass is seen pushing his way in, pufting and
blowing, tor no tume 1s lost.

“ ‘Promenade!’ shouts Mr. Field, and we all follow-my-leader round the
hall and execute various maneuvers. I don’t know how the unfortunate ‘band
stood it, but between the dances there was only time to drop one partner and
pick up another before the next dance began. There were 26 events on the
Programme, ‘and we are going to get through every one of them, quoth the
Master of Ceremonies

“He certainly did not allow of any delay.” Quadrilles took up two-thirds of
the numbers, with only a few waltzes, much to Fred’s disgust; “but as Ginger,
the livery stable keeper, and the ready-made clothier were the only gents who
could thread the maze of the giddy waltz, it was thought the others would
grumble.

The only man at the affair wearing a swallowtail coat was Mr. Moses
Goldheim, “one of the leaders of fashion here, and the ready-made clothier.”
He told Fred and William that “he was obliged to appear well-dressed (save the
mark!) because it was a good advertisement for his business! . . . he wore a huge
flaming red satin sailor's knot necktie with a very low waistcoat.”

Mr. Field, the determined master of ceremonies, would not hear ot any-

one sitting out a dance. “You were always wanted to complete a set—or, if you

went outside, yvou had to freeze” Every quadrille was somewhat different. and
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with Mr. Field calling out signals, “one was continually on the guz vive to know
what he meant. I was informed by a lady to whom 1 ventured to ask for an
explanation of some of his terms, that unless I knew how to speak French I
would not know the exact meaning. . . .She understood, however, sufficiently
to go through the correct evolutions, as did most of them, luckily for me.

“At two o'clock supper was ready, and not to create jealousies, lots were
drawn as to which couples should go in first. Oyster stew the principal staple.
After supper, dancing was renewed with increased energy, and all were su-
premely jolly and boisterous—only from their own animal spirits, however.

“At about half-past four one lady gave out, which left an odd man, a
circumstance | took advantage of. . but as the lady I was escorting was only
beginning to thoroughly wake up to the occasion and looked as if she would
never tire, I knew I was in for the finish.. .When a kind Providence so
directed it that the lady gave out, I sat out the rest of the dances, which remain
a blank to me. All I know is that at about six o’clock my fair charge ‘guessed |
must have been having pleasant dreams; and would I be so kind to take her
home, and I found everyone streaming out.”

As Christmas neared, the pace of social life increased. One of the liveliest
organizations was the Cremation Club, made up ot fifteen young ladies of
Denison who met weekly to have a good ume. “As they naturally could not
have that without some plentiful mixture of black coats, they would invite
fifteen of the sterner sex...to bring that. . . necessary garment. Necessary,
however, in the mind of the Western ‘gentleman’ only when he is attending
church or a sociable. At other times it seems impossible for him to do anything
with it on—to eat his dinner or attend his store. He must be in his shirt sleeves
or else I verily believe he thinks his dinner would choke him in the first
instance, or his customers out-trade him when at his store”

The Cremation Club girls enjoyed blindman's buft with their gentleman
triends and other parlor games of which William soon tired. He suggested that
somebody oppose him 1n a contest of “cock-fighting.” a sport unfamiliar to
them, and one young man took up the challenge. Both were bound and the
signal given. William's opponent wore a pair of regular western boots with box
toes and “well retroussé heels.”” Without much difficulty William knocked him
oft balance —“crash into a heap of ladies—not only onto his

yack but sull
further, so that when he recovered to his surprise he found his toes were resting
quietly on one of the girl’s laps. He reured from the arena after that, and in
answer to my challenge, one more venturesome youth. . . accepted, and being
tied up, placed himself about two feet from the wall of the room, thinking the
wall would support him. But when his head came into contact with the wall, 1
guess he wished he had not been so brilliant””

A few days before Christmas, William helped decorate the Episcopal

church. Since no evergreens grew locally, they sent for a tree from Council
Blufts, seventy miles away. When it arrived it turned out to be a couple of four-
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foot high shrubs bound together; so they improvised, using a bare oak tree.
[hey threaded Indian corn in great ropes and strung cranberries on strands,
but stll 1t was a curious looking Christmas tree. Quite unorthodoxly, the tree
was set directly 1in front ot the altar, but since the church hadn't yet been
consecrated, William figured that this pagan throwback probably did not mat-
tet

He sent Christmas cards to all his Sunday school students, adding a little
comment exactly opposite to what would have suited each pupil. “For in-
stance, on the card I gave the girl who paid the least attention, I wrote: ‘to Miss
so-and-so for her unqualitied attention, from her late S.S. Teacher. Then to the
girl who ‘cut up’ the most, ‘for her general good behaviour” To the one that
never could answer a question, ‘for her knowledge of the Bible, and so on. To
the one who really did know something about the lessons and was always
attentive (an English girl by the way), I gave her card, ‘for bad behaviour” ”

The next day he received a parcel from a messenger boy, for which he had
to pay ten cents. Inside he found a framed card, on the back of which was

WIILTET

[o Mr. W. B. Close, late S.S. Teacher
trom Miss Carrie Wygant, tor his unqualified attention
from Miss Lillie Barr, for his knowledge ot the Bible
from Miss Ada Fanekonen, for his general good behaviour

winding up with:

from Lizzie Sherwood. tor his bad behaviou

“That was their repartee.”

As the year 1877 ended, the Closes” worldly prospects looked as tat and
promising as the livestock in their yards. If prices held, they planned to ship
their cattle to market in January, though they could easily afford to hold
them. with corn at $0.14 a bushel. Although they bought their hogs too small,
the animals were thriving, but an epidemic of cholera could suddenly wipe out
envisioned profits. The excellent crops meant that land values were on the rise,
and farmers were coming in steadily, looking for land. The Closes had bought
theirs at a fortuitous moment. In the spring the breaking of the sod would add
82.25 per acre to the total cost of the land, plus an additional $1.00 per acre
spent on erecting farm buildings, which brought the full expense to an esti-
mated $6.50 per acre. “From that outlay we shall yearly receive an income ol

$2.50 per acre, which 1s a large percentage.” Such a figure was positvels

'y

dazzling, considering that land in England was then returning a bare 2 0Ol

percent and sometimes not even that much. Thus a wondertul opportunit

" i 1 1 ' = " oy % i |
existed to sell others back home on the tinancial returns [n.wn}.n'{
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While Fred became increasingly interested in farming and even hated to
leave his cattle for a necessary business trip to Virginia, William was beginning
to think ot following Daniel Paullin’s land-speculator career, as originally out-
lined on the hotel veranda at Cape May the previous year. Certainly his in-
volvement with Mary had something to do with 1t, for immediately after their
engagement he announced plans of spending ume in Des Moines to brush up
on the legal aspects of land transactions. Investing in raw, undeveloped prairie
and selling these acres to actual settlers required a different knowledge from
that he had gained on the Denison cattle and pig farm. Mary was a cultivated
young lady, ill-suited to an existence as a farmer’s wife. After all, her father
had made himself rich by buying and selling lands in remote regions, while his
tamily lived comfortably in a civilized town. Perhaps William's reversion to his
original career plans did not come about merely because of his anticipated
new, responsible role as a family man—or even because of the powerful in-
fluence of Daniel Paullin. It may well have been the August cattle drive that

did 1t
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The Prospect before Them:

[LLIAM'S shift in career from land-owning
~stockman to businessman and trader had some
(;:_ disquieting aspects—the people he encoun-
tered seemed a low sort. In Des Moines as an
intern in the lowa Loan and Trust Company he
noted a cheerful vulgarity in the social life, a

preat deal of mixing-up of privacy and one’s business affairs. There was even a
shortcut available for courting for “clerks and such like” on New Year's Day.
Ordinary unmarried girls assembled in groups of six to thirty and waited to be
called on by hordes of men, whom they'd never met, looking for mates. “There
is a grand spread of good things, and the happy gentlemen are waited on by
these same ladies” The calling cards left (some of them fantastically printed in
several colors, usually emphasizing the man’s business and worldly importance)
are regarded by the women as trophies of a kind. Indeed, the incidence of such
inappropriate commercialism hardly surprised William anymore. “One of the
first questions you ask 2 man on meeting him, and one he appreciates the most
is ‘Well, how's business?’ And a stranger will not hesitate to. . . discuss with you
his business. . .and tell you all about 1t

At the Iowa Loan and Trust Company William learned the rudiments of
how to make money by investing in raw prairies and shared the information
with his relatives. He realized he needed to know more about laws pertaining
to land titles. The company located the tracts, negotiated the price, and
refused loans of more than one-fourth of the land value. For investors with
cash, putting money in land was exceedingly safe — the return about 9 percent
William himself would select the best property, should the readers of his
ournal be interested. “Ahem —if anyone wants fturther informaton glad to
supply it In this lighthearted fashion he launched a proposal that developed
into his principal business activity in the forthcoming years. He hoped his
readers would regard him as a shrewd potential money maker, for with the
capital they commanded, he might do great things

A few weeks in Des Moines sufficed. By 20 January he was writing his
iournal from the Paullin home in Quincy and had begun to study law with the
distineuished elder statesman, Orville H. Browning. Browning was a close
friend of Lincoln, served in the president’s cabinet as secretary of the interior
and before that had taken Stephen A. Douglas’s seat in the Senate. He had

also served as U.S. artorney general before returning to his Illinois law practice

s f)
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William found Browning “courteous to a degree and very refined in his man-
ners and conversation” and curiously dressed in the old style, with swallowtail
coat and frilled shirt front. Along with his studies of United States law, Wil-
liam became familiar with the key political and economic issues of the day,
about which he discoursed with his journal readers. Silver would probably
become the legal standard before long, he predicted. The Panic of 1873 and
the subsequent years of economic depression had been caused by “over-pro-
duction, especially 1n the iron line”

Underproduction, particularly in manutacturing, was actually closer to the
problem. Once the factories tooled up and began to produce consumer goods,
the boom of the 1880s would be on. William recognized that there had been a
pause 1n the economic development, but he attributed it to the overbuilding
of railroads, which had gone on at a madcap pace, stimulated by great gifts of
tederal lands. Too few settlers were following the railroads, growing crops to
ship to market; and so the justification of an extensive track system was being
l questuoned. For William’s projected land buying and selling to work, home-

steaders were needed: therefore he tried to understand the domestic economic
j situation.

—— e

| His winter 1dyll in Quincy came to an abrupt end when he received a
, letter from Uncle Thomas Close, who not only disapproved of William'’s
engagement but had serious doubts about the viability of Towa farming and all
other American land schemes. Uncle Thomas found 1t strange if Mr. Paullin
_ﬁ‘ was worth about a quarter of a million dollars, as William indicated, that he
‘ was unwilling to provide a dowry for Mary. “I cannot sanction a marriage which
[ am sure that had they been living, both your father and mother would have
disapproved of.” William’s business prospects were not only uncertain, they
; were “doubtful” and though he was sensibly learning about land transactions
| at the lowa Loan and Trust Company and apprenticing himself to the Hon.
Orville H. Browning, the outcome looked hopeless. The distrust in England
“in every United States enterprise” was so general that “there 1s no chance of
| persuading people in England to look at United States investments.™
William'’s response to this blow was characteristic: immediately, he set out
for England with Mary Paullin, so that his family might make her acquaint-
ance, and at the same time he could convince them face-to-face of his acumen
in American land matters. They sailed on 16 February, Mary accompanied by
her Quincy friend, Mary Ball. It was a rough crossing and most of the pas-
sengers succumbed to sea sickness. “Miss Paullin was the only lady at dinner
that evening, and the gentlemen might have been numbered on one’s fingers.”
| Her strong constitution displayed on this occasion ran counter to her later
posture of a weak, sickly, Victorian lady, half-invalided much of the tume.
On 2 March they arrived at Cap d’Antibes and stayed at the Close family
| home, now occupied by William'’s sisters and sundry relatves, “the Gynarchy
at the Cape.” It was the perfect time of year for lovers to be in the south of
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France. “Oh! that month!” he later wrote. Early in April William embarked for
England, leaving the two Marys at Anubes, where they would remain several
weeks and eventually visit other parts of Europe before taking a lewsurely trip
home in late spring. William hoped to arrive in London for the annual Univer-
sity Boat Race but missed it. When he sailed from Liverpool on 16 April, he
was 1n a blithe mood, his battles won, and his contidence extremely high. He
felt closer to his readers again and dispatched his thirteenth journal install-
ment, begun on the ocean voyage. "I had to start back for these regions” he
added later from Denison, “in order to get some more land before the break-
INg season was over,”

Fred had built “a residence” for them in the meantime, and when Fred
opened the door in his nightshirt at 6:00 A M., “I found myself in a spacious
billiard room. ‘Bravo!’ said I, ‘this is good. Now let us proceed onward and
view the other apartments.

“ ‘Well, said he with proper pride and a nightshirt, ‘this 1s the other
apartment, "' and flung open a door disclosing the remainder of the resi-
dence —one long narrow room. “Fred occupies the South half and I the North
half* Carrie’s mother, Mrs. Wygant, had been engaged to cook for them. She
was not the kind of boarding-house chef who put great emphasis on show, but
she knew how to prepare mutton and substantial English fare. The custom of
many American hotel restaurants was to disguise bad food by a pretentious use
of dishes, “each bit in a tiny dish of its own. These are arranged 1n a semi-circle
around you, one large plate being given you wherewith to discuss all these
small items.” The five oarsmen from Cambridge one evening in Philadelphia
had counted fifty dishes on the table in front of them

Best of all, Fred had contracted to have 1,200 acres of their joint land
broken up for only two dollars an acre, twenty-five cents cheaper than the
going rate. The procedure of breaking, William explained, involved turning
over prairie grass so that weather could rot the roots and the soil would be left
until fall, when it would be “cross ploughed,” with the sod finally broken up
and ready for spring planting. The first crop of grain on virgin land often paid
for the cost of the breaking: but since they planned to have tenants farming,
their return would not be quite so immediate. Many prospective tenant
farmers had applied to the Closes, but it was important to choose bona fide
settlers, not tramps and deadbeats. “We take a mortgage on all the renters
goods and chattels, and if caught decamping they are sent to the penitentiary.

The spring of 1878 was wet, but by 1 June half the breaking was done
and William let out contracts for house and barn building. Their bachelor digs
proved comfortable and inexpensive. Mrs. Wygant cost $3.50 a week for three
meals a day. and a cleaning girl $3.00 a month. “A boy rubs down our nags
(after a fashion when Fred is not there) for $2 a month, and stable rent is the
same sum.” The rooms of their house had been decorated “with all the magnit-

icent and gay embroidery Fred was lucky enough to have worked for him by
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sundry fair ladies in England” The natives were rather in awe of such splendor,
and the billiard table, which had caused such a stir when it was moved 1n (the
youths of the town ogling as they strolled past, half-expecting to be invited in
for a game), was now an accepted fixture, and the boys “have learnt. . . that
hints are not taken.”

The two brothers shared some domestic chores: Fred attended to the
stables, fed and watered the horses; William kept the household supplied with
water and trimmed the lamps and filled them with oil. The well was fairly
deep and “it is quite a labour on a hot day to draw the water,” but they could
not justify hiring a houseboy to attend to these simple living matters. “It 1s
undoubted economy to live out here, and I should advise anyone wishing to
practice that disagreeable operation to come out to these parts where it can be
done without much roughing. Happy to show anyone the trick.” This invita-
tion would be publicly extended the next year, and the Close organization
would come to be in loco parentis to hundreds of young men, many of whom
were not serious about learning the economy trick.

They continued active in church affairs, William serving as godfather to
several infants and now and then conducting services. He and Fred had almost
had their fill of ice cream socials to benefit the church. The American passion
for this confection, “one of the great institutions of this land of liberty (?) and
corruption,” was amazing. ‘I don’t believe there 1s a small village in all
the. . . United States that does not boast of its ice cream saloon, and for 10¢
you get as much ice cream as any ordinary mortal could possibly swallow, and
generally excellent” William tested to see how much ice cream his Sunday
school pupils could eat, if he paid for it. “I am sure they must have all been
very ill afterwards, but just now I am, I believe, the most popular at the
Sunday School.” The yield came to $40.00 for the event, helped a bit by Fred’s
sideshow attraction —he owned a small air pistol that he lent for target shoot-
ing, raising $3.60. He also posted a sign in the billiard room of their home:
“Anyone swearing or using bad language is fined ten cents for the benetit of
the Episcopal Church” William noted: “It has a very improving effect on the
vocabulary of our Westerner, and for once his language 1s quite chaste. But a
few fines have been necessary and Ginger puts them down in the church’s
Treasury Book: “To swearing in Close’s room. . . ten cents.’ Some future treasurer
will be rather puzzled by this announcement”

The local paper, filled with distorted news, misinformation, misspellings,
and assorted diversions, was a constant source of amusement to the brothers. In
addition to Republican and Democrat weeklies, Denison, like other towns its
size, had a daily paper. The editor of the Evening News, who also served as
postmaster, was 2 German who had to hire a subeditor “to write English for
him and pick up the news” most of which consisted of items such as the
information that the barber had installed a new table and “the ice cream man
has a new flower pot.” The Closes had a hearing before the county board of
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supervisors — "1t 1s magnified as a great legal contest. . . .1 told him to advertise
for halt a dozen breakers, and he puts 100 wanted”

One day when Fred stopped in the post office for his mail, the German
editor greeted him: “Vell, Rost Beeve,” to which Fred replied, “Hullo,
Sourkraut.”

“The fat little man immediately drew himself up as big as possible”
William reported, “and answered: “Vell, sir, if you can’t talks like a shentle-
mans to a shentlemans, vy you had better not talks at all.” ”

They fully expected a hostile blast in the next Evening News, but by this
time the Close brothers were too popular and economically important in the
town to be harassed. They were exemplary citizens and participated in commu-
nity events, even an impromptu football game. One day in the courthouse
square, the mayor, county sheriff, city marshal, district judge, “in fact all the
high-sounding ttled officials” got together for a spirited game. Fred'’s dropkick
went over the largest building and right down the steep hill toward the Deni-
son depot, spooking a horse attached to a farmer's wagon and nearly causing a
runaway. “Say, your brother 1s no ‘hooper’ at kicking a ball” a player said to
William. "What a hooper 1s I have yet to learn. Western language is not learnt
in a day. I imagine 1t must mean a ‘'duffer for I find they have not that word in
their vernacular. I was asked yesterday why our crew got so beaten this year [in
the University Boat Race]. 1 answered, because they were a set of ‘corkers.
‘What's that?” ‘Oh, duffers’ No wiser. Remembering the expression of my
friend on Ginger's kick, I tried ‘hoopers’ with very satisfactory results.”

Willitam's dropkick hit the deputy county surveyor in the stomach,
bounced away and knocked the hat oft the ready-made clothier, Mr.
Goldheim. The ball then hit a member of the board of supervisors. Goldheim
was equal to the occasion. “Picking up his hat, which was slightly damaged (a
new one on the helmet system). . .he remarked in a loud voice that it didn't
matter, he had just received a large stock of new hats at $2.50 a piece, just like
the one he had on.” The game ended when Fred threw his knee out of joint,
attempting an even grander kick, but he recovered in time for the Fourth of
July celebration

T'he town had planned Independence Day contests such as climbing a
slippery pole, catching a greased pig, foot racing, shooting at glass balls, and of
course, “the usual stump orator will deliver his stump oration in the style
suited the yokel mind.” Most curtous to William and Fred was the medieval
tournament that was to take place: knights armed with spears were expected to
ride horseback ulting at a ring, and whoever took the ring would be able to
choose the Queen of Love and Beauty, the next best knight picking the Maids
of Honor. Jousting tournaments of this sort flourished in rural regions of
America’ and are still held in some places, most notably in Prince Edward

County, Virginia. The custom derived from the fascination with®knights and
chivalry that followed publication of Kenelm Digby's The Broad Stone of
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Honour (1822), and the celebrated Eglinton Tournament of 1839.% In 1ts lowa
transplantation, only the dimmest resemblance to neomedievalism remained.
Excellent riders though the Close brothers were, they would have no part of it.
The Knights of Denison would include the butcher's boy, stable hands, field

laborers. and lumber haulers. William observed them practicing. “O shades of

Chivalry, is this what you have come to?” Not a coat worn by any of them, and
their lances were common laths, “as to their steeds, Rosinante would have
made a creditable appearance among them.”

The Fourth of July began with firecrackers exploding outside the Closes’
bedroom window — rebel armies attacking the British—and only atter “the
young imps” ran out of ammunition did they begin to retreat. “Ginger had
just got his pants on, and if one believed his words, there would be an end of
small boys with crackers did he have to go out”

The day’s first big event was the parade, with the city marshall leading oft
in “a glorious scarf. . .smoking his weed to show he was calm”; then came the
Denison Cornet Band in a farm wagon, trying desperately to play, although
they were jolted by the ruts. The band was followed by a procession ot country
people in wagons who had “come into town in their ‘store clothes” and were
anxious to show them off.” After that, masquerades of leading personalities in
the town, the best being a wagon labeled “The Denison Cornet Band™ with a
bunch of youths in masks “playing on combs, kettles, penny-whistles, and the
like — their music certainly was not much inferior to the originals”” Then came
someone dressed as a baby pushed in a small handcart. The baby sucked a
bottle violently and finally swallowed it, resulting in fits, “a variety of contor-
tions that I thought only Ginger was capable of” He caught hold of nearby
boys, got a whacking from his mother, cried out. “Ha! those strains are famil-
iar!” The baby was dumped “and disclosed to view a pair of legs clad
in. . . greenish grey continuations that could only belong to my brother Fred-
eric, the cloth of which he had given him by Uncle William Brooks.”

“Next came the secret societies represented by two or three men with a
banner on which was represented some mystic letters such as M.U.M.5. T.H.E.
W.O.R.D., or such like" After them, the tatterdemalion Knights ot Denison,
still without coats. The procession continued to the lower part of town, but
upon its return, the baby was gone. “The mother had mutinied and refused to
push it up the hill any further, and the baby had to get out and walk home.”

The crowd began to gather under the cottonwood trees ot the courthouse
square to hear the Independence Day address and listen to music by the
Denison Cornet Band. A Baptist minister offered a prayer for the Republic,
which consisted of many O4 Lord's, and the glee club sang what William first
thought was “God Save the Queen” untl he remembered the Amernican rebels
had appropriated England’s official anthem. “I know at all events of two who
sang the right words to that tune.”

By the time the speeches and official entertainment ended, Fred had
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changed to overalls for the greased pig contest. He won by seizing the porker's
hind legs so quickly that someone in the crowd shouted: “ ‘Oh, give the pig a
better show. " and Fred released his grip. “The pig went trotting on quietly
and when it had got some fifty yards away, the signal was given and again
Ginger came up to the pig first, who again quietly surrendered. This was too
much for Ginger, who with the utmost scorn, flung the pig away. ‘Pshaw, he
said, 'I won't go after such a pig! Why, it won't run!” And after that the pig
trotted home and was officially awarded to Ginger.” He also received the prom-

ised five-dollar prize. “Ginger, who is a connoisseur in the pig line, says the
reason it didn't run was that it had had so much grease put on it that with the
hot sun, its stomach got out of order.”

The Grand Tournament proved a disappointment, for after watching all
the runs aimed at carrying off the ring, the livery stable keeper, who was
proclaimed the winning knight, did not get to crown the Queen of Love and
Beauty after all, “that part of the programme was left out.” Meanwhile, danc-
ing was in full swing under the cottonwood trees, most of the participants
country people. “We town folks were above that sort of thing, but it was
amusing looking on. ‘Ballencay to your honey'is the way | heard the Master of
Ceremonies give out his directions in the quadrilles.” William noticed that
among the dancers, different nationalities were represented, especially Scan-
dinavians and Germans

In the glass-ball shooting, Fred again won first prize. As the day wore on,
the beer drinking increased, but there was remarkably little drunkenness and
only one case of assault, which amounted to little more than knocking oft one
another's hats. Firecrackers punctuated the night air, and the two tired English
gentlemen returned home to privacy. “The Fourth of July, 1878, is a thing of

the past, and | am glad of 1t.”

HE improvement of Close-owned acres was
so fully underway that further virgin tracts were needed if William was to
emulate Daniel Paullin's route to riches. Whenever he heard of cheap land, he
set out to inspect it. Sometimes he had to sleep two-in-a-bed with a stranger,
and if he refused such arrangements the host was offended, and he could never
stay there again. “The people as a rule are not nice in regard to their bedding
Charges of light and heavy cavalry are conspicuous— luckily both Fred and I
can’t be very sweet morsels and the cavalry do not inflict much damage on us.’

In June William bought 420 additional acres, and in July he was often
out scouting while Fred minded the livestock and saw to CONSLIUCtion activities
on their farms. Since most Americans had only met Englishmen who were
tradespeople or common farmers, they assumed the dropped 4 was characteris-
tic of all classes and that William must have lived in the United States for some
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time to have broken the habit. For the most part, when he put “England” after
his name in 2 hotel register, he got immediate respect. His costume of high
leather boots and riding breeches, scarcely the coolest apparel for lowa in July,
was nevertheless practical for horseback riding, crossing sloughs, and as a pro-
tection against rattlesnakes. One old Irishman “went into ecstasies” over Wil-
liam'’s boots— “for 36 years, he said, he hadn't seen anything that did his heart
so much good. | must needs turn round and let him see the little button at the
back that kept the boots up.”

Daniel Paullin wrote he was seeking to buy land for his sons Ed and Henry
and proposed that William join him in the hunt. They toured six counties in
northeastern Nebraska, discovering “splendid lands” at the low price of $1.50
to $2.00 an acre, but the country had few settlers and there would be difficulty
finding good renters. Most of these tracts were heavily taxed, since each county
voted 1ts own rate of taxation. Speculators from the East often held title and
the local settlers wished to bleed as much tax out of the absentee landlords as
they possibly could. They built “splendid school houses where often not a farm
1s 1n sight” Bridges to nowhere were erected in mock fulfillment of taxes
levied. All sorts of skulduggery was possible, given the circumstance of absen-
tee owners. When a railroad sent investigators to determine why so much tax
money was demanded on the company’s land, they discovered the county
supervisors were more numerous than cituzens of the area and “blind contracts
were let out 1n all directions, which were never fulfilled” Not being able to
locate the schoolhouse that had cost $2,000, the inspector was ushered to the
lott of a tarmhouse, where he was shown benches, textbooks, maps, a globe.
Since a portion of school funds could be allotted to fuel, the farmer had his
house heated free; his three children were the pupils—the only pupils—and
the farmer’s wife the teacher at a salary of $30 a month.

Taxes ran as high as 7 percent of the land value, making many speculators
and ratlroad companies eager to dispose of their holdings, no matter what the
price; in this way true settlers would finally arrive and begin to work the land.
“So the swindling that goes on, strange as it may appear, does really do good to
the country, by obliging non-residents, whose lands are not improved, to sell at
low rates to farmers who will improve them”

The county seat of Wayne County, Nebraska, La Porte, though located on
wild prairie, had a handsome red brick, domed courthouse. “Every American
official building must have a dome; it would be nothing without. On one side
of this huge pile were three little houses, two of which were stores; and this was
La Porte. The enture population of the county numbered this spring 308, and
yet they build themselves a $20,000 Court House, hauling the brick over 50
miles.” This was faith 1n the future to the point of folly. It was also part of the
wholesale scheming to get rich; everyone in the county appeared to be in on
some variety of con game. Underwritten by tax revenues, “the dozen or more
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officials use the Court House as their dwelling house, cooking and sleeping
there and concocting fresh plans to skin the unfortunate Eastern holder. This
city of four houses publishes its paper, but that, the Editor informed me, was
to secure the county printing, for which he receives a handsome bonus These
swindlers are looked upon as nothing more than smart men by the settlers in
general .’

William and Daniel Paullin decided to leave Nebraska alone for the time
being, though in a year or two they might reconsider. When they reached
Sioux City, population 6,000, at the juncture of the Missouri and Big Sioux
rivers. the moving water made William long to “scull over it Wide, tairly
calm. about twenty feet deep, the Missourt seemed perfect for future regattas

Travelling east along the Little Sioux River in lowa, “we came upon what may
curn out to be the lands we are in quest of.” He had examined enough mid-
western soil to be a judge, even without Paullin’s aid. “The lands I am speak-
ing of made my mouth water as we drove over them. Nothing could be finer
Gently undulating, just enough to carry the surplus water away and prevent
any swamps, perfectly watered lands, too, abundant springs in all directions,
splendid dark, rich soil, ‘many a farmer in England would fill his pockets with
it and roll in it for delight’ — the agent who took us round told us, was what an
Englishman had said when he first saw the sotl.”

On the hills the topsoil was four to five feet deep, in the valleys “twice
that depth.” Even the subsoil could grow a crop, as he noted from a field
planted where a road had been cut through and subsoil remained. The land
had natural fertilizer in phosphates of lime. It was incredibly good land; the
onlv reason it hadn't been taken as yet was the grasshopper scourge, which
cleaned out earlier settlers. Perhaps it was a price the landowner had to pay
every few years—and was still worth 1t When the region was cultivated In
different crops the grasshopper cycle might be broken. It was also in a tornado
belt. “1 suppose with the growth of trees they will become less frequent,
William wrote. He was completely sold on this site; “only a strip of land 50
miles wide on each side of the Missouri River. . . has this wondertul formation
but these lands near Sioux City are extra fine, both in the way they lie and 1n
the richness of the soil”" A New Yorker and a partner held 14,000 acres which
would probably be sold in 1ts entirety, at about three dollars an acre, “bigger
bait than we can swallow.” But perhaps a piece of it might be bought, if not
the whole thing. “As soon as the lands we want are bought, I shall depart for
Europe

William needed considerable cash backing to become a land buyer on this
scale Uncle Thomas had warned that English investors were not likely to trust
funds to an American agency. To get around that prejudice, he decided to set

himself up as a land agent and form a company: { lose Brothers. Limited, with
offices in London and Iowa. On the West Fork of the Little Sioux River, a small
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stream with beautifully shaped, sloping hills on either side, the Close brothers
would establish personal stock farms and found a town. Though William was a
thorough expatriate by now and affianced to an American, he would never
forget the necessity of keeping a firm base in England for his enterprise. In this
respect his land-buying and selling operation resembled that of any other
colonial business venture. The ties to the mother country were the lifeline,
never to be cut, for these always offered the promise of a way home.
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Going QOut to lowa

\;' HILE negotiations were being completed for
~ purchase of “the promised land,” William en-
k joyed his last months in the role of gentleman-
/ settler. He read services in the Episcopal

s church, attended more ice cream socials,
i ; . : . »
ad e joined in songfests, and accompanied Fred on

excursions for prairie chickens, which were plentiful and provided a delicious
alternative to “the horrid, tough beef that is sold here.”

One delightful interlude occurred in September when a convention of
schoolmarms descended on Denison and were quartered in houses throughout
town. During this session of the institute, they were instructed in classroom
methods and took examinations to win their teaching certificates. They came
from all parts of the county and had their “dissipation as w ell as the course of
lectures.”” most of these pleasures consisting of croquet parties and church
“sociables” “We are blessed with four of these School Marms boarding here
Farmers daughters, raw unsophisticated girls, full of life and fun, and as
Ginger is likewise, you may imagine the noise.” That these two young bache-
lors would be asked to put up young girls for a stay gives some idea of how well
the conventions of morality held for “respectable” people

While Denison life could be lively and attractive if one enjoyed what the
country had to offer, there were certain drawbacks that became increasingly
annoying for a permanent British settler, among these, the abysmal standard of
hygiene. William had not forgotten how sick he became from imbibing Phila-
delphia water. “Everywhere throughout the States you will see the same care-
lessness shown in regard to sanitary measures and everything is left to fate”
Pigs were kept in pens around many Denison houses, and there were numerous
open cesspools. Infant mortality was high. “They are ready with any amount of
sympathy when anyone loses a child, still the almighty dollar is too strong for
them. They pretend not to believe that diphtheria has anything to do with bad
drainage They prefer running the chances of losing their children to doing
away with their hogs.”

A neighbor set up a pigsty on the edge of the Close property in Dentson,
about fifteen feet from their bedroom window. William complained to the
marshal. who took action, but the remedy involved turning over the dirt, "and
the stench was ten times worse!” The only recourse was to buy out his

neighbor’s pigs (at an exorbitant price), with a contractual agreement that
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there would be no more pigs. “But it is not all that can afford the luxury of
buying a man out.”

How much pleasanter for all British incoming settlers if they could associ-
ate with their own kind, create a society as much as possible independent from
some of the more grating aspects of raw western American life. The colony idea
evolved naturally as an outgrowth of William’s land-buying and selling plans.
[f purchasers of his land were British of a class used to associating with each
other in England, all the more pleasant.

During this period the Closes’ most important visitor who might affect
their long-range plans was their older brother James, recently returned to
England from West Africa. Twenty-seven-year-old James was still at loose ends,
seeking an appropriate future. On this trip he seemed largely preoccupied with
touring and stayed in Denison only one day, since he had been invited by a
shipboard acquaintance to join an expedition to the Rocky Mountains to view
the eclipse of the sun from a spectacular vantage point. Upon his return,
however, he inspected the new land near Sioux City that William was under-
taking to buy and was equipped to make up his mind whether or not to join
William and Frederic in their venture.

On 1 October the huge land deal finally was put together, drawing upon
the financial resources of James as well as Fred and William —and Daniel
Paullin, although his participation was made possible by a loan provided by
William. Since Paullin had been instrumental in giving William a chance to
find this land and had bargained with the owners, William no doubt felt
obliged to include his mentor and future father-in-law, even though this dis-
tinguished, supposedly rich land speculator was surprisingly short of cash.
Perhaps 1t was a gesture of friendship on William’s part— in romantic style he
would do a favor for this beloved’s father, a sign of his devotion to all the
Paullins. However it happened, the lands of John Bloodgood and Mrs. Ed-
mund Stanton were purchased for $34,740, not all of the cash delivered on the
day of sale but a due date for the total was set for twelve months hence. The
Closes and Paullin, by buying such a large amount of land, were able to get
the very low price of $2.40 an acre for ferule, extremely desirable property,
some of the finest agricultural soil in the world. The increase in value of this
land, once it was broken and after buildings were erected, would be the basis
of the Close brothers’ fortunes. Although they would go on to buy and sell
hundreds of thousands of acres in the following decade, they would never
again get such fine land for so little money.

When news of the sale of the Bloodgood lands became known, the Le
Mars Liberal headlined the story, “Hail Britannia!” Close Brothers would locate
in Le Mars, opening their office in February 1879. Obviously, everyone in the
area stood to gain, for rich British settlers would soon be coming in. Le Mars
was somewhat smaller in population than Denison, but like the latter, a county
seat and theretore the business center. The town was located at the junction of
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two major railroads serving northwest lowa, the Illinois Central (then called
the Towa Falls and Sioux City Railroad), which joined Chicago with Sioux City,
and the Sioux City and St. Paul, which connected those river cities. The name,
Le Mars. had no French origin but was made up of the first letters of the
Christian names of six ladies on board the first train to enter town. Although as
early as 1869 Le Mars had a post office, one house, a wheat-grinding mill, and
2 railroad station, only in the last five years had it really begun to flourish. By
the time James Close opened his office it was a bustling community with
hotels. restaurants. churches, and a full line of businesses serving settlers.’

William returned to England in October 1879 to begin selling land to
prospective emigrants and investors. The more British “of the better class,” as
he put it, went out there to live, the nicer it would be for everyone concerned.”
“The Prairie Journal” ended, for he was no longer a bona fide pioneer. The
iournal had been addressed to an intimate audience sharing the adventures of
two young Englishmen in the fabled American West. Such a mode of com-
munication was no longer suitable from the rising entrepreneut, William B.
Close of Close Brothers, Limited, with offices at 23 Cornhill Street, London;
Manchester: and Le Mars, lowa. In the early years of the organization, Man-
chester even more than London would be William's center of activity, for the
Closes had their best foothold and tamily connections there — particularly
among the Brooks's banking friends— and it was where brother John Close and
his family lived.

ONE early convert to the lowa emigration idea
(though not a purchaser of Close-owned land) was Captain Alexander K.
Barlow of Manchester, who went out to Sioux City early in 1879 and bought
3 000 acres about a dozen miles southeast of town. He did not follow the sage
dvice of William because the pamphlet of Close Brothers on northwest
lowa— rich in detail and practical, describing the step-by-step way emigration
should be accomplished —had not yet come from the printer. Captain Barlow
knew little about the Iowa climate, the soil, or any other of the essentials
necessary for making a success of Towa ranching. His land consisted of bluffs
overlooking the Missouri River, which lay five or six miles in the distance.
These picturesque, loaflike bluffs, so strange in appearance compared to the
hills created by retreating glaciers, had been fashioned by continental winds
blowing across the plains eons ago (only portions of central China contain
similar land formations). Unlike the rich soil William discovered in the valley
of the Little Sioux a score of miles away, Barlow's land had little agricultural
value. but he had paid from six to eight dollars an acre for it
The setting was dramatic; a splendid place to erect a baronial mansion, he
thought. He hired an old family friend from Manchester as master builder. A
local contractor with a crew of twenty-five began construction. The native brick
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mansion with twenty-seven rooms would be remarkably English looking,
Gothic and Tudor in style, a replica of a Northampton country house: a large
central hall, carved woodwork, stained glass windows, and fireplaces in most
rooms. Ox teams from Sioux City struggled across the open prairie, forded the
rampant streams of Big and Little Whiskey creeks, and labored up the yellow-
ish loess bluffs with building materials all during the summer of 1879. The
bricks were baked on the site (rather inadequately): the slate for the roof was
imported from eastern lowa. Brick barns were constructed to house Barlow’s
livestock, the best in bloodlines, many of them shipped from England.?

Captain Barlow was more interested in style than substance and did not
seem to realize his methods of attacking the frontier were foolhardy and bound
to end badly. Economic success with his cattle raising hardly mattered, for he
was rich enough to withstand reversals for awhile. More important to him was
that his 3,000 acre ranch be of an appropriate scale to suit his station and be
commensurate with his income. He would buy his way into becoming a west-
ern gentleman, and it would have to happen all at once.

On 16 October 1879, with the mansion still not finished, an unseasonable
blizzard swept across the prairies. The builders nearly perished, for they had no
shelter. The storm lasted three days, closing off all roads, all food, and sources
of supplies. To keep from freezing to death in their makeshift tar-paper shacks,
the men burned most of the wood intended for the construction— the
flooring, siding, and panelling. A rapid thaw immediately followed, warm
Indian summer weather, and the floods were so sudden and severe that twenty-
three horses drowned. It was too much for Captain Barlow, waiting impa-
tiently with his family in rented Sioux City quarters; he quarreled with his
contractor, fired him, hired another.

Misfortunes continued. The well digger and his crew worked for months
but were unable to find an adequate water supply. Barlow felt he was being
cheated by these crafty natives and yet knew he was helpless, for there was no
alternative way of accomplishing his grand design. The roof was barely on
when all the crates of household goods began arriving from Manchester: tooled
oak woodwork for window frames and fireplaces, leaded glass, furniture, an-
tique armor, paintings, carpets, and ancestral silver and china. The Barlows
had no choice but to move in and live there for the winter, although during the
worst of the weather only a caretaker held out. By summer the house was at last
finished; in the keystone above the front door the initials A. B. and the year
1880 were carved. It was the grandest manor house any British emigrant to the
area would build —in setting, landscaping, and general design.

When the Close Colony reached its heyday, the largest homes would be
erected in towns, particularly Le Mars, in architectural styles generally conform-
ing to American middle-class luxury houses of the time. Those that remain
blend in with all the other 1880s houses still extant and do not particularly
suggest English origins. The Britsh country homes, even the large ones, were
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usually wooden, some with mansard roofs or Queen Anne cottage style; none
of these early homes remain intact now. Their very size was impractical for
heating and upkeep. Later owners who bought out the British cut them down
to manageable proportions, using the lumber for barns and corncribs. If there
s one talent a farmer must have it is carpentry and general construction abili-
ties. The large wooden country houses of the British, if not destroyed by
accidental fires, were easily dismantled

But Barlow Hall, constructed of soft native brick, was another matter. A
cobblestone and brick drive wound through Scotch pines. At the Gothic en-
crance a footman in full livery greeted guests who arrived for the many partes
the Barlows gave in the early months of their tenure. According to a local
newspaperman, who wrote of Barlow Hall at the time of its demolition in
1943 . the legends people repeated involved Captain Barlow, who with “his
guests sometimes rode their steeds into the wide hall, and that fox hunts and
polo games in keeping with the best English tradition were staged in the
vicinity of the Hall. Leaping flames from the massive fireplace are said to have
lichted many social gatherings.” Heat from such fireplaces was insufticient to
get residents through a frigid lowa winter, as the Barlows soon discovered: In
typically stubborn English fashion they refused to install central heaung.”

Caprain Barlow’s ranching enterprise did not amount to much. Soon he
curned his attention to downtown Sioux City real estate opportunities. By July
1881 work on the foundation for Captain Barlow's new block of brick stores
was begun.® Barlow did not become an integral part ot the burgeoning Close
Colony, not even joining the Prairie Club, but he did participate in county
fairs and horse-racing events, entering prize horses from his stable, and he took
part in regattas on Spirit Lake. serving as judge on one occasion

The Towa climate was not to Mrs. Alexander Barlow’s liking: winters too
severely cold, summers overwhelmingly hot and humid. Their friends in Sioux
City lived too far away for easy transportation to and from Barlow Hall. The
Barlows took to wintering abroad; only Captain Barlow returned for the sum-
mer. The servants tried to maintain the Hall standards, and the butler's query
when a local visitor called, “Tradesman or gentleman?” aroused a mixture of
awe and ridicule. These servants displayed a lower-class version of Captain
Barlow’s arrogant attitude toward the neighbors, his disregard of posted areas
when he was out on a hunt, and his insistence on doing exac tly as he pleased —
even to the extent of stringing fences across public trails and removing bridges
he didn’t approve of. These actions resulted in constant litigation, most of
which he lost, with damages.

After a few years Captain Barlow returned to the Hall only once 1n a
while. but not because his disputes with the locals soured his lowa existence;
he seemed to thrive on these controversies. There were rumors he had benetfit-
ted substantially from a will; his wite preferred living at theur’ new country

estate near London. Barlow began to sell off livestock, polo ponies, and other
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horses, and finally disposed of all household goods. The only traceable artifact
from Barlow Hall is the tall oak clock in the Sioux City public library. After
Barlow sold the Hall he tried to establish himself in Africa, then South
America.

Mistortunes befell all who tried to make something of Barlow Hall in
subsequent years. A man was killed in a shooting there; another hanged him-
self from an attic beam. For awhile in the 1920s the Hall was a chicken-dinner
roadhouse, situated conveniently as it was on the principal highway leading
southeast from Sioux City. Later, tenant farmers tried to live in the Hall and
farm the poor soil but without success. Bats and rodents took over the building
and 1t finally had to be knocked down; everything of value in it had been
looted or vandalized.

Barlow Hall was one of the first follies of the region. By choosing to erect a
mansion on an exposed bluff, Barlow quite clearly was challenging the ele-
ments to do their worst. More sensible pioneers built tidy, small, heatable
houses and “toughed it out” untl larger dwellings could be constructed.
Barlow Hall signified that its owner felt he could conquer this new, empty
region of the earth merely by arriving and being his own Manchester, England,
self. He would be the rock and the flow of life would have to be around him. It
was just such an emigrant venture — a waste of effort and money — that William
Close hoped his new settlers would avoid; therefore, he set down careful in-
structions in his Farming in North-Western lowa. The brochure expanded on
his letters to the Tzmes of London that appeared in the fall of 1879 and his
magazine article in Land and Water of the same period. It also firmly es-
tablished the concept of an lowa British colony in the making.

THE 1dea of forming a colony in order to sell
land certainly did not originate with William Close. Colonization schemes
based on land development had flourished in the United States whenever new
regions became available for settlers. These promotional efforts were funda-
mentally different in purpose and character from colonies based on religion,
such as the Mennonites, or on social and political ideas, such as Robert Owen's
community at New Harmony, Indiana, founded in 1825. As early as 1817 two
rich Englishmen, George Flower and Morris Birkbeck, announced the opening
of a colony in southeastern Illinois along the Little Wabash, centered in the
town of Albion, in what came to be known as “the English praitie.” About
4,000 of the original 14,000 acres were developed into small estates typical of
rural England at the time, and a pamphlet advertising the colony went
through eleven printings. But the colony did not attract a sufficient number of
settlers.

In 1838 Henry L. Ellsworth issued a brochure describing his tenant-settler
plan for 18,000 acres he owned in the Wabash Valley near Lafayette, Indiana,
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which mostly drew settlers from small New England farms. The alluvial plains
of the Middle West did not have to be cleared of trees or rocks and seemed
perfect for large-scale farming: with new machinery being developed,
Ellsworth hoped to interest landowners who considered themselves future gen-
try — not grub-staking «mall farmers. No actual colony came into being, how-
CVvCer

Victoria Colony in Ellis County, Kansas, was more nearly a prototype of
what William Close had in mind. It was founded in 1873 by a Scotsman
named George Grant, who the year before had purchased nearly seventy sec-
tions (about 44,800 acres) from the Kansas Pacific Railroad near the present
town of Hays. Grant himself was interested in raising purcbred cattle and
sheep and hoped to be joined in his enterprise by “upper-class Britishers of
means.’ He set up land offices in Edinburgh, London, and New York tor the
Victoria Colony.

Throughout Europe in the seventies American western railroads were busy
promoting lands for sale. issuing pamphlets filled with lush promises and
glowing descriptions of the countryside. Most of these thers were atmed at the
«mall-stake homesteader with just enough cash for the ocean voyage and a
small amount to put down on New land. George Grant's “haven for British
Gentry would be quite another thing, and the price of land was a good
indicator. He had paid between $0.40 and $0.80 an acre, but he would gener-
ously let it go for §5.00 to $17.50 per acre, 20 percent down and the balance
due in four years at 6 percent interest. lrue, the price was higher than most
land in those parts, but the newcomer should realize the advantage of belong-
ing to Victoria Colony, where congenial associates could be found

The peak year of Victorna Colony was 1876. when 300 British settlers lived
there. Crop failures that year, grasshopper 1nvasions, and much more severe
weather than expected discouraged the colonists. Soon even the social tone
began to falter. One 1nvestor sold a large tract 1o “indigent English
workingmen and farm laborers! and by 1880 the census reported only 128
British-born residents in the whole county Collapse of the colony came about
after the death of Grant 1n 1878; a group of Russian immigrants took over the
cite and called it Herzog Colony. William ( lose seems to have known about
the existence of Victoria Colony—it was well publicized —and he used the
same techniques in promoting his own. In 1884 Close Brothers bought
100 000 acres in the county just west of the old Victoria settlement.’

SINCE William could not pq-rmrullx be the
colony leader in lowa, 1t was 1important that he recruit hikely candidates who
would help develop the concept Evervone who hnu;._:_hx land from the Closes

had a stake in the success of the colony and might be called upon to atd the
company in its efforts. One of the earliest of these was Robert G. Maxtone
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Graham, who was twenty-two when William made his acquaintance in Man-
chester, where Graham clerked 1n Brooks Bank. Robert was precisely the sort of
lad William sought: a youth of good family forced by financial or social cir-
cumstances to seek an occupation, who possessed some money on his own or
had access to it, and who could be talked into the adventure of a career in the
American West. By February 1879 Robert Maxtone Graham arrived in Le Mars.
Through the help of James in the Close Brothers office, a few months later
Graham owned a sizeable piece of black-earth prairie.” On 9 October he re-
sponded to William's request for a testimonial to run in the brochure: “As you
know, I have been out here some eight months. Your recommendation and the
talks we had together . . . were the cause of my coming here, and so I wish to
tell you how thoroughly satisifed I am with the country and all 1 have done
here; more particularly with my investments in land. I enjoy the life, and find
myself much better in health than when I was in England”

The Grahams and Maxtones had figured in Scottish life for centuries,
Maxtone land having been granted by charter by King James I. Robert’s father
was the thirteenth laird, an overbearing, powerful, authoritarian man, whose
eight children alternately feared and loved him, in Biblical fashion. The senior
Graham had some of the oldest herds in Scotland in bloodlines: he served on
the Scottish agriculture and fishery boards, was a friend of Gladstone, and was
active in public affairs. The eldest son, Anthony, would succeed to the title and
family estates after the death of the father; thus Robert, the second son, and
James, Jr., the third, were without prospects. They were educated at minor
schools and tutored in vicarages, and no attempt was made to seriously prepare
them for an occupation. Their father “considered that there was no chance of
any opening anywhere for younger sons,” according to a family chronicle, “and
they were expected to remain at home, as the five daughters would, too, unless
marriage changed their prospects.” No female could think of a career outside
the home without being regarded as eccentric. “Each daughter in turn took on
the household management for two months at a time, but as there were 16
indoor servants and an excellent housekeeper, this could not be called ardu-
ous.®

Robert and James, Jr., rebelled, the latter finding a position in an ac-
countant’s office in Edinburgh and Robert with Brooks Bank. William Close’s
encounter with Robert — his success in persuading the young man to emigrate
to lowa—took place only after the father had left for Germany with his family
tor reasons of health. Having reached his majority, Robert commanded funds
sufficient at least to purchase Iowa land. His early helpful role in the Close
Brothers organization was crucial, for he was more than just a colonist. William
wrote James on 4 November 1879, nine months after the Le Mars operation
began: “let Graham manage the small farm work, you only supervising.”

But Robert did not remain 1n agriculture long. In mid- July 1881 the Le
Mars Sentinel/ noted: “Preston and Graham of the English Colony are opening
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a commission stockyard and house on Fourth Street, Sioux City. . . . It is their
purpose to handle all kinds of stock and agricultural implements, and to fill
orders for anything that may be needed by a farmer, from a hand-rake to a
threshing machine.” Although the firm flourished for a time, competition was
severe and Graham moved farther west to New Mexico, where he bought a
ranch and raised cattle. Freedom of movement bore a direct relation to means
available. Graham, like other restless gentlemen from Europe on the loose 1n
the West, moved about considerably. James Cowan, who along with his
brother farmed in the Close Colony in the 1880s and then raised horses in
Wyoming, wrote his parents from Rawlins 2 Nov. 1885: “A fellow called
Graham I took a great fancy to. I have never met a fellow I fancied so much on
such a short acquaintance . . . has a good deal of money . . . a ranch in New
Mexico. He's only 27 but a most perfect gentleman and the quictest, nicest
mannered fellow 1 have ever met, I think, awfully well up in everything and
awfully good company, quite a contrast to most of the lowa crowd.™ The
following year in August Robert Graham visited the Close Colony again and
participated on the losing side of a cricket match. By that time his New Mexico
ranch venture may have ended; California beckoned.

He never made a spectacular success of any one thing; his fate was to live
many wandering years away from Scotland. His estrangement cannot be attrib-
ated to the sheer distance in miles he lived from his Highland home; he could
have afforded more frequent trips had he cared to make them. In contrast to
the lowly steerage-class emigrant, forced by necessity to cut a new way, hoping
for a better future for self and family and no easy out once the decision was
made, the gentleman emigrant had vaguer shorings. After a privileged child-
hood, now cast upon the world, he knew a bit too much about how society
worked. but this knowledge was of little consequence as he attempted to
establish a place for himself in alien surroundings. Social forces, not €conomic
necessity, had ejected him from the parental fold. He could never be sure that
the eviction had been absolutely necessary, and it took a strong character in-
deed not to become embittered by the experience. Victorian parents tried to
manipulate the destinies of their often too numerous male offspring by setting
a scenario dictated by social custom — putting faith in the system. To a son's
eyes this eagerness to conform sometimes appeared to contradict professed
parental love. It was as if his parents were saying: we love you and have high
hopes for your welfare and success, therefore you must live your life thousands
of miles from all you know and those you love. You may only come back when
you have earned your new place and your presence can be adequately ex-
plained. If you are truly manly, as we hope, you will not object to any of these

conditions.
When Robert Graham married his California landlady (of the rooming
house where he lived) in 1902, he brought his bride home to Stotland to meet
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his relatives. By that time both parents were dead. It was to be his last visit
home, for now “it would seem that Robert . . . had definitely adopted
America as his country. But life there has always worn the strangeness of exile
to one whose heart 1s rooted 1n the old associations and the old remembered
places.” according to a family historian, who could not conceive of one member
of the Maxtone Graham clan turning his life so resolutely away from the “old
associations.”'?

Robert sired one son, Robin, who when last heard from was a taxi driver
and proprietor of a garage in Albany, California
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William B. Close, student at
Cambndge University, ca. 1875.
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William B. Close (2ack row, second from left), captain of the Cambridge crew, and crew, 1876
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(left) William B. Close, lowa period
i!‘."qfrf} William B. Close, ca. 1920

(bottom) Close tamily house,
interior. Antubes, France




(left) Frederic B. Close as a

child

ﬁfl (right) Frederic B. Close,
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| lower left ) Frederic B.
i Close, 1890, shortly before
‘ his death
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Margaret Humble Close Gordon,
ca. 1890s

:, James B. Close, lowa period

Margaret Humble Close Gordon,
June, 1898
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Landed Gentry in the Making

to the American,” according to Macmillan's

magazine.' One reason for his success was his
understanding of the aspirations of the upper middle class, since he came from
much the same background himself and was aware of the plight of younger
sons of gentlemen.

No youth emigrating to lowa to become an apprentice farmer or a land-
owner would climb a notch higher in social position, but William Close made
it possible for them to emigrate without compromising their social standing.
Therefore he primarily appealed to modestly situated gentlemen, especially
clergymen, who were already existing on fairly small inheritances, whose fami-
lies were frequently large, and whose sons were almost as full of the devil as
their fathers were full of God. In the normal course of things these boys might
eventually come into an income of only a few hundred pounds a year and were
expected to augment 1t by taking up a socially respectable occupation — the
armed services, the church, or civil service. They couldn’t afford to marry unless
their fiancées possessed incomes of their own. Young bachelors moved about
on the good network of railroads to country houses throughout the kingdom
and back to London clubs, aimlessly pursuing leisure. This idleness would be
beautifully offset by a rugged sojourn in the West of the United States, or by
army service 1n India, or in some other testing place where a boy could become
a man by enduring trials of fire of one sort or another —which would build
character and toughen moral fiber.

Fathers of such lads saw William Close as an attractive model to emulate.
He was a famous rowing “Blue” of Cambridge, whose feats on the river were

ECAUSE of William Close’s promotion of
the colony during the winter of 1878-1879,
B “northwestern lowa became far more familiar
C_v/: to the politer British ear than it ever had been
AN
<

widely known at a ume when the mania for sports was reaching its height.
Outstanding oarsmen became public personalities, written up in special maga-
zines such as Oarsman’s Companion and Rowing Almanac, complete with
steel-engraving illustrations. The concept of modern athletic contests and
sports journalism came into 1ts own during this period in Victorian England.
Among athletes, oarsmen were especially esteemed. The rigorous training pro-
duced physiques impressively manly —what a true gentleman should look like.
Bodily good health was easily equated with moral strength, for Charles
Kingsley's “muscular Christianity” was very much in vogue.? William's role as a
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Sunday school Bible class teacher and occasional preacher in the Denison Epis-
copal Church made his credentials even better. True, he was “in business,” but
like his father, William found nothing incompatible about being a gentleman
and earning an honest living. Get-up-and-go was increasingly viewed as an
attractive attribute, honorable in anyone. William’s mother told her children
that their father never tried to circulate among those “who fancy they belong to
a superior class in the social scale” He had too much self-respect to allow
himself to be patronized by such persons— “a pride which rebels at the idea, or
fashion. that because a man is a merchant, or engaged in trade, he is not fit for
the best society in the world”* But William knew he could promote his colony
among those who still adhered to the old class prejudices.

The prospective life of a young British landowner in Iowa, which William
described to his clients, seemed of a piece with traditional gentry concerns.
Owners of farm property the world over were always held in high esteem, and
this would surely apply to America as well. A youth might establish a base
quite easily, acquire several thousand acres if he wished, provided he came to
learn something of how to run a stock farm and supervise overseers. The young
squire’s removal to lowa need not be permanent; once the ranch was es-
tablished, he could return to enjoy the London season or shooting and hunting
on country estates and all the other pastimes to which he was accustomed —
where he would meet his friends. William did not present quite such a frivo-
lous interpretation of the proposed emigration, but many of his clients saw 1t
that way. lowa was only twelve to fourteen days away; a good number of young
Britons never forgot that. With money to travel, some of them returned home
almost every winter. One boasted of having made sixty-five trips across the
Atlantic in the course of a decade.

Any thought of entering a young man in agriculture at home (should land
or a situation be available) was largely out of the question, given the dire state
of British agriculture from 1875 to 1885. The cumulative effects of a policy of
free trade in agriculture resulted in low prices for crops, and the shift from
hand labor to machines meant an oversupply of help and general rural unrest.
Added to this, terrible weather: in the wet year, 1879, England had a mean
temperature below the thirty-eight year average for all months including sum-
mer. Crops did not mature—there were heavy frosts as late as the end of
March. The year 1880 was almost as bad, with a rainy summer, floods, and
deep snow in winter; and 1882 was known as “the sunless summer.® As a
consequence, lowa as described by William Close in Farming in North-Western
lowa seemed like paradise. The thirty-two page brochure was printed in Man-
chester and distributed by the thousands.

The colony was intended “to combine Western farming with some English
soclet) " Close Brothers would attend to every detail of arrival arrange-

ments, inspection of lands, or investment capital for a small commuission “We
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have also arranged with a number of farmers in our neighborhood, with any
one of whom a new-comer, by paying for board and lodging . . . could stay unuil
he had made up his mind whether the country and mode of lite would suit
him or not. Or, if he should be totally inexperienced, we would help him to
find a stock farm. where, if he makes himself sufficiently useful, he will be
boarded and lodged in exchange for his work, and in tume perhaps get wages;
thus he could, before laying out his money, get a practical insight into farm-
ing.”’

Close Brothers promised to advise on choice of lands, venty land utles,
and arrange the best terms for breaking and building construction. A mini-
mum of £1,000 ($5,000) was required of all who wished to belong to the
colony, and Close Brothers’ commission was 5 percent. Before leaving England
for the colony, £25 must be deposited to be refunded if the emigrant was
dissatisfied with what he found. And should a young man wish to become a
pupil on one of the Close brothers’ personal stock tarms, the fee would be £100
($500) per year, but that sum also included the commission on property the
client might later buy through the Close organization.

In Canada, before the decade of the 1870s, a number of retired Briush
army officers and other socially acceptable gentlemen enjoyed a pioneer life
that involved a little farming and a great deal of hunung and fishing. Once
settled, they sometimes took in paying youngsters of proper background who
wanted to learn about fronuer life before deciding to settle permanently. This
“pupil” idea, which the Close Colony developed so extensively, had been in
practice for some time and opportunities to “go out” circulated 1n the English
public schools. Even the fee —£100 per year—was a figure that William Close
must have taken into account as the going rate

In his brochure William tried to strike a truthful tone and yet make the
venture sound attractive. The colony region, while largely unsettled, had many
of the advantages of avilization, a climate that was “particularly healthy”
adequate rainfall, winter cold that was very dry, “very little snow.” and sum-
mers that “those who do not like much heat may not like. . . but, again, 1t 15 a
dry heat, and not oppressive.” In fact, winter usually brought a lot of snow and
lowa summers were typically high in humidity and temperature, excellent tor
growing corn

He explained why such superior

and happened to be available: specula-
tors held 1t at aruficially high prices, and grasshopper plagues, now a thing ot
the past, scared off settlers. Drawing upon geological surveys, he described the
soil of the Missourt River watershed, which he compared tavorably with that of
the Rhineland. “It does not ‘bake’ or ‘crack’ in dry seasons. . .it stands un-
changed 1n form when exposed to the weather. Wells dug 1n 1t require to be
walled only to a point just above the water line, while the remainder stands so
securely without support of any kind that spade marks remain visible for years.”
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This sort of personally observed detail made his pamphlet very convincing.

He doesn’t mention the infamous bogs, into which he had fallen so often,
claiming “the roads are uniformly good.” Any kind of crop, especially corn and
wheat, could be grown, but the raising of sheep, cattle, and hogs might be the
principal aim. He described how he and his brother built a stock herd, the use
of open prairie for grazing, and how quickly profits could be realized on hogs.
Tables of statistics showed a typical three-year period of hog and cattle produc-
tion (more years than the Closes had been in the farming business). The most
attractive aspect of the pamphlet was its succinct yet comprehensive coverage of
the whole subject, with sections on “Breaking,” “Western Farming,” “Agri-
cultural Productions of the State of lowa,” “Fuel.” “Educational Advantages,”
“Laws,” the system of land surveys, an accurate diagram of the farmhouse Close
Brothers would build, markets, railroads, domestic servants (“there 1s always a
demand”), medical help, and sport. It ended with “Our Experience in North-
Western Iowa,” which supplied exact financial information and quietly stressed
the enormous returns that the Closes found could be as high as 54 percent on
investment 1n a single year.

Surely any smart, well-educated young Englishman could learn about
American rural matters quickly. William Close himself had no farming expe-
rience prior to the lowa venture, as he made clear. If /¢ could do 1t, why not
anybody? He used this pitch to the gentleman’s code adroitly, flattering his
readers that their good sense would always serve them well. Farming in the
West was often carried out in a crude manner, with little attention to soil
conservation, “but good farming always pays; and an Englishman, who knows
how to combine some of his old country farming with the best points of
American farming, will easily double the average yield, and must turn out a
successful man.” Testimonials from early colonists helped sell the message. This
opportunity ought to be seized now, since lands were becoming more expen-
sive and settlers from other countries were moving in fast. Going out would
cost from seventy-five to ninety-five dollars by first-class steamer and train, or
sixty-five dollars by intermediate class. Late winter was the ideal time for
emigrating since breaking began in spring and a newcomer should be some-
what familar with the region by then.

WILLIAM'S brochure was distributed widely
in the spring of 1879 and new print runs were ordered. During the summer he
returned to fowa to oversee improvements on his wonderful new farm on the
West Fork and to check on his and Fred’s stock farm near Denison. He had
been separated from his fiancée for half a year; now visits to Quincy were part
of his busy schedule. His Plymouth County stock farm was not yet a suitable
home for a man to bring his bride. Given William’s need to travel constantly to
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promote Close Brothers, a home there might not be feasible: nor would it
seem a suitable setting for Mary, at least until more colonists arrived with wives
to create a decent society.

By September he was ready to return to England, this ume with Mary
along, her brother Ed, the youngest boy Bert, and Mary’s sister Ada. It was not
a happy trip. Serious disagreements arose between William and Mary when
they reached London. She ran up bills amounting to £350 ($1,750)—an ex-
travagant sum in a very short time. Whether this excessive spending was a
symptom of the stress between them or a cause of it cannot be known, but
suddenly Mary broke off the engagement and returned to Quincy. William
wrote his brother regarding the financial aspect of the rupture: “Also, there
were a great many expenses connected with Miss Paullin, which rather than
that she should leave unpaid, I paid through Ed Paullin. She does not know I
paid them, Ed simply telling her he had the money. She must not know I have
paid them. . . .Ed has signed a note for himself and his father, which I don't
think is worth much legally.”®

The second blow also stemmed from the Paullin quarter. William received
word from Quincy that Daniel Paullin had suffered a severe accident, incapaci-
tating him. Since he could not tend to his affairs, he would not be able to
come up with his portion of the cash due William on 1 October, which Wil-
liam had expected in order to make the final payment on the Bloodgood lands.
This news couldn’t have come at a worse time. Close Brothers was geared to
swing into full operation, with James in place in Le Mars, William in England
scouting up likely prospects, and Fred serving as tarm manager and agricultural
adviser (though he was not yet a partner in the firm). The home base for Close
Brothers, Limited, at the moment was John's house in Manchester. From there
William wrote a series of letters to James, giving him advice, informing him of
business activities on the European end. He also had the unpleasant task of
making Mr. Bloodgood aware of his financial predicament. “Will 1t be conven-
tent for you to grant an extension of the payment to the 1st of January next?”
He posted a similar message to Edmund Stanton, husband of the other owner:
“My inability to meet my notes arises from being disappointed by the Messrs.
Paullin not having been able to pay me for about 4,000 acres of the lands.” He
tried to sound businesslike, explaining that as soon as he knew of Mr. Paullin’s
injury he wrote to Bloodgood, but embarrassment shines through the sen-
tences. Such excuses were commonplace and no substitute for faichful payment
on time.

A month later, in a tone of frustration and anxiety, William wrote to
Robert Maxtone Graham in the Le Mars office, informing him of prospective
farm pupils he had signed up. All colonists should pool their wisdom and
indicate how the pamphlet, due at the publishers for another printing soon,
might be improved. More testumonials should be included, fresh witnesses to
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the virtues of lowa, back-up comments verifying the facts set forth, all com-
plete with names and addresses in case anyone wished to check. It was good to
hear the railroad had reduced rates for colonists. “Most of the fellows want 1o
pass by Niagara Falls” which suggests the half-touring nature of the lowa
emigration for many of them. If through his personal contacts Graham in-
veigled a lad to emigrate, William thought he ought to get a commission.
At this ume the choice lowa property in William’s mind was the shore of
Spirit Lake, eighty miles north of Le Mars on the Minnesota border. John Close
first aroused this interest by ordering the purchase of lands for himself there. 1
am just telegraphing to stop the purchase for John of Spirit Lake,” William
wrote Robert Graham. “He can’t go the whole hog. It 1s such a good thing that
we ought to try and swing 1t ourselves. Everyone wants to go to Spinit Lake.
Can't we swing 1t ourselves? You, Jim [ James Close|, Court [Roylance Court,
Jr.], and I? I can take 2/ sections and probably get more to join here. I shall
wait three weeks & if you can't take it, shall go on selling it, un
egraph that you will take 1t He knew John was only interested in the

ess you

te
lakeside property for speculative reasons and would never actually go there to
live. This gave William a moral right to see that bona fide residents were not
denied the splendid opportunity. A lakeside ranch, with plenty of rowing and
satling, seemed an 1deal place toicombine business with pleasure. He envi-
stoned a home there for himself, though at the moment no bride was with him
in the picture. William did not scrutinize his feelings regarding the two sorts of
land buyers—the speculators and the settlers. And yet when the issue arose
over the Spirit Lake tracts, he had no compunction about outmaneuvering his
brother John's merely business interest, since he and his friends were contem-
plating homes there and a community. “It would be very nice to have head-
quarters there. You have no idea how the lakes take in people’s mind." Ob-
viously, the lake areas were more attractive than the flat prairie. But in the end
Graham did not communicate an interest 1n buying.

During the fall of 1879 young men from England began arriving in Le
Mars to become part of the colony; by December one newspaper reported that
“Le Mars is beginning to look like London.”® But for William the threar of
financial disaster still loomed. If Paullin hadn’t been able to come up with the
coin by 1 October, why expect him to pay three months later? William wrote
Paullin asking if he should try to get a mortgage on his own to raise the needed
cash—an idea clogged with emotion and illogic. Why should William
mortgage his lands when Paullin might do the same and take care of the
problem? It was fairly certain that neither could get mortgage money from the
Bloodgood lands, the title being too unclear at the moment. The matter was
further complicated by William's painful awareness that James and Fred had
put their own money into the deal. “I must free James and Fred at any cost. It
is not fair to keep them from disposing of their lands. James wants to sell and
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is powerless to do so.” Perhaps it would be best if Paullin wrote directly to
James in Le Mars and sought the opinion of the firm’s attorney; or William
might try to dispose of the Paullin part of the lands for about $3.25 an acre,
which would reflect a tidy profit over the purchase price. “Are you willing to
let them go at that? Please answer by return.”

Then he wrote to James in Le Mars: “Ed Paullin, his sister, and the rest
start today.” Ed expected to be put to work by Close Brothers, overseeing
breakers and supervising improvements of farms. “I spoke very plainly, there
must be no underhand work. . .also told him that you had no confidence in
Henry [Paullin] at all, and told him what Henry had done” It James fels
uneasy about entrusting Ed with a major assignment he might say:  "Here's a
job for you. Improve these 5,000 acres and you'll have so much cash down for
your trouble” " Ed’s help might be needed if their whole enterprise began to
boom. “I'm afraid you will not get on with Ned —you can yet try” Ed and
Henry Paullin hoped to start a stock farm. “Would I send him boarders,” Ed
had asked. William, anticipating this request would not go down well with his
brother James, added: “perhaps we could chance a premium and divide with
him.” allowing Ed a few boarders but splitting the fee charged.

Whatever unfair pressures the Paullins were bringing to bear on William,
Edward and Henry were bent on becoming stock farmers in lowa. For them
even the question of clear title was not so important—if it could be settled
eventually — for they were not planning to sell their land immediately, as were
the Closes: they were true settlers. They even managed to lure a railroad to
their part of the prairie a few years later, and the town of Paullina, lowa, was
named after them.

William flung himself into his work in order to stop brooding over his
painful breach with Mary Paullin. Letters to and from America would cross.
leaving questions unanswered; maps and leases shuttled back and forth in a
somewhat chaotic manner. William criticized James's imprecise handling of
business affairs, but by wildly firing off orders, suggestions, and queries, he
only caused his brother bewilderment. “You say acting on orders you have
bought 100 head of cattle and they are disporting themselves at the farm. Are
those for my tenants or are they ours or whose?” And James went ahead and
purchased land for a client whom William said was only tempted. “He does
not bite; however, you can easily turn that farm on to someone else.” The lag
between orders and executions was frustrating. “My telegram to you was Ache
ter blé, which latter 1s French for Buy wheat,” but somehow James got the i1dea

his brother was ordering 26 lots of city property. Too late to do much about 1t
“Surely I have money to buy 26 plots if you have bought it;” and he would
simply unload them quickly on someone else. The confusion arose because
William used personal funds for portions of his investments, yet at other times
transactions involved the capital of the firm. James was expected to handle
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William's personal business affairs, in addition to the company’s, and to see to
the operation of William's stock farm — or arrange for Graham or someone to
manage It.

William urged James to invest further cash toward enlarging his own
stock farm to justify the $500 fee charged a boarder for becoming an appren-
tice. The pupil or so-called pup should feel he was receiving a broad farming
experience. If these lodgers (who after all didn’t see much of the Closes)
became dissatisfied with their situation, word might spread back home. Gra-
ham could attend to the expansion, and the lawyer should be engaged on all
leases and legal matters. “Play the people and the companies off against each
other and get rattling low prices.”

Plenty to do— William was so busy he didn’t have time to brood over his
disappointing love life, nor did he contemplate an early return to America.
“Thanks old chap about what you say about not going out. I don’t know if I
could stand it when she i1s so near” James was asked to look out for the
youngest Paullin boy, of whom William was very fond. “Bert I particularly wish
you should use as if he were my brother. He is a sound little chap and if not
spoilt will turn out well”

William put up at Trinity College, Cambridge (his old college), for about
two weeks in mid-November 1879 and found himself in proximity to a num-
ber of likely emigrants. One successful catch usually landed another, for a
youngster going out to lowa desired company. “I don’t think I shall lecture as I
am afraid 1 would make a botch of it —we Closes are not oratorically gifted by
nature.” Ostensibly, his reason for being at Cambridge was to coach the rowing
crew. “Of course by coaching the trials I keep myself before the tellows” He
mailed information on his colony to every member of the varsity and inter-
viewed thirty or forty undergraduates. In his enthusiasm he went a little too far
and sent a circular to “every clergyman in the Kingdom,” giving his address as
Trinity College; subsequently, he began receiving forty to fifty letters a day. I
got into hot water with the Master of Trinity for dating it there and had to see
him.” But the Close charm worked. “He said I had behaved very handsomely
and he was glad to have made my acquaintance.”

He definitely netted nine pups and “at least ten who are negotiating with
parents. . . . At all events we are now very fully known in Cambridge and for
years have a good accounting around there” Meanwhile, his letter to the
London Times about farming in lowa had been reprinted “in hundreds of
papers & receive daily many letters from farmers, etc.” Business was so lively

that Wil

iam commissioned agents to help, among them Henry Garnett of

Wyreside, Lancaster, whose son Gerald had departed for lowa in October.
William instructed Garnett to insert notices about the colony in various news-
papers. “I've had them printed to save the trouble of writing a number
out In your reply to the applicants for information, send them a pamphlet
and a line saying: ‘Mr. W. B. Close has left this neighborhood (quite correct)
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and has requested me to make a list of those who'd like a personal interview
and when. He will return before long and see you.” Words to that effect.”

Should Henry Garnett turn up a young man who actually emigrated to
become a pup, paying £25 ($125.00), the commission due would be £2.10s.
($12.50). “The commission is not to be paid until the man pays us the £25.
These meagre money considerations seemed hardly worth making a fuss over,
either by William or Garnett. But by paying attention to even the smallest of
financial matters, William hoped to establish his credibility as a good business-
man. Much larger sums would be due Henry Garnett if he were instrumental
in finding British capital for lowa land investment, “10% on our net profits for
a term of years we have not yet fixed.”

The Garnett ranch a dozen or so miles west of Le Mars became a popular
hangout for the young British during the next four years, for Gerald was a
leading sportsman in the colony, vice president of the Prairie Club, prominent
in all activities. Meanwhile, in England, his older brother Robert, educated at
Cheltenham (as was Gerald), married a gentleman’s daughter in 1880 and
came to enjoy the privileges of the primogeniture system. In due time he
inherited a large portion of the Garnett family fortune, became squire of a
manor in Yorkshire, and served as magistrate for Lancashire and the West

Riding. Both sons followed their father’s plans designed to assure they were
well set up 1n life.

WHILE Close Brothers was sull a fledgling
company, William chanced upon a potentially large client. Richard Sykes of
Manchester, an acquaintance of John Close, expressed interest in buying
several thousand acres. William knew enough about Sykes’s resources to realize
he was a serious prospect. The only extensive Close-owned land available at
this time was the Bloodgood-Stanton acres, and William instructed James to
proceed with documents of transfer. He wrote Richard Sykes that the land,
with the cost of breaking included, would come to $27.50 an acre (a steep
markup, since the Closes’ paid about $5.00 including breaking). The sale
would be “null and void if we cannot provide you a good title in four months'”

Naturally, this seemed odd to Sykes. William tried to clarify: “I do not for
a moment think there would be the least trouble about your title, but acting as
agent | want to be very careful, and the reason I put the clause of four months
is that supposing you were unhappily for all your friends, to retire to a better
world” and in such a case Sykes’s executor could not press Close Brothers for
damages. It was all really a very small consideration, “for it is only a question,
whether Mr. Paullin pays up by January 1 or not. If he does not, I have the
power to seize his lands at once, but I do not want to hurry him if possible, as
his capital is somewhat locked up.” It isn't hard to imagine what a shrewd
Manchester businessman thought of this ingenuous line of argument.
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Part of the problem was that Close Brothers was undercapitalized. Fred,
still not 1n the firm, was involved with a potentially rival land office company
operating along similar lines and headed by a man named Plaice, whom James
and William regarded as fishy indeed. They hoped soon to bring their brother
around. But how solve the problem of insufficient cash in the organization?
William thought the tuime had come to go beyond the family and felt perfectly
comfortable taking a partner who hailed from the university brotherhood of
oarsmen. Iwenty-seven-year-old Constantine Benson, son of a Lancashire mer-
chant, had gone to Eton and Cambridge and was a rowing “Blue” in 1872. He
possessed many of the physical and intellectual attributes of William himself,
moved 1n similar circles, and would be effective promoting Close Brothers. I
took the bold step,” William told James, “of saying that if he came out to us,
we would take him in partnership with us, provided he could command
£15,000 [$75,000] to invest with the firm.” With such an infusion, the com-
pany could move grandly with the land market and proceed with the large
design William had in mind. “I told Ben you must ratify my proposals— but
without hesitation I would accept him, and with Ginger we should be enough.
[ hope he elects to go out.” Benson would of course want to visit lowa before
deciding. And in a postscript: “I suppose Fred will see the error of his ways and
join with us, but he must give us undivided attention to the business.”

Sykes continued his inquiries, perhaps sensing a chance to profit hand-

somely if he could manipulate the twenty-six-year-old, inexperienced William
“By enclosed letter from Sykes, you will see he means to go it big and actually
talks of 11,000 acres to his own tune. Find out the best you can for him, for say
about £15,000 [$75,000] worth, and let me know particulars. . . . The farms
Sykes already owned that the Closes now managed were to be rented out on
half-shares for 1880, "and he wants nice groves and orchards of apples. If you
have rented his farms, try and make fresh leases.” But how could James sud-
denly furnish fruit orchards? James is merely expected to take care of all

contingencies, including management of William’s Crawford County farm,

which he now owns separately, having disengaged from partnership with Fred
“Also, I have no objection to renting my farms for half shares again, if the
tenants like 1t, and you can provide wheat for all my new farms. I suppose no
hoppers have laid their eggs”” How exasperating for James to receive such
orders and quertes! William felt compelled to unload all his anxieties and
transfer as many problems as possible to his older brother in lowa. It helped
relieve the pressure of his solitary course.

William also had a suitable domestic couple ready to sail; the husband
could be farm manager for someone, the wife housekeeper. She was “young,
lively, good-looking and ladylike, yet plucky and full of work and go.” When
James tailed to respond to the possible services of this pair, William sent them

out anyhow. “She and her husband cannot wait longer, as they‘cannot live. |
am sure she will be most useful and is experienced. Lots of our pups will be
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only too glad to snatch them up” They embarked with Aimee de Pledge of

Gloucester, who planned to housekeep for her brother Guy, already a promi-

nent colonist. Soon after arrival she met the son of an Irish baronet, Montague

J. Chapman, Oxford graduate, and they were married the following year.
William envied the excitement of these young people “going out” and

still doted on the Spirit Lake site, which might make a fashionable “Saratoga of

the West.” He told James, “I want only one improved farm and it must be
either on the lake, Spirit or Okoboji, or very near it. I may want to make 1t my
home in the future”” But with whom and under what circumstances, he could
not foresee at the moment. “I'm gradually giving up the idea of returning next
spring, as | expect to be far too useful here”

Inquiries regarding the colony were pouring in daily. Several railroads had
gotten in in touch with James to ask if Close Brothers might act as their agents.
[t might look all right in Towa, but William worried that a British investor
might be suspicious of collusion over prices; “people here may think we're
acting for the railroad,” whereas they were committed to look out for the
welfare of the settlers. The Sioux City and St. Paul line offered their disposable
lands to the Close organization for $12.50 an acre, which could be resold for
enough profit to make it worthwhile. The east-west line from Sioux City to
Chicago offered their lands at $25.00 per acre, ridiculously high. “Write very
strongly about it. . .explain the advantage of having good English farmers in
the neighborhood” All of these maneuverings with railroad agents made Wil-
liam nervous about the reputation of Close Brothers. Their credibility with
prospective pups and land investors might suffer, for rumors abounded regard-
ing speculators who played both sides against the other. "I have come to the
conclusion that we must not make anything on the railway side but act entirely
for the pup. What we make from the railroad we must give the pup the benefit
of. This is the important thing’ A remarkably honorable private stance to take
in the era of robber barons!

Constantine Benson visited Iowa and seemed about to join the firm as a
partner. Perhaps he could be most effectively used as the partner solely respon-
sible for shipping interests. “Think what a lot of earth our pups and ourselves
will have in a year or two, besides wheat, flax, etc. No one could be better
connected with what we want than Ben.” His uncle was one of Liverpool’s
largest cattle importers. “Not only would we ship over our produce, but we
would turn into shipping commission agents for others” Benson’s Manchester
friends were expected to buy a shipload of live fat cattle from America the
coming spring, and if it worked successfully, more orders would be forthcom-
ing. However, the.exact terms under which Benson would enter the Close
partnership were sull to be determined.

More and more pups expressed interest in training on one of the Close
personal farms, and what seemed to be evolving was an agricultural school on
the plains. Instead of deferring to James's concern about the maximum num-

I
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ber of pupils the Closes could accommodate, William replied, “you will have
to build dormitories” Every young man should be urged to “write his impres-
ston of the country and of the people, say a fortnight after arrival” Further-
more, one of them might send a dispatch to the Fre/d magazine describing the
shooting, tishing, “any blessed thing that will keep us before the public— not
forgetting to mention us, say he dates: ‘With the Close’s, N.W. lowa. ”

James had been plagued with ill health, which worried William but did
not stop him from issuing commands and insisting on prompt answers to
questions. “Try not to overwork, old chap. Use others. If you cave in there will
be the devil to pay” Orders were coming in nicely: £1,000 ($5,000) from a
Cambridge protfessor and another £350 ($1,750) from William's Cambridge
agent, who was scouting tor pups and clients.

As the first of the year approached, James reported that Daniel Paullin
still could not come up with the cash. William proposed “cutting adrift from
him, pay for the lands ourselves and pay him for the improvements. . . give
him a bonus of say 50¢ an acre for the good lands and nothing for the bad
lands”” Some settlement had to be reached over the breaking already done and
Paullin’s expense accomplishing it. “My first duty 1s toward you and Fred. |
cannot allow you two to be hampered in the way he has been doing.” By now
William had hardened his thoughts concerning the Paullins. If James de-
ducted the loan William made to cover Mary's European expenses from the
profits Paullin would realize in disposing of the Bloodgood lands, “I think
Paullin 1s sure to go to law and try to bluff you. Never mind that, but see he
has sufficient bonds for court and no men of straw.”

Part of William'’s new stern stance reflected his reaction to James’s disgust.
“Yes, of course, you have a perfect right to have your lands freed.. . .1 have no
intention that you should take any risk in the Paullin-Bloodgood matter. . . .1
don’t want you to have any dealings with him, unless you see 1t 1s to your
advantage. Break with him if you like. It 1s useless my trying to control your
activities.”

By now William was probably able to scrape together the total owed
Bloodgood and Mrs. Stanton. Although disabused of the Paullins, William
could nor resist chiding James tor his remark about Bert Paullin, which he
found “most unwarrantable and unjust: ‘Sooner or later blood and gene must
show itself’ It is a horrible thing to say of anyone.” Particularly because the
snide comment would have to include Mary Paullin, with whom William was

still 1n love.

With such a profusion of requests, leases shuttling back and forth across
the Atlantic, James would have done well to answer William line by line and
keep an exact record. Ordinary laborers and farmers with little capital were
writing ‘Close Brothers in England by the hundreds, but could anything be
done for them? And what about “helps”? Were servant girls needed? And
what would be the rent in Le Mars for a house for a certain period? How much
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did food cost and “how many cubic feet go to a ton of hay?" Since farm
laborers received 155, ($3.75) a week in England, would they do better in
lowa —or was the labor situation taken care of by the pups, who provided so
many extra hands for a farmer? How about married couples with experience in
stock raising; if such couples with little money were sent out, could they be
placed? William begged James to please answer—at once. Properly executed
deeds should be sent forthwith, since the new owners were anxious; ditto, all
leases, accurately set down. At the same time James should not “do chores,
and don’t tire yourself. Let Fred have the surveying department to do; you
keep cool and direct. Use others.”

Fred finally and definitely decided to join Close Brothers, though a few
disputes about commissions remained to be settled. And, another excellent
turn of furtune occurred: the Close siblings won a lawsuit involving the settle-

| ment of their inheritance. “It was a near go. How lucky I was in England.” Now
there would be more capital for all of them soon. William wrote to Fred on 10
December 1879:

I heartily welcome you into our firm and am sure you will be most
useful. When you and Jim discuss matters, remember not to try and thrust
each other's opinions down each other’s throats, and don't think each other
fools because you don’t agree Also, don’t crow over each other when
one of you is right, and for goodness sakes don't say “I told you so.” Such
things only breed disagreable incidents between you.

Your affec. brother and partner

Wm B. CLost

William dispatched a brief note to John Bloodgood, informing him that
by 1 January, “or a day or two after, I shall be able to meet my notes.” Money
was pouring in. His Cambridge scout had just turned up another investor with
£600 ($3,000) to send to lIowa. No longer in a financial bind and free of the

] threatened collapse of Close Brothers because of Paullin’s default, William
wrote his former mentor. Communication was obviously painful, a mixture of
business and emotion—and anguish over a friendship sullied. He explained
why he had to act in a responsible, businesslike way, especially because of his
partnership with his brothers.

Ed has probably told you . . .I have paid all your daughter’s expenses and
debts and both their journey money. This comes up to over £350. I enclose
the account. Of course, it would be right I should be paid this money back
as soon as possible; therefore, [ should keep that amount back out of the

! sum James and Fred may agree to pay you for improving the land, etc. 1
suppose you concur in this. I have told James in the utmost confidence
about my having paid Miss Paullin’s expenses, and you, he, and Edward
are the only ones who know anything about it. I trust it will not go further,
and the last one whom I should wish to know abour the matter 15 Miss
Paullin herself. You may understand why
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She 1s long ago with you, and I hope you find her much improved in
health. I have no longer any night to allude to her by her Christian name
and must accustom myself to speak and write of her as a stranger. In view
of what has happened, I shall not return to lowa, at least not for some tuime
to come, until I shall be better able to remain with calmness in the same
neighbourhood as herself. I am very glad that from present appearances, it
seems that I shall have enough business to keep me occupied here

William urged his brother James to be lenient in adjudicating the Paullin
share of the coming settlement, allowing Paullin 5 percent for having “nego-
tiated the purchase and shouldering the trouble of improvements. Remember
in negotiating the purchase he saved us $4,000, for I should have been content
to have taken $2.50, but D. P. stuck out for $2.25 and got it. [The price was
actually $2.40 an acre.] I think $2.500 or $3,000 not too much. Then you are
once for all home. No more dealings with them.”

But such was not to be the case. for Ed Paullin kept trying to lure away
pups that the Close organization had placed on other tarms. “I am sorry you
did not take my plain warning, 22z, not to meddle with our pupils”” William
wrote Ed. Two particular young men he didn’t mind giving over to Paullin,
“although you had no right whatever to them and really should not have asked
for them.” Now Ed was asking for others. “Why are you so short-sighted? I
speak to you as a brother, openly and plainly; answer me as such.”

FIRST reactions from the colonists in lowa
ranged from dismay over the extremes of climate and general living conditions
to foolish overenthusiasm, and both caused trouble for Close Brothers. An
older emigrant, R. P. Kay, hated Towa and quickly returned. “I hear Kay is
back” William wrote James, “and. . .calls the country all the bad names he
can. ... How stupid Mrs. Kay must be —she will ruin her husband. . . however
Remember, I am not urging the common farmers to go out, only pups go out
now. The Kays' behaviour indicated that they were not the right sort for
emigration. They should have taken the challenges of the new country in stride
and triumphed over adverse circumstances. A year and a half later the Fre/d
reporter in Le Mars noted that “discomfort is laughed at, inconveniences
chaffed at, and hardship ignored. Though much hard work is done, the pieni
air pervades all of it, and the unfortunate who does not conduct himself
honourably and in every respect like a gentleman is placed instantaneously in
Coventry — Boycotted !

William got Kay to make amends for the damage he may have caused
Close Brothers. In the next issue of Farming in North-Western lowa Kay ex-

plained: “I must tell you that it was with great regret that I left lowa. I only did
so because Mrs. Kay could not settle there. It is, as you told me, rather rough
for ladies.” He praised the country for its cattle and sheep-raising potential,
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knowing of no better place “where a single man could find more profitable
outlay for his capital and labour, and enjoy himself, particularly if he is fond of
shooting . . .and if I was a bachelor would return there at once.”

The pups of the first wave were beginning to show their mettle. Some
liked the country, another was “a devil of a spy on everyone,” James informed
his brother. Robert Maxtone Graham continued to flourish— "I did not know
that Bob was a pigeon shooter,” William remarked. And using a phrase from
rowing: “I am sorry Grayson proving weak at the first trials. He told me he
would rough it any amount.”

Serious damage to the firm’s reputation could have been the result of
young Alfred Shaw's excessive haste in wanting to buy land. I say” William
told James, “you must not be in such a hurry to advise young fellows like Shaw
to invest. His people didn’t like the telegram. Looks too much as it we hurried
them. . . . Shaw is in the light of a son to you, and you are to look after him and
restrain him.”

In Liverpool William ran into Mr. Shaw, who was very much agitated that
three days after the boy arrived in Le Mars he telegraphed for money on James
Close’s advice. “If a fellow wants to invest at once, let him write on his own
account,” but try to persuade him to hold off for a bit. Mr. Shaw had been
talking angrily to his friends about this, annoyed also that his son spent £45
($225) on the trip, when William said 1t could be done for £25 ($125). Now
Mr. Shaw would not let his son buy even one farm, and yet William had heard
that young Shaw did buy one. “Where does he get the coin from? Shall I write
to his father and say. . . that we will reimburse him if he transfers it to one of
the investors?” In the future the firm had better emphasize that 1t was arrang-
ing for young men to go to lowa primarily for stock-farm experience, not so
much to buy land, which was so highly speculative. Eight weeks ago Mr. Shaw
had been talking of investing from $10,000 to $15,000, “and when I saw him
last. he did not even mention the subject. I am afraid he is not pleased.”

The role James should play was becoming clearer—at least to William
He was to judge the character of a young man; “you are to be somewhat in the
light of a father. . .and look after their morals.” He was to keep tabs on all of
them. “Their money is placed with us, they draw on us; it is your business to
see that it does not go too fast. In fact, you must look after these raw and
inexperienced young men or boys”” And if things weren't going right, “you
must advise the parents.

Among the early colonists, Roylance Court, Jr., of Newton Manor,
Middlewich. Cheshire, seemed similar in calibre to Graham and Garnett, who
were adjuncts to the Close Brothers staff. A number of pups were delegated
upon arrival in Le Mars to go under “the Court plan” —he took special charge
of them. Plat records show that Court and William Close owned land jointly,
carly on. But it was soon clear to James that Court was not working out, and he
informed his brother. “One idle man will contaminate the whole lot” William
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replied. “You must speak to him and show him what a responsibility rests with
him. I hear he and Shaw spend the day walking arm in arm. Shaw's father laid
preat stress on his being made to work.” Threaten to have their money
withheld., if they didn’t cooperate. “Pupils are sent to us as much for our moral
influence as for anything else”” William had been telling parents that if a
young man didn't work, he was shunned by others. Days were so well-regu-
lated that the newest greenhorn had to get up early in the morning to feed the
horses. whereas the more experienced enjoyed privileges. He was loosely bor-
rowing Dr. Thomas Arnold’s system at Rugby, the sixth formers being on top
and the lower levels obliged to perform certain duties. “Also, we must not let
our stock farms degenerate into rowdy places, but their character must be kept
up. No swearing, drinking, and so on.” Roylance Court, Jr., as it turned out,
shaped up nicely. During 1880 and 1881 he virtually managed William'’s stock
farm on the West Fork. then returned to England and became a barrister

Some contemporary critics of the agricultural pupil system telt the $500
the Closes charged for tutelage by people like Court was much too high.
William asked his brother if the pups thought their money was well spent, “or
would they rather have saved £75 [$375] and gone onto some neighbouring
farms?” In addition to James's in loco parentis role (which was an extension of
William’s tendency to take on parental obligations), were the Closes making
good on promises? “The tellows are sent to us to drill and be well looked after
[t delights the parents’ hearts to be told that they are forced to work. They
must be taught plowing, etc., and there must be no idling” But how to
accomplish this aim? James couldn’t be expected to run an agricultural school
in addition to his other duties. Someone else would have to be found. Even
some other place was needed, not the Close stock farms, which were located
more than fifteen miles from Le Mars.

William found his solution in the person of Captain Reynolds Moreton,
who had commanded a British warship for nine years and at forty-five was
looking for a pleasant, challenging retirement Moreton’s first wife had died in
1865. The following year he remarried —a daughter of an [rish clergyman,
whose seat was Dromore Castle, County Kerry. Reynolds Moreton was the fifth
<on of the second Earl of Ducie, a title dating only from 1837. When Captain
Moreton settled in Le Mars, he was hailed in the press as coming from 2 family
famous for its herds of purebred cattle

In May 1880 Moreton purchased an improved farm overlooking Le Mars
for the astonishingly high price of thirty-four dollars an acre. The site on which
the buildings were located commanded a view of ten or more miles 1n Most
directions — a perfect place for the colony’s major establishment. The enormous
price tag sent ripples of land-tever excitement throughout the Northwest. Ev-
ervone, including the seller, was taken completely by surprise, for the asking
figure was far out of keeping with the prevailing cost of land, and he “had no

thought that he would be accepted.”™
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Captain Moreton must have realized that the proximity to Le Mars and
the grandeur of the elevation made the property unique; by owning it he
would immediately become the principal squire in the Close Colony. It was
here on Dromore Farm that the Prairie Club came 1nto existence on 1 Decem-
ber 1880. The first county telephone 1s believed to have been strung from
Captain Moreton’s home to the House of Lords tavern in Le Mars, so that the
captain could keep tabs on his carousing pups.

Moreton immediately spent $20,000 to remodel the house, enlarging it to
seventeen rooms; all the floors were solid oak planking. The handsome walnut
staircase had a niche on the landing for a coal-oil lamp, and in the upstairs
bedrooms, flat English-style wardrobe closets were built, with pegs for the
pups to hang their clothes. The two-story clapboard structure had a mansard
roof and several attractive bay windows. To enhance the setting, a large grove
of elm, spruce, walnut, and various fruit trees was planted. The outbuildings
were done over on a scale 1n keeping with the house: a sales pavilion and four
barns —one for cattle and hogs, another for sheep, a third for horses, a fourth
for polo ponies.” Captain Moreton imported Shropshire and Southdown sheep
from Sussex, a strain that flourished and continues today on western ranches.
British efforts to transplant livestock bloodlines came to be an important con-
tribution to American agriculture. Their shorthorn cattle and Poland-China
and Berkshire hogs, bringing high prices at the Sioux City and Chicago slaugh-
ter houses, convinced other settlers to stop thinking of wheat as their main
product and to turn instead to livestock raising.'®

Moreton fortunately had the services of a good superintendent to run the
many departments of the farm. By February 1881 he had ten pups in resi-
dence, not merely to provide free labor; these young men were actually in-
volved 1n agricultural training. They learned by doing and paid Captain More-
ton, brother of an earl, for the privilege of boarding with him.

That first winter the Moretons lived on Dromore Farm, the weather was
more severe than the Closes had prepared colonists to expect. It was one of the
bitterest winters on record. But Moreton thought it fortunate in the long run
that the initial winter of the colony’s establishment should have been excep-
tionally severe, for by this lesson no newcomer would be fooled into taking
inadequate precautions to protect livestock or have an insufficient quantity of
teed on hand. “Let the lads always prepare for a long hard winter, and be
thankful if it turns out a short and pleasant one”” He was an amiable, imper-
turbable optimist, whose years as a sea captain sat easily; he enjoyed being in
charge of young men."

George du Maurier's cartoon in Punch on 12 November 1881 was thought
to have been 1nspired by tales of life at Dromore Farm, where most of the pups
were either sons of aristocrats or scions of well-placed families. Captain More-
ton set a good table for his privileged boarders: English cooking in every
respect, with home-cured hams and frequent legs of mutton. “We'll never
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forget the dinner bell,” one guest recalled. “It hung at one end of the porch,
and when the hostler rang it, it could be heard over the enure farm.”” At one
point Moreton had twenty-two pups under his supervision. They slept in the
small upstairs rooms referred to as “the dormitory. After dinner the first floor
rooms were opened for billiards, chess, and cribbage, or one could browse
through the latest British magazines and newspapers in the library."”

Portly, genial Captain Moreton looked the part of country squire and
played his role with considerable zest. He was the moving force behind the
agricultural fair of 1881 and personally canvassed for premiums to be awarded.
“Let the farmers themselves now do their part. Prepare at once for 2 grand
display, and let us show the world that Plymouth stands in the very front rank
of agricultural counties” The county fair tradition, once established, became
10 annual event. and the competition for prizes was intended to enhance local
farming efforts. Excellent show animals, along with splendid fruit, vegetable,
and grain produce on display helped set the standards. Farmers could see for
‘hemselves what their neighbors were accomplishing and perhaps learn how to
better their own production in the future.™

In the fall of 1881 a reporter visiting Dromore Farm found Moreton
actively at work overseeing the laying of 350 feet of iron pipe from his new
artesian well (the first to be dug in the region) to the boiler house. He drilled
the well so as to be certain of a more steady, adequate supply of clean water
than the shallow, surface wells could provide. The arrangements in his barns
and sheds seemed very efficient, with double rows of stalls, wide aisles, and
haylofts overhead within easy access. Four hundred feet of wood fencing en-
closed the lots. Hay and straw stacks immediately behind the sheds provided a
windbreak and shelter in blizzards. Of the ninety head of cattle, nine were
blooded heifers and one a “magnificent full-blooded bull” Captain Moreton
bought the area’s first steam engine tractor, a ten-horsepower vehicle that “ran
rround the streets” of Le Mars for everyone to see, driven by Henty, the cap-
tain’s twenty-two-year-old son. In succeeding years, Moreton’s superintendent
and Henry custom threshed for many of the neighbors with this machine. Five
hundred bushels of wheat or oats could be threshed 1n a single morning. The
steam engine was also useful in grinding livestock feed, which was cooked
before being ladled out into troughs. Not only did his animals enjoy hot
<0 housed in barns at night, although life outside in the

14

meals, they were a
yards would make them “better sheltered . . . than most stock in this country.”

Captain Moreton, like a number of other officers in Her Majesty's service,
displayed an evangelical streak, perhaps because military duty forced one to
consider life and death. Moreton stepped to the pulpit whenever anyone asked
him to. delivering sermons in the style of his American contemporary, the
evangelist Dwight L. Moody. Sometimes n the local press he was called the

Reverend Moreton. The captain himself furthered his ecclesiastical claims, but
he may have been exaggerating when he said the Episcopal bishop ot lowa
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thought Moreton should be ordained pastor of the Le Mars church. He
founded a YMCA by raising $1,500 in subscriptions among the colonists, all of
whom could easily be persuaded that young pups needed a place of Christian
atmosphere to offset the influence of the saloons. Moreton’s Bible reading
classes and religious discussions on topics such as “The Relation of the Church
to the Second Coming of the Lord” were a regular weekly feature and well
attended. His guest appearances in Congregational and Presbyterian pulpits
drew wide followings. His spell-binding oration one Sunday afternoon at-
tracted an overflow crowd, “one of the largest audiences ever assembled in the
church” On 31 July 1882 he addressed parishioners on the subject of Daniel’s
character, “his determinedness, his standing by his ‘No’ when he said ‘No, ”
and mesmerized his listeners as surely as if Daniel actually stood before them.
“How many Daniels are there in Le Mars, aye, in this congregation?” As his
fame as an inspirational preacher spread, Moreton travelled great distances to
fill a pulpit, his wife often accompanying him. Dromore Farm was often the
scene of religious gatherings for young and old. One fine June day in 1881
wagons and carriages transported all the Congregational Sunday school
children tfrom church at 10 A M to the orchard Moreton had planted when he
tirst arrived. Picnic tables were set under the trees; in addition to the lunch
cach child took along, the Moretons provided ice cream, lemonade, and
cookies.'s

With Fred and James Close moving about in connection with land pur-
chases and William living mostly in England, Captain Moreton became the
colony’s nominal head. When correspondents from Europe or Poultney Bige-
low writing for Harper's arrived in Le Mars, it was to Captain Moreton’s they
were sent. The Fre/d reported: “Captain Moreton 1s a father to the Colony, a
good religious man, with great influence over all the young fellows. . . . these
Moreton boys are taken specially good care of; but, of course, admission to the
captain’s establishment is not an easy matter to procure. His boys do all the
work of the farm. Lord Hobart, when I was there, was mowing, assisted by two
of Lord St. Vincent’s sons, and the hon. captain was feeding a thrashing
machine. It was hot, but everyone looked happy....And again the picnic
aspect, despite the real hardship and remunerative work, struck me irresistibly.”
Lord Harris was expected to arrive soon, “to revive the highest standard of
cricket.”

Captain Moreton told the Fre/d visitor that those who did not succeed in
taking to life in lowa, who had “breakdowns.” were largely victims of excessive
drinking habits and partakers of bad food. “No young English gentleman
could work hard on-a diet of beans and bacon, such as he gets in the house of

the western American farmer. So the captain keeps a generous table, and his
boys are certainly a credit to his system: clear-eyed, bronzed, and muscular, in
the highest health and spirits. How much more sensible and useful lives they
live here than they would do if at home!”'®
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Even the ultimate aim of this new life was boldly illustrated by Moreton's
citizenship action. He took out naturalization papers in September 1882 and
thereby decisively set an example of how to solve a problem that continued to
haunt the gentlemen immigrants. Should they stay in this country? Why?
Should they become American citizens and meld into the classless, egalitarian
society here, when as offspring of Britsh gentlemen they enjoyed a position in
English circles, their names recognized _everything except livelihoods?"’



C H A P T E R S I X

Some Difficulties Surmounted

N the early stages of Close Brothers, William
attempted to make money on all aspects of the
operation—tutorial fees, land-sale commis-
SIoNs, percentages on Improving raw prairie,

banking personal accounts, and farm manage-
-~ —~ ment for British investors who never intended
to become colonists. In the latter category, Richard Sykes, John Close’s friend,
was the biggest client and the most trouble. Sykes asked William for impos-
sibly detailed information: when his land was to be broken, what buildings
were to be erected, and where and exactly who would manage the farms, and
how the half-share system worked. “You understand,” William wrote James,
“that he wants all rents on half-shares, so send estimates for amount of seed
required, value & how much to be in what and how much in corn.” A simpler
way would have been a cash-rent agreement, so much per acre going to the
landlord, the tenant making what he could on his own. Share-rent manage-
ment of farm property for fussy clients like Sykes was simply not feasible for
Close Brothers, although William was not yet aware of this.

Furthermore, Sykes was delinquent in paying. “As you have failed to pay
in the money I am forced to decline to act as your agent in this purchase and
have wired the facts to my brothers,” since “they do not keep such sums as
£1,200 ($6,000) idle to suit the convenience of clients.” Almost by return mail
Sykes sent £800 ($4,000), instructing Close Brothers to purchase land to that
amount. "I am fast getting into a quarrel with Sykes,” William wrote James.
“He 1s most slippery.” Sykes requested William to withdraw his statement that
he would not act as agent. “I see nothing. . .to withdraw — that we can’t buy
land unless the money is paid up. He accuses us one and all of being most
unbusinesslike, so for goodness sake hurry up and send his title deeds [for
lands purchased already]....He complains much about that. I have him,
though, on the hip. He alleges that he could not pay up for Spirit Lake because
he was f00 busy? By the way, he says that his first investment through you was
entirely in a philanthropical spirit to help a young man starting in the world”

Sykes also had to be made to understand that to purchase the choice Spirit
Lake lands, he must agree to have Close Brothers improve them for the usual
charges. If he were merely interested in buying lands for speculative purposes,
holding them and then selling, some other tracts would have to be found.
Because: of these difficulties with Sykes, William began to clarify the difference
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between a settler and a speculator— the former to receive prime consideration.
“You are mistaken.” William wrote Sykes, “in supposing that you are to have
the whole list of lands before you and that you are to have your choice. All 1
promised was that as you and John had your names down first for anything
that might turn up, James was to give you two the first choice for an improved
farm. i.e.. the two best improved farms to go to you and John respectively.
The rest will be divided equally by James and Fred out there. It is perfectly
impossible for me here to divide the lands.” After receiving further infuriating
notes from Sykes, William sent back the £800 check, “in order that if you were
willing, we could start afresh with a proper understanding between us.”

As it worked out, Sykes finally purchased about 30,000 acres in the ex-
treme northwest corner of lowa. Much of it had belonged to the Sioux City and
St. Paul Railroad, which Close Brothers sold for them. By 1881 fifty breaking
teams were at work creating quarter-section farms upon which the necessary
buildings were erected. Sykes and his friend John Close arrived for a visit 1n
the spring of that year— John's sole trip to lowa. After the farms were ready to
be worked, Sykes hired good overseers, and in this way he did not have to be 1n
residence except during the nice weather. The Sykes home, “Larc hwood" (later
the name of the town). was one of the most impressive in the area. He enjoyed
playing the grand seigneur with the local folks, and one Larchwood resident
recalled the excitement in school when Mr. Sykes of Manchester, England,
dropped by for a visit, passing out oranges and candies to the children, looking
very grand and important as he strolled about the classroom. “I still possess a
‘drawing slate’ he brought me on one of those occasions, and some specimen
beads from strings of ‘Irish beads’ he brought to my somewhat older school-
mates.”’

Sykes’s stock farms dealt principally in Galloway and Black Welsh cattle,
his heifers and young bulls highly prized. By 1888 Sykes was selling some of his
land on a ten-year term basis. He had gained the reputation of being a tough
customer for anyone having business dealings with him. The widow of the
Close Brothers' attorney had to go to court to wring legal fees out of him; 1t
took her four years to secure a judgment of $1,500. When 1t became more
profitable for Sykes to unload the higher-priced land on new settlers, he relin-
quished all of his lowa holdings and by the turn of the century no longer had
any connection with Middle West farming.

While clients like Sykes added greatly to Close Brothers coffers, 1t was the
colony itself that increasingly absorbed William’s attention. How were the
young lads doing? Did they like the country? James must continue to “be their
dvisor or mentor to whom they can turn for instruction, so that they are not
cheated on arrival. . . . Of course, all extra expense, buggies and so on, they

must pay, and lawyers’ fees. Your principal work should be sitting in your office
and dispensing advice.” Had James made arrangements with th¢ lumber com-
panies, the furniture suppliers in Chicago. with the machinery people? “I have
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some 35 booked to sail in the next six weeks, and goodness knows how many
are thinking about it” He had been working too hard. “Every night up to
twelve or one o'clock and all Sunday.” The total sum already paid in by clients
came to over $100,000. “I feel very tired but can hold out until Con Benson
returns [from lowa].”

Mrs. Harriet Humble seemed like an ordinary parent-investor when she
deposited a premium for her son, William, embarking from Liverpool 22
January 1880 aboard the City of Richmond. Asa £25 pup, he was to be settled
on some suitable farm in the colony. “He’s a young, inoffensive smug of 18"
William wrote James. Mrs. Humble was only recently widowed; her husband
had been a large landowner in the Midlands, with several farms in Yorkshire, a
hunting lodge in Scotland, plus “financial interests in the United States)
according to his grandson. There were eight Humble children, four girls and
four boys. One girl had married and was living in Wales, but the rest of the
children’s futures had to be somehow managed by Mrs. Humble. The attrac-
tion of the Iowa British colony was surely that her son William would come
under the supervision of an older man—to make up for the lost father. Once
the boy got settled in Towa, he wrote lively letters home describing farm life,
with the result that his sisters decided to visit, as well as Mrs. Humble. Since
they were extremely attractive girls, they were immediately noticed in the
colony and widely introduced. According to octogenarian T. J. Maxwell, once
the groom of Fred Close, one day while out horseback riding Fred spied two of
the Humble girls bathing in a stream. He was so struck by their beauty—
particularly Margaret's— that he fell in love on the spot. However the romance
started, 1t quickly became serious, and Fred married Margaret in the fall of
1881. The other sister, Susan, married James Close on Christmas Day, 1885, in
Chicago. A third sister, Annie, married a later Close Brothers partner, Samuel
Houghton Graves.?

With William Humble on board the Cizy of Richmond was W. White
Marsh, whom William characterized as a “gentleman son of a Rev'd, been
sheep farming in Australia and wants to get onto a sheep farm” Marsh’s
brother, Arthur, and his wife shipped out a few months later, but instead of
remaining in farming he became an ordained Episcopal minister, serving as
rector in Blair, Nebraska. His son, upon graduation from the University of
Nebraska, won a Rhodes Fellowship in 1905 and studied theology at Oxford.
In this fashion the transplanted Englishman, Arthur Marsh, was able to follow
the advice of Blackwood'’s magazine (March 1889): whereas a well-educated
gentleman who had once known civilization and the stimulating company of
congenial friends could live a rustic life for years, his offspring could not. “If an
emigrant has children he ought to pinch to his last farthing to give his son an
education in Great Britain” When young Marsh returned to Nebraska after
Oxford he became vicar of St. Paul’s in Omaha, but died in France in 1917,
serving as chaplain with the American troops.?
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The Honorable Henry Frank Sugden sailed a few days later than Humble
and Marsh from Liverpool aboard the Cizy of Chester. Sugden “intends to pick
out a piece of land and improve it through our firm.” William reported. How
much he was to be charged William left to James; special consideration ought
to be given because Sugden had been serving as a Close agent, receving a
£2.10s, commission on every pup he persuaded. “He takes two out with him to
view the country.”

Frank Sugden was the grandson of Lord St. Leonards, an eminent law
reformer, sworn to the Privy Council in 1834 and created Baron St. Leonards in
1852, the birth year of the future British emigrant to lowa. Frank's father was a
clergyman, a second son who did not inherit the title. Frank had already spent
considerable time on the southern Minnesota border as a sheep and cattle
farmer. When the Close Colony formed, he endorsed Willlam's prospectus,
speaking from his Middle West experience. One year later, all set up on the
West Fork near the Close stock farms, Sugden was heavily involved in raising
sheep. In January 1881, 400 of them died, more than he had ever lost before,
although in Minnesota he had carried as many as 3,000 sheep through a
winter. His losses were attributed to inferior Missouri-bred sheep, which he'd
purchased cheaply the previous fall. “He is satstied that it is bad policy to
bring sheep from the south to winter here;” the local paper reported, “no
matter how tempting the price may be at the ume.™

A sister kept house for Frank, but in 1882 they decided to return to
England; the whole Sugden establishment was put up for auction, “a large lot
of horses, cattle, implements, and household goods” However, the following
vear the Sugdens were back and continued to play an important role 1n the
colony. When Frank’s father died in 1886, rumors spread throughout the Eng-
lish settlement that a2 new baron was in their midst. Miss Sugden sent word to
the press that such was not the case. The confusion among the transplanted
Britons perhaps arose because of the cause célebre following the death of the
first Lord St. Leonards in 1876, which some may have remembered. Frank's
grandfather, author of the Handy Book on Real Property Law, was “‘one of the
most learned real property lawyers who had ever sat on the bench/” and there
were eight codicils to the will, set down in precise, technical language, as if
Lord St. Leonards in a parting shot would demonstrate what a brilliant attor-
ney he had been. His grandson, offspring of the first-born male, inherited the
title, but his daughter Charlotte, “a lady of great ability,” who had “largely
assisted her father in the preparation of his legal treatises,” saw to it that her
brother. the Reverend Frank Sugden, and herself were designated to receive
the bulk of the estate. Naturally, the new baron protested. But Charlotte and
her brother won the case. When the judge, Lord Brampton, died, the Tizzes
obituary referred to the suit: “It was probably the most singular instance in the
annals of our law of the establishment of a lost instrument by secondary testi-
mony,” most of it accomplished “on the evidence of Miss Sugden.” Although
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the Iowa Frank Sugden did not inherit the title upon the death of his clergy-
man father in 1886, his financial situation was considerably changed for the
better. Thus “Old Sug,” as he was called, left Le Mars and returned to
England.®

THE colony would be attractive to settlers
only if word of mouth were favorable, and William was distressed that a couple
of brothers had complained about sleeping two to a bed. “With the premiums
they pay, they must be provided with a bed each. Don't overwork them.”
Another wrote “a vicious and unwarranted letter. We don’t wish any of this to
get out. He says the country is not fit for darkies—the cold is awful. He runs
down everything.”

William was beginning to realize that some of the rambunctious young
bachelors fresh from the public schools were not “taking” to rugged prairie life
and needed the settling influence of solid, older married couples. These
seasoned homesteaders would become the bulwark of the colony. “Capt.
Mount Batten, with whom [ am staying now, will probably go out next month
[February]. He is sick of farming here and Madge is all on fire to go out—and
would tomorrow if she could.. . . Looks like it is all not that ladies can’t go out
with their husbands, and the sooner we get some ladies with real go in
them. . . the greater our colony will be. I can’t see any objection to ladies as
long as we can get a dozen. . .at a time and n one place.” Spirit Lake might be
settled with such English families; “we can soon get it a fashionable American
watering place and make it a very paying concern by selling lots and building
hotels.” Captain J. C. Cooper and Mrs. Cooper, already Le Mars residents, were
another stable couple, “having been a captain in the army, he’s always a good
reference”; furthermore, Cooper and Batten had served in the same battalion
and were old friends. So was Capt. W. P. Bridson from Manchester, who
booked passage soon after reading William’s letter about the colony in a local
newspaper. To this group of ex-service officers would be added Col. James
Fenton and his wife, who initially requested Close Brothers to find an im-
proved stock farm near Le Mars. “He has ten children and therefore must be
near schools,” but now “he would like to go to Spirit Lake.” Another eminently
suitable pair were Mr. and Mrs. W. McOran Campbell. He was thirty-three
years old, son of a wealthy Scottish landowner who was magistrate for the
counties Dumbarton and Lanark and Lord of the Barony of Tullichewan. These
married gentlemen immigrants would “form a capital nucleus for your society
[William says yoxr, not oxr], and then by judiciously starting a small hotel we
could make a lot of coin by making it en ville de pleasance. People coming
back somewhat complain of the hotels. Why don’t you run up some addition
to your Le Mars establishment and make newcomers comfortable on their
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arrival? . . . You could charge a reasonable amount until the pups are stowed
away. Men like Batten and Campbell it would pay to put up free and make
reasonably comfortable ”

The Field correspondent visiting Le Mars in the summer of 1881 found
the hotels the worst feature of the “rising and surring little town.” Nothing
even in West Texas or Nevada could rival the Le Mars hotels for “general
discomfort and bad cooking.” The only good to be said of them was that “the
proprietors are very civil, and do not pretend to think they do the thing well,
which is some mitigation of their offence.”

In addition to his other duties, James was not to neglect the management
of William’s personal stock farm. “I shall invest all I can in sheep and stock. 1
want to have 3 or 4,000 pounds [$15,000-$20,000] in sheep and stock. . . rein-
vest all my seed [unused seed was to be sold] in my stock farm.” Had James
arranged to “sell my wheat as soon as there 1s demand for spent seed? Don't let
it go too late, for the moment the demand for seed wheat is over, there is a fall
in price. Will a bicycle be of any use to you to go from farm to farm? A man
who is a good bicycle man wants to know. His name 1s Dalton.” Obviously,
William had totally forgotten the state of most lowa roads or he would not
have asked such a question. Bicycle or not, several Daltons emigrated and soon
were highly visible in the colony—with a town west of Le Mars named after
them

The pressure William put on James also reflected his anxieties regarding
the Paullins and pain over his broken engagement with Mary. Love and money
were so intertwined he could not separate them, and the Paullins appeared to
be aware of his vulnerability. Then a letter arrived from James with the surpris-
ing news that the Paullins had managed to scrape together the needed cash
after all. They had saved their piece of the Bloodgood-Stanton lands, and now
Ed was his old boasting, braggart self. He ridiculed the Close Brothers pur-

chase price for the Spirit Lake tracts, telling James that it could all have been
bought for $8.75 an acre. William consoled his brother: “He only wanted to
show you that you lost by not dealing through his father. He told all sorts of
untruths in the same way” to several others. James would have to decide on the
ownership assignment of the parcel, with the Paullins receiving title to acreages
for which they actually put up cash, William took some satistaction in specify-
ing that along with other parcels, “the Paullins are to have. . . the worst 40 in
S.E. of 24.89.43.”

But William’s bitterness evaporated when he received a different kind ot
Paullin communication — this one from Mary. The letter arrived in late Febru-
ary or early March, an epistle so winning and conciliatory that suddenly, as far
as William was concerned, the courtship was fully restored, perhaps stronger
than ever. Up to the moment he received Mary's letter, William stated no

intention of returning to lowa in the spring of 1880. He had all he could do

managing the London end of Close Brothers. The suddenness of his change of
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plans suggests the depths of his feelings toward her, but just what brought
about her change of heart long puzzled the Close family and aroused numer-
ous suspicions. William’s niece, Anne Eaden, who transcribed “The Prairie
Journal” and for years served as unofficial family scribe, claimed she under-
stood how it happened. “I am in a position to know," she wrote, for she'd been
on intimate terms with her Uncle Bill. In Anne Eaden’s view, although Wil-
liam was “deeply in love.. . .She did not return 1t

Why then did she make the crucial move that brought about the reconcil-
iation? Anne Eaden believed (implying that it was finally her Uncle Bill’s
opinion) that “Her father for financial reasons wanted the marriage: eventually
she gave way”” It was not merely the $22,500 debt various Paullins owed Wil-
liam, but if this interpretation is correct, Daniel Paullin shrewdly realized that
Close Brothers and the partners involved were on the verge of an enormous
financial success. Paullin had been instrumental in bringing 1t about, having
befriended and trained William in land purchasing. Such an investment in a
promising young man’s career should not be lost just at the point where sub-
stantial gains for the Paullins might be realized. Fathers often prevailed upon
daughters when it came to marriage arrangements; even educated, emanci-
pated Mary seems to have bent under this paternal coercion. To mitigate the
crassness of such scheming, Paullin could take comfort in the notion of how
pleased William would be to have his bereft, lonely condition alleviated, his
love finally consummated. These months since the break, William had contin-
ued to demonstrate his emotional involvement with the Paullins, and certainly
the family appeared to need a bulwark like this gifted, enterprising young
man. Daniel Paullin was entering the last year of his life. Health failing, he
may have exerted particular effort to secure the well-being of his children who
would soon be orphans. The boys’ future lay in farming in northwest lowa, but
what of the girls? At least Mary would be handsomely taken care of by a good
man already on his way to riches, who wanted nothing more in the world than
to make her his wife.

Mary played her part convincingly. William sailed from Liverpool aboard
the Celtic, disembarking at New York on 20 April 1880. He routed his train
trip west through Quincy but only visited Mary a few days; on 26 April he
arrived in Le Mars, ready to undertake the last full season of his tenure on the
prairie. Now that he was about to achieve all that he had been striving for—
successful in his marriage suit and rapidly becoming a wealthy businessman —
the “trials” were over. The rest of his life would unfold directly from this
destiny of his own making. But his best years had involved the struggle 1tself,
not the realization of his dreams.
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Gentlemanly Activities

?AMES Close acted upon his brother Wil-
liam's suggestion and renovated a Le Mars ho-
tel, naming it Albion House, so new arrivals
A"/ would feel more at home, but he could not
\w%*"-“"“ serve as housemaster for the entire colony. Re-
“-7— sponsibility for the behavior of individual

.--."I

pups lay mostly with the host farmer who had received a sum for tuition or
who employed the youth as a hired hand. Whereas most Le Mars ciuzens
seemed pleased by the influx of settlers with large quantities of cash, when the
so-called better class turned out to be intractable youngsters, antagonism
against the British began to mount

One young Close colonist wrote a supercilious letter to his hometown
newspaper, the Manchester Courier: “Now as to the ‘helps,” though they don't
call their mistress ‘Mum. yet they are kept in perfect subjection. Of course
among men the tinker and tailor calls one by one’s surname, or even by one's
Christian name if he happens to know it. To that you get used. Also in hotels
all dine together, the working man and the swell. To us English it 1s wonderful
how civil all Yankees are, nothing could be too good for us. They opened doors
for us, carried our bags, and never took a ‘tip’ during our travels; but there the
English, as a rule, carry revolvers and now and then use them, which creates
respect.” An lowa paper, picking up on this story, commented: “Is this fellow a
saphead, or is he only trying to come Mark Twain on his English friends?™
Still, carried away by the idea of being in the West, a few Close colonists
dressed in pointy-toed boots, cowboy hats, and wore guns at the hips to dram-
atize life for themselves and friends.

Near the end of his life, William looked back on this period: "1 was young
and 1 did not know what I was doing, for although we had some splendid
fellows join us, yet a number of parents seized the opportunity of loading on to
us sons and relatives that were an embarrassment to them here, and who never
would make good, so we had our hands full, as you may imagine e

One such black sheep in the Close Colony was James Reginald Nash
Young Nash, a student in St. John’s College, Cambridge, was sentenced to one
month in prison for perjury at a Cambridge Assizes. He had sworn before the
magistrate that he was not in Jesus Lane at the ume of a “rag” after the
Newmarket races, April 1880, when in fact he had been. After Nash was
released from prison, he was too much disgraced to have around, so his family
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shipped him off to lowa. There he seems to have been a subdued member of
the colony, not a party to some of the high jinks that went on.’

In mid-May 1880 a Le Mars citizen and his wife were out driving when
suddenly their team bolted, frightened by a drunken English youth. The
driver, a cripple, was thrown from his carriage. Later the Close Brothers’ office
wrote the Liberal, denying the truth of the published account, only to have the
complaint pounced upon with relish by Editor Leidy: “We do not. . . hold the
Close Brothers responsible. . .. We do feel that our people have been outraged

s; we do wish that
somebody could be held responsible for them. .. ."” The editor drew a contrast
between these brash youngsters and the sober, responsible Britons with fami-
lies who had recently bought farms. “Indeed, we know thart the better classes

by the drunkenness and rudeness of some of these new arriva

are as greatly incensed at the indecent manifestations of the ‘bloods’ as are our
own people, and they are as anxious as are we to have it stopped.” There would
be serious trouble unless something were done soon, for other incidents of a
similar nature were constantly occurring. It was ridiculous ot Close Brothers to
object to newspaper coverage; “we will continue running our paper as SUILS
us likewise hoping that there will never be other occasions for us to make
mention of the bad actions of Englishmen on our soil.™

Frontier journalism thrived on controversy, and although Leidy knew that
the influx of wealthy Britons was good for regional development, he could not
resist stirring things up, particularly since prohibition sentiment was quite
strong and the British tended to be drinkers. An unidentfied correspondent to
the Liberal (probably the editor himself) asked if something couldn’t be done
“to abate that miserable nuisance styled the ‘House of Lords’. . . .Last Sunday
while passing from church, I counted no less than twelve drunken young men
standing in front of that shebang, and the door being opened I thought I saw a
number of women inside jerking drinks for the ungodly loaters who were
reveling there. Cannot this be stopped? Will not the respectable, Chrstian
men of Le Mars combine to rout this last infamous place?™

To which Editor Leidy replied: “To gut the place, as our friend suggests, 1s
out of the question,” but its collapse should come about because of “its fla-
grant violation of all law and all decency” Unfortunately, no “decent Christian
men” of the town seemed ready to do anything. Should they identity them-
selves as being against liquor, it would harm their businesses, as Mr. Leidy
knew, because he had been taken to task by reporting “the drunken sprees of

the silly English lads who have come over here to get from under paternal
restraint.’ News of the presence in lowa of rich young “lords” also brought
wantonly dressed women to Le Mars, who strolled the streets and frequented
the House of Lords, the House of Commons, and Windsor Castle, the most
popular Briish hangouts.®

The Field's correspondent had a far different impression of the House of
Lords during his visit in 1881. He found the establishment “one of the most
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respectably conducted and cleanest of the public-houses, kept by Fred Barrow,
an Englishman. Here one can get little luncheons and suppers, and drink —
good Bass and Guinness out of old-time pewter. After 11 pm. the House of
Lotds closes its doors to everybody; and Mr. Close himself, if belated and
thirsty would of a certainty be refused a drink after that hour”

The trouble between the Lzberal and the young Britons continued, and on

June 1880 four of them visited the newspaper office and demanded any
apology for the attacks on the British colonists in previous issues. “The editor
kindly but firmly refused to make any apology.” reported Leidy, “when these
blackguards began threatening, swearing that they would ‘bust his bloody
blarsted head’ if he did not take back what had been published.” He would
take nothing back, and the four visitors left “muttering deep curses upon
Yankees and Yankee newspapers. One of the quartet whose yawp was of greater
dimensions than the others declared that if the Libera/ was printed in
Hengland it would be suppressed,” to which the editor commented that he was
thankful to be in free America. He would continue to speak out, “the inhibi-
tion of these drunken thugs to the contrary notwithstanding. If the
Englishmen who came over here to take advantage of our cheap lands will
conduct themselves decently, we certainly will have nothing but good words for
them: but such as intruded themselves upon us Monday morning we will hold
up to the public censure at all times.”

As soon as this retort appeared in the Liberal, “the Englishmen held a
council of war” and decided to punish Leidy. “As we hear it,” said the Szoux
City Journal, “five of the especially aggrieved drew lots to see who should
inflict the chastisement, and that duty fell upon J. Wakefield, Esq” Jack
Wakefield, twenty-two, was the son of a country squire of Sedgwick House,
Kendal: his mother was an American, daughter of James Haggerty, at one
time U.S. Consul in Liverpool. Educated at Eton and a graduate of Jesus
College, Cambridge, Wakefield had already been in several escapades. On one
occasion the proctor at Jesus caught him “at a wine in Malcolm Street” and he
was fined: a few years later Wakefield again encountered this proctor—now a
clergyman —who had just invested in 1,300 acres of the Close Colony.®

Wakefield and his three companions, armed with a horsewhip, accosted
Leidy on his way to the post office, which was located in a drug store. Iwo of
the Englishmen grabbed Leidy as Wakefield was about to “apply the butt end
of a carriage whip” when the druggist himself came to the rescue of the hapless
Leidy, and so attention suddenly was turned “to the man of pills,” who 1n turn
had to be rescued by his partner, another druggist. In the scuffle Leidy
managed to escape into the rear of the store, “and when Wakefield not to be
balked of his vengeance, rushed after him, he ran afoul of a bunch of fives ot a
stalwart butcher. which caused him to see more stars than there are in the star
spangled banner. . . . Wakefield received the clip just behind the left ear”” The
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druggist’s partner was also “somewhat hurt in the scrimmage,” receiving a
bruised shoulder and a jammed hip.

The Sioux City Journal, under the heading “War Between the Races,”
declared that these young men “may be ‘gentlemen’s sons’ in England,” but
here they seemed “more like ‘Baltimore roughs’ or ‘New York rats’ " The
trouble arose because they “have plenty of money, a superabundance of animal
spirits, and being thousands of miles away from home and among strangers, go
in for what with them constitutes a ‘good time.. . . They accept as a literal fact
that this is the ‘land of the free’...” And while Leidy may have exacerbated
the situation, the latest affair further damaged the British immigrants’ reputa-
tion, “and I fear that a repetition of today's occurrence would end only 1n a
young Bunker Hill'™”

The battle involved not only a clash between citizens of two nations — two
“races” in the newspaper's term — but a contest as to what kind of settler should
develop this part of the country. The chauvinistic, self-conscious settlers who
were already in residence —some of them only recently from Europe —accepted
being an American as enthusiastically as they embraced its future. They re-
sented the insistent Englishness of the Close Colony, for it seemed to imply
that the United States was not an amalgamation of all sorts of “races” and
cultures but that one group intended to make it an outpost of zherr civiliza-
ton.

The Stoux City Journal, in recounting the troubles at Le Mars, reterred to
the English as “guests” on American soil and as such they would do well to
respect their hosts. They were not to presume to make the locality into a replica
of England. Earlier that year the Sz. Pau/ Press, the largest, most influential
daily in the upper Middle West, launched an attack upon the concept of the
Close Colony, particularly the premise that only those individuals possessing at
least £500 to £1,000 ($2,500 to $5.000) could join. This was not regarded as
the American way; immigration should be open to all who were healthy,
willing, and eager to strive for a better position in life. Anything other sug-
gested a class system of the sort America could well do without. “If the Close
Brothers were to use as much influence toward obtaining some of the laboring
class from the manufacturing districts of England, or from some of the suf-
fering counties of Ireland, they would bestow a greater blessing on the north-
west than they do by bringing over capitalists, for capital can live anywhere”
but manpower was what the upper Middle West needed to develop its poten-
tial .'°

To some observers the callow Britons displayed an appalling ignorance of
farming matters and did not seem of the stuff to learn. The very fact that they
were public school and university educated meant that hauling manure, milk-
ing cows, feeding hogs, and laboring in the fields ill-suited them. Such occu-
pations were best left to the half-illiterate peasants who traditionally worked
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the land, because that was all they knew how to do or could ever learn. Jack
Wakefield might be the son of respected gentry, but he did not appear likely to
make a go of Iowa farming. He didn’t take it seriously. On one occasion,
playing the role of true Wild West man, he rode his pony directly into the
House of Lords and ordered his drink from the bar without dismounting. ™

With such strident displays, a certain amount of answering was bound to
be forthcoming from the local “American” boys. The newspapers enjoyed re-
porting these dustups.

A young Englishman and a couple of chaps from the country got up a
good sized show on Tuesday afternoon. They had all been taking budge
promiscuously, when one of the country lads thought to make it interest-
ing by giving the Englishman a clip behind the lug, which he proceeded to
do. and then lit out at a 2:40 gait. The Englishman followed to the street,
but got hold of the other chap and warmed his ears with a pair of beer
mugs. Then there was a flight to a saloon and a three-cornered bombard-
ment of beer glasses and knuckles ensued, after which there was another
retreat, and the pale air was streaked with cuss-words, while the claret
flowed freely down the necks of the combatants. No arrests.**

Often the fun involved merely laughing at an out-of-place young green-
horn, with his inappropriate airs of dignity, mocking him in a fashion Anthony
Trollope caught when he visited America: “that republican roughness which so
often operates upon a poor, well-intended Englishman like a slap on the
cheek ' One such incident of ridicule occurred to H. C. Chrisuan, a pup on
Captain Robinson’s farm near present-day Akron, lowa. He went duck hunting
on the Dakota side of the Big Sioux River with the Captain’s $300 team and
spring wagon. Since the ferryman wasn't around when Christian returned to
the river, he drove his team aboard and ferried himself across to the lowa side.
But he forgot to put up the gate of the ferryboat. When the craft touched
shore the team backed off the deck —into the river. Christian hung onto the
harness and went in with the horses. He managed not to drown, however. Next
morning the bodies of the horses were found down river and the wagon was
broken beyond repair; a valuable gun was lost. Such stupidity! How could such
a feckless youth make anything of himself here? Yet Christian learned farming,
became naturalized, and lived in Iowa the rest of his life.'* But restless, wild,
young Wakefield returned to England for the winter of 1881-1882 and was
almost lost at sea in a bad storm on his return to the Close Colony. Finally.
toward the end of the decade, he emigrated to New Zealand, where he died in
1896.

The best antidote to idle mischief was a large assignment of work, for
there was no end to the amount of energy one could expend in agricultural
labor. Walter Cowan from his newly purchased farm wrote his mother that he
and his brother “have had to work like niggers. We are out at about 5 A. M. and
don’t sit down to supper till 9 and you may imagine after that we feel hardly in
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a fit mood for letter writing.”** But some of the gentlemen’s sons in the colony
got up parties to go bear hunting in Wisconsin, took fishing trips to Minne-
sota, or simply went on extended sightseeing excursions throughout the United
States. In winter, if they did not return to England, they found life in various
southern regions more congenial. Who was to stop them? For the most part
they were in control of some funds and far from parental eyes. Tuition had
been paid, and it bought them their freedom.

A far different type of local British pioneering was also true at that tume.
Col. James Fenton, forty-five years old, son of a banker from Rochdale (near
Manchester) who was also a member of Parliament, brought a little needed
respectability to the colony. Fenton had worked in his father's bank from age
eighteen, rising to a partner in the firm, but in midlife he sought a different
career in another part of the world. His interest in emigrating to America
developed out of a trip to compete in an international rifle-shooting match at
Creedmore, Long Island, in 1877. He bought 1,000 acres about a dozen miles
east of Le Mars; and while the younger children were educated locally, the
older ones were placed in boarding schools, following the usual practice of
British colonials.

The roomy house and outbuildings of Colonel Fenton’s “Carlton Stock
Farm” were on a slight rise at the bend of a creek which ran clear and steady
year-round —a good auxiliary water supply, should the wells run dry. Fenton,
like other Britons, chose a spot for his buildings with an eye for esthetic
considerations as well as practical ones. He planted 14 acres of trees, which
included a sizeable orchard, erected a windmill, and built a tank capable of
holding 2,000 barrels of water. His principal barn, which is stll standing, was
constructed on a hill slope, so that a grist mill could be installed on the lower
level. Teams hauling wagons entered the barn from the hillside; the grain was
dumped into the mill below, where oxen in yoke turned the mill wheel.

By 1881 Fenton’s holdings included 200 cattle, 24 horses, and 320 hogs.
He began advertising “always on sale, high-grade Durhams” and registered
Herefords. Fenton’s fields were planted in small grains (wheat, oats, barley)
and corn. Mrs. Fenton entered the annual agrcultural fair with garden and
dairy produce and was particularly known for her prize-winning butter, the
first British dairy products on the local market. The Fentons were too old and
settled to be part of the sports and night life of the colony, but Colonel Fenton
was a member of the Prairie Club in Le Mars, where he might meet his
countrymen, and they worshipped at St. George's Episcopal Church in Le
Mars. Otherwise, they lived a rural life largely self-contained, with interchange
among the neighbors mostly confined to cooperative crop gathering and other
harvest work,'®

Only ten miles south of Carlton Stock Farm, on the West Fork of the Little
Sioux River, the Close properties were being rapidly developed and were re-
ferred to locally as the “upper” and “lower” Close farms. These homesteads
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were ~|1l{‘i|slini11 situated below a roll of land. with fine southern. southeastern.

and southwestern CXPOSUres and were somewhat Prote« ted from the }ﬁr:fk.ilhrz;:
winter northwest winds. Fred and James's farm (the upper) was owned jointly
at first, but upon Fred's marriage their property was divided. Fred's chiet barn
15 still one of the biggest outbuildings in the area, ample for housing cattle
below and storing hay above. The three-story frame dwelling (later destroyed

by fire) had a tull attic and a veranda on three sides. From a rocking chair on

this porch one had a fine view of the West Fork valley. Fred always relished
domestic comforts, and his house was equipped with water on cach floor, a
bathtub, indoor toilets, and well-proportioned rooms with fine woodwork and
tlooring. In 1880 Fred and James were teeding 800 Hhtw:p on their 960-acre
farm, plus 200 each of Berkshire and Poland-China hogs. Since cattle and
sheep were the leading livestock on Briush tarms at the time, most settlers
started with them, bur Fred soon realized the possibilities of profit in hogs
Furthermore, much to the surprise of Close Colony settlers, the local popula-
tion did not eat beef or mutton. Whar meat they ate was strictly pork or
poultry, the pork chietly salt pork

William's 2,000-acre farm, lying to the southwest ot his brothers' place
was managed by Roylance Court, and in 1880 the animal population consisted
of 2 000 shee P
cattle. A newspaper reported that the Closes were “constantly adding to their

‘eraded 1n trom thoroughbred Cotswolds™ and 1,000 shorthorn

possessions, and bringing the wealth and brawn of merrie England to this

;_‘J[-if'i.': SPOi of the west Iwo n}u':_'p cotes. each 100 teet ]-rrnj_ }JJ'-J[ been built
on William's farm and seven pups helped with the work

With their farms flourishing, the Closes platted a town named Quorn
which they expected would attract the Chicago and North Western Ratlroad
then building from the east toward Sioux City and directly on the proposed
route. Quorn was named after the well-known fox hunt based in Melton
Mowbray, a market town of the Soar valley near Quorndon, Leicestershire. The
purpose of establishing a town near the Close ranches was to provide a com-
mercial center apart from the residences and buildings on the Close lands.'’

['he overseer’s house and granary became the nucleus of Quorn, and the
Closes leased a site for a mill on the West Fork to J. ]J. Heacock, of English
ontgins, who had a successful milling operation 1n eastern lowa, near ( edar
Rapids. "He decided to move his mill to the wheat fields.” his daughter re
called. “so he loaded the machinery and even the hand-hewn tumbers onto a
[I¢ !ri|[ Ccal JT111 xt||;*i1tii It 1O the closest f.ll’Ilhiii [11u115 dl that ume From
there 1t was hauled by teams to Quorn I'hey worked all that fall and winter
putting in the dam and building a small frame building. But it was ready fot
the wheat crop of 1882, which was made into tlour on these Buhrs A
[wo years after its 1880 founding, Quorn boasted seven stores, one sa-

Lm:l d |-J,u F,\|1|1[]| xhn|1 .1rhf \I‘."'.L'[.I| ‘.*.mni:'r'l }!E‘HI.L"\ l]!‘*JHH_LI l‘b!t"ak\ wCIe |u‘lai

out. thoroughfares that were merely dusty or mud roads, with First Street at
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the river near the mill; then Second Street—there never was a Third; and
lateral cross streets named Britain, Main, and Elkhorn. One of the two hotels
operating in 1880 was erected by the Closes; they kept the downstairs rooms
for Close Brothers business. Known as the Ranch, the inn had three upstairs
rooms for guests, and the proprietor could provide food. Such an establish-
ment was convenient for putting up prospective land buyers or visitors who
travelled to Quorn to see a pup or call on the Close farms. The Ranch was
restored to its original look by Kingsley, Towa, historical groups in time for the
celebration of the nation’s bicentennial."”

With the founding of this British town, yeomen from Great Britain and
elsewhere in the United States were drawn there to settle and ply their trades.
Among these were the Maxwell brothers, both of whom found immediate
employment on the Close farms. “Fred had a large place with quite a few
pups.’ T. J. Maxwell recalled, “and the boys from Quorn would go down there
for parties—strictly stag parties. Will's house was a bachelor establishment,
and the pups didn’t get much to eat if they went down there. Called his place
‘the poorhouse.” "

In Quorn the pups eagerly awaited mail from overseas. The mail carrier
would stop on his trips to larger towns nearby. Mail addressed to anyone in the
area was dumped into a bin and would-be recipients had to paw around until
they found their own letters. Before stores were established in Quorn, Fred
Close would arrange for an empty wagon to set out for Le Mars periodically and
return loaded with provisions, which the Closes in turn sold to the settlers.
“Not for profit—just a service,” said Maxwell, “to keep things going”

Maxwell remembered some of the jokes played on newly arrived pups.
Once a fresh lad was thoroughly teased and tried — his obvious ignorance about
farming a laughing martter for everyone. They even put him on a horse—
saddle backwards. He didn’t know what was wrong because he had never seen a
western saddle before, with its high pommel; consequently, he took a rterrific
pounding in his rear, much to the delight of onlookers. Another time they sent
him off to get “a half-round square.” He rode all the way to Le Mars, eighteen
miles, and when he returned, was furious: “You're no gentlemen! You're no
gentlemen at all! There’s no such thing as a half-round square!”

Hanging about the Heacock mill became a favorite pastime for the local
working-class British. They could see friends, exchange gossip, and watch the
horses Cub and Barney hauling wagons in and out. One of Maxwell’s friends
was shooting pigeons in the mill rafters one day, but his gun wasn’t function-
ing properly; it hung fire. He turned to Maxwell: “That’s the last time I'll ever
shoot this gun!” and stamped the stock of the gun on the ground. It went off,
shooting him through the chest, killing him.

Disasters and entertainments went hand in hand in typical fronuer
fashion. One British field hand was struck by lightning in July 1881. A doctor
from Le Mars attended his wounds, spending four hours a day twice a week
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making the trip to Quorn during the next four months. The young man had
no money, but the doctor presented no bill; however, the patient did not
improve. Better medical aid was available elsewhere for a price, and the physi-
cian decided to help raise that money by giving a lecture, “The Anatomical
Structure of Man,” with the patient as the exhibit, all proceeds to go to him. It
was a sensation. “The second lecture was delivered at the Quorn school house
last Saturday evening, which indeed was a grand success, the room being
packed to the utmost capacity. After the lecture ended, the doctor parually
undressed the wounds and unfolded a hideous sight, which, after five months
of healing, was too much for some of his audience to look upon.” Contribu-
tions flowed in, the doctor himself contributing $40.00. Some only gave half a
dollar. but a total of $84.50 was raised. Maxwell reported the young man
recovered but was “horribly scarred.”*'

THE spirited young pups and the married.
more settled colonists could all get together in one joyous, highly approved
activity —sports. Interest in sporting events had been steadily growing in
England from the mid 1850s and reached a kind of sports fever pitch in the
1880s. The Oxford/Cambridge cricket match in 1883 attracted a crowd of
46,000 spectators, still the record for that event.?? The Close Colony Britons
displayed signs of this sports mania and none more clearly than Fred Close,
who seemed to be good at anything having to do with athletic prowess. He
astonished the natives by his speed on horseback with which he traversed the
distance from his West Fork farm to the depot in Le Mars, testing his mount
and his ingenuity as a rider against the railroad tumetable

The colonists were spread over such a vast area in northwest lowa that only
those living near Le Mars and in the Quorn vicinity really saw much of one
another even casually, and then most likely at the Prairie Club, in a tavern, or
church. Sporting contests, which Fred Close promoted, helped alleviate the
“sickness of vision peculiar to these empty plains,” as Robert Louis Stevenson
expressed it in Across the Plains, for on the prairie a man "is in the midst of the
same great level . . . one quarter of the universe laid bare in all its gauntness.*’
s isolation and made him part of a

Sports events dissolved the individua
group. Rowing, in which William, James, and John all exc elled, was never
prominent in the colony because there wasn't much water around; instead,
field sports—rugby, cricket, track, and horse racing. A member of the All
England Eleven cricket team was a colonist, and many other local athletes had
won laurels in public school or university contests.

The first Le Mars Derby took place on Saturday, 15 May 1880. Since
William had arrived from England only three weeks before, most of the plan-

ning was done by Fred and James, who put up fifty dollars and a silver tankard

for the Le Mars Cup. The improvised setting for the races was a hill upon which
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a house would soon be built, where for this occasion hundreds of spectators
could gather. The divots caused by the horses’ hooves and the trampled grass
could easily be repaired. The local press, before the Derby, tried to describe a
typical English race scene so on-lookers would understand why certain young
gentlemen had been seen in trial heats on country roads wearing bright-col-
ored silk shirts. Since the races were potenually dangerous to the participants,
the reporter hoped a physician would be on hand to set broken limbs or bind
up cracked heads. Only two of the scheduled races were open to Americans;
despite urging from the press for American entries in these contests, nobody
competed against the British. However, one race was exclusively American: the
Hail Columbia Stakes.*

The Le Mars races brought virtually all the Briush settlers in the area
together for the first time. “The blue sky, flecked with white clouds, the
beautiful green grass just long enough to wave and bend to the grateful
breeze, the brilliant sunshine, the animated concourse of sightseers,” among
them many women in handsome costumes, all contributed to the festivity. The
first race, the thirty-dollar West Fork Plate with four contestants, was won by
Constantine Benson's bay gelding Petrarch. Benson rode his own horse and
showed skill in bringing him to the front in the home stretch, beating out
James Close’s mare Cora by six lengths. Next came the mile and one-half tlat
race for ponies under fourteen hands high. The first prize, fifteen dollars, was
won by Jack Wakefield's mare Maud, ridden by Alfred Shaw; Benson's pony
came 1n second. William Close’s mare Little Wonder, ridden by his cousin
) Willie Gaskell, beat out Gerald Garnett on his Nellie. The race for the Le Mars
Cup, one mile over five flights of hurdles, “the great event of the day,” was
entered by six and won by Benson on Petrarch, described as “a clean-limbed
animal of great promise and comes nearer to the appearance ot an English race
horse than anything we remember to have seen around this section.” [This
observation was made by Editor Leidy, as if there had been anything but
Indian cow ponies in “this section” before.] Fred Close entered the race but was
thrown at the first hurdle; however, horse and rider resumed the contest and
finished the course, to a round of applause for pluck. But Fred, 1t was learned
later, had fractured his collar bone and was in great pain. Another accident
occurred after the races were officially over: Jack Eller, “while leaping his horse
over a hurdle. . . was thrown and kicked and lay for some time unconscious.”**

Some spcectators who had never seen [}n_lf-{:'*_;s.jmml horse rac ing nhjr_‘ﬂﬁ{ to
how quickly “the fun was over” and longed for more trial heats. The prohibi-
tonists decried the excessive amount of drinking, two bars dispensing refresh-
ments; other godly citizens deplored the reckless betting actvity, although
Editor Leidy observed that the “book-maker with his garments of motley and
his hoarse cries of ‘three to one bar one! ‘two to one on the field, etc..” had not
yet made it to Le Mars. The day’s festivities appropriately ended with “a grand
ball” according to journalist Poultney Bigelow in Harper's. “The event was a
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prand success, and partners were brought even from St. Paul, 270 miles to the
north, to grace T_ilf‘ OCCasion ths

[t was an extraordinary day for a small town on the frontier. The expendi-
ture of human energy 1n sports, when It was so badly needed just to make a
living. seemed extravagant. The high price of race horses, which had no agri-
cultural use, flaunted the precarious economic realities of pioneering. The
amount of time these British settlers were willing to devote to athletic contests
appeared to be incongruous with their true purposes as immigrants. All quite
baffling to outsiders, who could not perceive how sports helped unity the
colony and lift the spirits of the participants. Many local settlers came to watch
the races and bet on horses, but why this show was happening remained a
puzzle, for they were not familiar enough with the marks of the gentleman
class — not just a matter of having money and leisure — but an attitude toward
life 1tself. However, did it go with lowa farming’ Few in the Close Colony

would ever ask that question
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HILE the Close Colony was beginning to
flourish, another transplantation of Britons

was underway at Rugby, Tennessee, under the

o~ ¢

Y/ guidance of Thomas Hughes, author of Tom

7 0 Brown's School Days. Hughes and his backers

; in the English Emigration Association bought
75.000 acres in the Cumberland highlands of eastern Tennessee near the south-
ern Kentucky border. The new town, Rugby, was eight miles from a railroad
depot, the chief means of transporting goods and maintaining communication
with the outside world. The land was largely forested and full of game, the
winters usually short and mild. Hotel, sawmill, and a store were already built
by the time Hughes officially opened his colony in October 1880. Since the
terrain was deemed ideal for fruit culture, homesteads of 40 and 50 acres were
platted, the emigrant paying 25 percent down, the remainder due in install-
ments over three years. The company, which expected a reasonable return on
its investment. took responsibility for erecting church, town hall, and other
necessary public buildings; the settlers would lay out a cricket ground, create
parks and gardens.'

American newspapers warned Rugby colonists that it would take hard
work to clear the forest and till the virgin soil, that farming was unlike what
they might have been used to; the sooner they forgot they had once been
gentlemen, the better. As other ethnic or religious groups setting up colonies
had already found out, the confines of a transplanted culture might offer an
immigrant the illusion of a safe, familiar world, but eventual assimilation was
only thereby delayed. And the children of colonists would feel themselves to
be American, no matter what barriers or bulwarks were erected to isolate them

Mindful of these criticisms, Hughes in his opening-day remarks cited the
similarity of principles and modes of life that formed the essential bond and
explained that Rugby Colony was not a communist society or interested in
experimenting in new ways of handling private property or family life. If
anything, Rugby would offer a new perspective on the evils of materialistic
possessions. Colonists would have in common a reverence for the beauty of this
piece of Tennessee, a feeling that it must be nurtured, brought to flower in an
intelligent fashion, not despoiled for the sake of personal or collective for-
tunes. Long before most Americans (except authors like Thoreau and Emerson)
were overly concerned about the rape of their land, Hughes was another
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Englishman who noted the scars of industrialism that increasingly despoiled
nature. The journalist “Bull Run” Russell, accompanying the Duke of
Sutherland on his American trip in 1881, was shown in St. Paul, Minnesota, a
library, an opera house, a university, churches, and handsome homes. “The
Mississippi groans under the masses of tumber and innumerable keels. How
much to admire! What energy! What enterprise! But how nature suftered from
it all! The Falls of St. Anthony turned into the overtlow of a canal lock! The
great river converted into a sewer laden with manure and sawdust! The lovely
landscape detaced by hideous mills, elevators, factories! How the poets should
rage, and the plutocrats rejoice!”” Hughes did not want his colony to ruin the
land. “We can add little, perhaps, to its natural beauty, but at least we can be
careful to spoil it as little as possible”

In reaching for a theme for his colony, Hughes suggested the satistaction a
group might experience by being welded together in a higher esthetic and
moral purpose than might otherwise prevail, were they to live scattered and
separate. The buildings therefore “should be the expression in timber, brick,
and stone of the thought of men and women as to the external conditions
under which folk should live”? Cornelius Onderdonk, a master builder from
New York, constructed Hughes's home, Kingstone Lisle, which sull stands—a
board-and-batten Queen Anne cottage with dormer windows and gingerbread
trim.

The primary rule was no liquor, not even in private houses. Ordinary
wants such as food and shelter— “These must all be provided here, either by
each of us for himself or by some common machinery. Well, we believe that it
can be done best by a common machinery, in which we should like to see
everyone take a hand.” Freedom to worship would be a matter of course —in
one church building all denominations were to use. Christ Church, fully re-
stored today, i1s wooden with Victorian-Gothic embellishments, a steeply
pitched roof, and bell spire.*

Rugby Colony was committed to restricting the overpredominance of
trade and the trading instinct, which demeaned the human spirit, although it
had also been a “potent civilizer of mankind, but only so far and so long as 1t
has been kept in its place as a servant.” In Rugby the tyranny of commercialism
was never to be allowed to take hold. Such a stricture was ridiculed by the Fre/d
one year later: “In Tennessee no one very much expected a success, which 1n
every new state and country 1s very difficult of attainment, but which 1n Ten-
nessee was rigidly guarded against by the selection of a colonial site with the
avowed object of preventing any new arrivals being demoralised, like so many
persons nowadays, through a too-rapid and unhealthy influx of wealth.™

Hughes said his aim was “to plant on these highlands a community of

gentlemen and ladies; not that artificial class which goes by those grand
names, both in Europe and here — the joint product of feudalism and wealth —
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but a society in which the humblest members, who live. . . by the labor of their
own hands. will be of such strain and culture that they shall be able to meet
Princes in the gate without embarrassment and without self-assertion, should
any such strange persons ever present themselves before the gate-tower of
Rugby in the New World ™

The Closes harbored no such high-flown sentiments about the dangers of
trading or the unworthiness of “that artificial class” —ladies and gentlemen.
Both Fred and William relished the intricate maneuverings of a bargaining
session and found nothing déclassé about it. William in his “Prairie Journal”
described how Fred “got his pocket picked of all his spare cash in Chicago,
where he had to lay over for an afternoon, but his smart trading qualiues came
to the fore. . . .” Fred had bought a gold watch at an auction for $11, and after
paying his hotel bill and buying his train ticket, discovered on board that he
had been robbed. “He grew hungry at last, and bethought himself of his newly
acquired watch, so speaking rather loud, he broaches the subject to his
neighbour. ‘Don’t you wish to buy a gold watch? I am obliged to sell it, as I
have had my pockets picked, and I must get something to eat” ” Soon a crowd
gathered around, asking how much he wanted; “ ‘why, I should say $100, but |
have to get some money, and I am willing to let it go at half that” ™ He was
offered $15; he “put on a face of virtuous indignation and turned away from
the bidder, who raised his price to $20.” Fred asked for $30, just as the train
drew up to the stop for supper, and the bidder kept offering $20 but Fred
remained in his seat. Finally, on the platform of the car, just as Fred was about
to rush forward and accept the $20, the man turned and said, * ‘T'll give you
$25 for that ticker of yours” " Both Closes had from early childhood witnessed
bargaining in Naples, though William thought the Americans were even more
addicted to it than Neapolitans. In Denison Fred quickly “got a great reputa-
tion for his trading qualities” He always managed to buy hay cheaper than
others and was willing to lose a deal rather than give in on price. Once a trade
on twenty-five cattle fell through because of a difference of $12, which Fred
would not agree to pay.

Fred was not always on the triumphant end of a trade. As William put it,
even “the smartest of the ‘traders’ gets done sometimes. . . . A neighbour of
ours had a very good nag, and wishing to drive him close up to the tence, the
horse plunged forward on to the fence and drove a stake into his shoulder. He
came to us in a great state of mind on account of his misfortune, and Fred went
to look at the poor animal” He bought the horse for $10, thinking the stake
had only gone in a little way. “When the stake was pulled out 1t was found to
have penetrated two feet, six inches. Fred sold the hide for $1.

While Thomas Hughes thought Rugby should de-emphasize trading and
paid no attention to feudal notions regarding bluebloods and the ranking of
gentlemen, the Closes managed to present the life of trading as sharp good
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fun —and aristocratic settlers as just the sort of people one would wish to have
around. Being in a colony where the smartest were —even in such an unlikely
location as northwest lowa— was all that mattered.

When these British arrived at the Le Mars depot, onlookers were as-
tonished, for it “confounded all our knowledge and established traditions of
immigrants, for immigrants they are” They were well-dressed, bursting with
good health; their children were clean, attended by nannies, “and nowhere
among young or old is there a hint of travel-stained weariness or poverty.” The
baggage platform on these occasions was soon piled high with huge steamer
trunks, leather suitcases, japanned boxes, furniture —which might include a
high-backed tin bathtub or piano—“unul a miniature mountain has been

37

built on the platform.

DURING the summer of 1880, between trips
to Quincy to see his fiancée, William furthered many plans he had originated
in England. With Constantine Benson now an active partner in Iowa, the firm
was poised for a major business thrust. William and Benson were invited to St.
Paul by an Oxford graduate and acquaintance of William, E. E Drake, who
entertained them in his home and discussed a business deal that would have a
tremendous impact on the future of Close Brothers. This railroad had already
made available to the firm a great deal of land at a low rate. These new
negotiations were intended to formalize the arrangement. William feared be-
ing tarred with the reputation of too close association with the railroads, but by
now the firm was known for its integrity. That Drake was an Englishman and
very much of their world no doubt helped cement the agreement. Willtam was
aware that much of the available prairie was owned by the railroads; to acquire
it for resale. Close Brothers had to come to terms with this source. The pact was
made. Effective April 1881 Close Brothers became sole agents for the disposi-
tion of the remaining Sioux City and St. Paul land. In the next few years the
company would sell 96,000 acres acquired through this ratlroad.®

William continued to maintain a keen interest in his stock farm at Quorn,
managed by the fun-loving Roylance Court. He was 2a good overseer of new
pups and participated in lease negotations. However, even to this partner and
friend. William did not disclose his exact marital plans. On 3 September 1880
Court wrote to William from the Sioux City offices of their legal advisor that he
would be sending along an agreement for approval and suggestions, “but do
not post them ##// the 11th, as I may come to talk them over.” Court thought he
might be able to arrive in Quincy within nine days—but the very next day
William and Mary were married in Geneva, New York, with Herbert and Ada
Paullin. as witnesses. From Geneva the newlyweds (and the two Paullins) pro-
ceeded to New York City and embarked for England, where they would live-
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mainly in a London hotel —until the following year, when William and Mary
returned to lowa.

Ada Paullin was to become part of the William Close household through-
out the course of the ten-year marriage —and beyond. Herbert needed to be
placed with a good tutor to prepare him for Cambridge. On 26 October a vicar
wrote William: “Our mutual friend, Captain Chapman, told me today that
you are looking out for some clergyman to take charge of a young brother-in-
law. I think it just possible that I might be of some aid to you in the
matter. .. ." William financed Herbert's schooling at the rate of eight guineas
($42.00) a month

Once settled, William picked up on matters left pending following his
sudden departure in spring. More publicity about the colony must be
forthcoming. He got Constantine Benson's brother Robert to write a piece for
Macmillan's, and he may have been behind the articles in Harper'’s, the Field,
and the cartoon in Punch. Benson developed themes William had touched on
in his brochure, particularly that the two chiet problems facing a country
squire in those days was how to make a profit on his land holdings and provide
for younger sons— both could be solved in Iowa. Historically, “since the world
began.” populations had been moving westward and ownership of land had
provided the basis for wealth. “So far the colony has had nothing but success,
Benson wrote. One did have to endure the lack of good servants; and there
were few amenities—one couldn’t have shoes blackened by setting them out-
side the door at night in an inn or household. Beds in hotels might be only
twenty-five cents, but perhaps a two-to-a-bed proposition, and Americans of-
ten “do not wash.” He felt the apprentice-pupil system was working “much
better than could have been expected considering that many of the new-
comers came out with somewhat extravagant notions, and were as ignorant of
how to hold their own in matters of business as they were of practical farming.”
Climate extremes made some settlers uncomfortable, but surely all would
agree that fresh air and regular exercise was healthy for any spirited youth, and
there was much companionship to be found in sports. “The absence ol good
turf is the only thing which so far has prevented much progress being made
with cricket and football” This matter-of-fact consideration of a young gentle-
man's interests suggested the upper-class tone of the colony. The immediate
attention to games proved that the picnic air prevailed. Even in Rugby, this
aspect was attended to at once, with a challenge for a cricket match issued to
Cincinnati soon after Rugby Colony was founded. Benson painted a pretty
picture of lowa life, describing the pleasure of riding the lowa prairie “through
lanes of flowers”” All manner of birds, fish, and small game abounded, making
the country ideal for huntng and fishing enthusiasts

Benson concluded that the economic prospects looked equally promising:

land values kept rising and returns for crops and livestock were running high
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“Labour 1s plentiful, and it is not worth while for anyone who cannot com-
mand some capital to attempt to make a start in lowa.” This remark repeated
William’s pamphlet message: the colony was for capitalists, not laborers. In
truth, there were few hired hands available for steady employment. A man
usually worked only long enough to accumulate sufficient money to strike out
on his own. This made for very uncertain labor during crucial harvest seasons
and a constantly shifting population. In Cherokee, lowa, near the Paullin
farms, statistics of the period show that the number of men who arrived, then
left, over a five-year span equalled the total number of men remaining.™

For the most part, Benson struck the note William wanted emphasized
most: good land was going fast and anyone interested should not delay. By the
time the piece appeared in May 1881, Benson could truthfully say that only
southeastern Minnesota really had cheap tracts left. With America destined to
become the granary of the world, he explained, crops grown in this region
would soon be shipped to all the major markets. A vast network of railroads
made transportation costs low and wheat was competitive with any grown
elsewhere in the world. The opportunity for investing money —and one’s life —
was unique

Since many of William’s relatives and friends succumbed to the lure,
investing money or sending sons out, when anything went wrong they were
quick to hold William personally responsible. His uncle, Thomas Brooks, be-
came increasingly alarmed by his son Sam’s long silence and was puzzled by
the boy's peculiar itinerary in America. Finally Sam sent a letter from St. Paul
'homas Brooks asked William what he made of the contents. "He says, ‘I have
met some very nice men from New York and we have been all around viewing
the public buildings and the city, our programme as follows: Morning — Visit
buildings, etc., Afternoon—Sleighing, Evening — Theatre & social chat” This
is all very well. but he has been a long time at St. Paul and is only loafing. Your
idea of getting a steady fellow to join him is very good, and one I have also
thought of —but will he consent? I am terribly anxious about him [
thought of writing to the hotel proprietors (he has been there a month) but I
don't know what sort they are in America. I cannot get him to write, and that’s
a bad sign. I wish I knew what to do.” William immediately wrote to James in
Le Mars, asking if anybody had heard news of Sam Brooks. On 14 November
James replied: “Sam Brooks much better but do not know what he is doing at
St. Paul”

Thomas Brooks appended a postscript: “So glad indeed Mary is better,
oive her my love. My wife is a little better. She has been very ill" Weak,

“poorly” wives were commonplace concerns of Victorian husbands. For Wil-
liam the problems of wayward sons and black sheep had been largely su-
perseded by Mary’s ill-health and unhappiness. Almost from the start there
appeared to have been marital difficulties. His intimate friends were becoming
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isolated from him because Mary refused to meet them. Bad health was the
convenient, catchall, socially acceptable explanation; it masked a multitude of
problems. Mary Mount Batten wrote William from Reading: “If I come up to
London for a day I shall for certain come to see you and my new cousin, but I'll
let you know beforehand, as I am aware how busy you are. When are you
coming to stay with us?” William's involvement with his Paullin in-laws may
have made the kind of country house touring his friends and relatives envi-
sioned quite impossible. He was gone on business trips frequently, to Cam-
bridge, Oxford, Manchester, and elsewhere, most of these undertaken alone —
his frail wife, meanwhile, attended by her devoted sister Ada.

William's relations with his brother John seemed mostly confined to busi-
ness, John merely noting, in one letter, “There is no chance of our getting to
London — many thanks for asking us" At William's request, John promised to
send a gun to young Herbert Paullin, though “it is rather difficult to know
what will suit him” John's wife Emily had no compunction about bringing up
the crucial subject of concern to the Close family: “l am so sorry I had such a
poor account of Mary, particularly as she was so anxious to be well in London to
be able to study” This reference is somewhat puzzling, since schooling was by
now some years behind her, but perhaps a course of study of some sort would
be therapeutic and bring her out of her slump. “I wish so much there was
something we could do to help her. You did 7oz enclose the letter from her
after all, so please send it by the next post and don't be so provoking again.
Had the intended letter been at the insistence of William but not torthcoming
from Mary? “We thought Mary looked so wonderfully better when she left us.
Don't you remember what a pretty colour she had? If you think the Manchester
air suits her, please pack her off at once & I promise her a hearty welcome and
no end of petting and nursing. Has she ever taken any ‘Fen de Bravais'? It 1s
the one strengthening medicine in which I have faith”

William's half-brother Henry also wrote in concern after learning that
Mary “(how strange it seems to call by her christian name one whom I have
never seen) is so unwell that she is obliged to remain in bed " He thought
the dirty, foggy London air might have something to do with it; perhaps the
box of game birds he sent “will tempt Mary to eat.” In this fashion the tamily
expressed sympathy but remained at one remove from William and his mys-
terious bride.

Business affairs proved more comfortable to discuss. Henry asked William
to please explain the fluctuating market in Reading Railroad shares and bonds,
reminding William that their uncle, Thomas Close, was also “heavily in them.”
Was it bona fide increased profit or only speculative pumping, a bubble that
would soon burst? While William's English associates regarded him as the
expert on everything American, those in lowa figured he could be of service at
home. The pups tended to see William as the prime intermediary in any
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troubles they might be having with their families. Young Alfred Shaw, whose
extravagant first trip out had caused his father to spread sour stories in Liver-
pool about Close Brothers was now back home for a visit and wrote William
from his father's manor, Arrowe Park, Berkenhead:

I should be much obliged if your firm in Le Mars could settle the
enclosed. 1 came away & thought I had near/y settled with everybody but
this most decidedly escaped my memory. . . . When will you be up near
here again & what do you think best for me to do when I go out again,
which will be ear/y in February? This is a frightful climate, I must say, after
[owa. [Shaw must have hoped the remark would strike a partcularly re-
sponsive chord, since criticism of the lowa climate was pretty constant, | |
have not seen your Pard [Roylance Court] yet, although I have been out
twice with the Cheshire hounds. My Old Governor has very kindly hired a
horse for me to hunt two days a week and has guzte made it up with me,
although we had rather a stormy interview one night, ‘burt all's well that
end’s well

The Shaw family was still upset over the Closes’ treatment of Alfred. Mrs.
Shaw felt her son should not have been charged for the expenses of Price, the
noted cricketer and son of a Cheshire pastor, who made the train trip to New
York with Alfred almost in the capacity of guard. Shaw had gotten himselt into
some kind of scrape, and Fred Close managed to cashier him out of the colony,
but they hoped to avoid spelling it out precisely. They would certainly not
welcome him back in early February. As for Price’s accompanying him to New
York, Alfred complained:

[Now 1 guite understood that he was going there on business officzally, 1n
which I think you will find I am nght. He had then to go on to
Boston . . . & then down to Tennessee. So I do not think it all fair to debit
me with this. There was not the /east necessity for him coming with me.
Fred told me before thar affair happened in Sioux City (don’t say anything
at home about this) that some one was going to New York on business &
then asked me if [ would not like to go home, as [ would have his company
as far as New York. I wish you would kindly enquire into this. I am sure
vou will find I am night.

My Gov. says something about my lending the money I have left out
on interest — how would this do? my going & working on some farm. But |
think it would be better to buy a farm again & if I worked like I did at first
| am sure my old Gov. would make the amount up to £1,000 [$5,000]
again pretty soon & then if I went on well would give me more. I should
like your opinion on these subjects

Ever yrs. Sincerely.
Bagy SHaw (as you called me)

[ might run up to town some Saturday till Monday & stay at your hotel &
have a talk

Whether or not the interview with William took place, Alfred got his way and

was soon back in the Close Colony
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From Le Mars James wrote that Ed Paullin was causing trouble. Boasting
of his family connection with the Closes, Ed attempted to syphon away some of
the land sale business, posing as an agent on property he had no claim to
whatsoever. And since the Paullins badly needed labor for their large farming
operation, Ed continued to lure pups from their assigned households. William
wrote sternly to Ed and sent a copy of the letter to James, who laconically
replied: “Mr. Benson can give you further details of what he heard East™ about
the Paullins. “Henry Paullin still amuses himself passing oft as a Britisher”

William’s “Pard.” Court, arrived in November and reported to William
that he had been to his tailor and to Cambndge for a boat race. He had also
been hunting with the Quorn pack and to a dog show in Birmingham. “I have
been paying visits at Liverpool and Manchester & getting what hunung I can
squeeze in. One of my cousins died most suddenly last week, so that prevented
my hunting for a few days. Should like, awfully, to see you but can’t say yet
when I could run up. . .as long as there is hunting I shall not be much in town.
I get four days with the Cheshire this week & Saturday with the Meynell, where
[ shall stay, I think, till Xmas.”

This carefree participation in country pleasures would never again be part
of William’s life, mostly because of ailing Mary, who couldn’t go anywhere.
Her role as sickly wife was very likely the Victorian woman'’s convenient escape
route from unhappiness, a kind of revenge, pulling down those immediately
around her. She may have already been in the early stages of a psychosis that
would worsen in time and eventually bring about her death at a young age.
The Close family chronicler, Anne Eaden, remarked years later that her Uncle
Bill “did everything he could to satisfy her every whim. Once she fancied a pair
of black carriage horses. He bought her the best to be had in London, where
they were living at the time. So it went on until she left him to go to someone
else”

But one pleasure of his youth continued to sustain William —rowing —
and he particularly enjoyed coaching the Cambridge crew in their various
trials. The rowing coach wrote William in late November 1880, “I am very glad
to think that I shall have your advice abour the men. . .1 think you will find
two very fair crews by Thursday, and I have hopes of their doing a very good
time at Ely on Saturday next.”

After the successful collegiate event, the coach reviewed “the points which
you especially mentioned. . . .” The interlude for William was a blessed return
to an intense, simplified contest. His love for rowing was an emotional involve-
ment that would never undergo the kind of trials experienced in his love life.
He had won the Head of the River Fours and Colquhouns at age twenty-one,
and the Cambridge University Boat Club Pairs the following year, when he also
participated in the University Boat Race. Three times he had rowed for Cam-
bridge against Oxford and one year was president of the club. Every magazine
and newspaper article about him and his colony in later years would identify
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him as a2 man “well-known on the river in times gone by as an accomplished
oarsman.’ or in similar phrases. Little wonder that in his final burial rites
instructions, according to the Times, "He expressed the wish that his Cam-
bridge and First Trinity Rowing ( lub colours should be carried with him to his

grave. '
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The Colony Portrayed

('l‘ blossoms like a rose,” booster newspapers
reported about the Close Colony; land values
were rising, and British settlers of means were
rapidly building up the country.! Land specu-
< lation and colonization did not at this point
7~ seem incompatible, for the trading of prairie
acres always at higher prices helped attract colonists. Since land everywhere 1n
the region increased in price, investments always paid off, should an immi-
grant decide for any reason to leave.

At the very moment the colony was fully coming into 1ts own, Close
Brothers business interests were farther and farther away. In order to handle
these transactions in land, James opened offices in two northern uer lIowa
county-seat towns, Rock Rapids and Sibley, and spent considerable time in
these locations. The firm purchased complete abstracts for entire countes to

keep informed on land sales; virgin prairie, which offered the chance of

greatest profits, was rapidly disappearing. Close Brothers not only received
sales commissions, management fees, charges for bank services to clients, and
share rents, but they also arranged the mortgages for tenant farmers who
would pay for the improvements the firm had made when buying their home-
steads. More staff was needed, particularly in the Le Mars office, which had
expanded, taking over an entire floor of the largest British-owned business
building. Major Charles Ball, who was also county attorney, had been a part-
time legal advisor but now joined the firm. He was a volaule, controversial
figure to be functioning in an official capacity—a man who illustrated how
thin the veneer of respectability really was and how close Le Mars could still be
to the Wild West

Two years before, in 1879, the town had been treated to a sensational rape
case involving a leading physician, Dr. W. B. Porter, who was charged with
seducing his fiancée by locking her in his office with him, pouring wine down
her throat, and twice forcing himself upon her. Dr. Porter claimed the young
lady had trumped up the rape charges following his announcement to her that
he wished to break off the engagement. Letters in her handwriting, which he
made public, indicated she had offered herself to him “as wife” during the
betrothal period. Porter claimed it was a frame-up; she sought revenge and
hoped to win back her lost honor. Nevertheless, the jury convicted him; he
appealed, and through legal delays kept himself in Le Mars. On 11 July 1880
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Dr. Porter was shot in the neck by Major Ball. “When nearly in tront of the
House of Lords,” according to a reporter, Ball “saw Porter emerging from an
alley-way. . . . As the two passed, Porter hissed between his teeth, ‘There goes
the son of a bitch! ” Ball had been the prosecuting attorney in Porters trial
He turned to Porter and said: “ ‘Don’t you repeat that! I won't stand 1t.” Porter
did repeat the offensive remark, at the same ume, making a motion as if to
draw his revolver. Ball drew his pistol, a small-calibred instrument, and fired.
Porter fell to the pavement, making a great noise and calling for help. . . . Sev-
eral Englishmen carried the wounded man to his office.” Dr. Porter recovered,
1nd since the town was “unanimously with Maj. Ball” no matter what the
circumstances involved, charges against Ball were dropped and he continued
his duties as county attorney. Close Brothers found him a useful addition to the
staff several months later.”

At the start of the 1881 season, Close Brothers advertised for 180 tenants.
Seed would be provided, and the tenant would get half the crop, pay halt the
threshing bill, and would be reimbursed $2.25 an acre for breaking new soil; if
he backset the stubble after harvest (dressing the field for next year's planting),
he would be paid an additional amount; and there was no obligation to stay
beyond one year. “Every forty farms or thereabouts are placed under the su-
perintendance of a steward. who is controlled directly by ourselves,” William
explained.’ The company had little difficulty finding suitable renters on these
terms. By this time many of their farmhouses were plastered inside and were
somewhat roomier than the 1879 cabins. There were trees around the build-
ings and an occasional woodlot. lowa law gave a $100 property tax exemption
for ten years for every acre of trees planted. The Closes ordered 400 trees for
their own farms on the West Fork, and in 1882 the company had 1,000 acres
planted: box elder, ash, maple, and cottonwood, plus a wide variety of fruit
and nut trees. In subsequent years these stands provided windbreaks, fuel,
fenceposts, shelter for livestock, and harvests of fruit and nuts.* Nowadays
large groves are seldom found in this part of Towa because of drouth years and
winterkill. Later generations felt the land was too valuable to fill with trees;
even the wild plum brush along fencerows would be grubbed out to make
fields bigger and thereby easier to work with large machinery.

FOR the colonist bent on settling, develop-
ment of one particular spot of prairie could be sufficiently absorbing; and if he
were a gentleman, as most claimed to be, his work and his leisure pursuits
reeded to be handled with the right attitude. “On one farm I met two tall and
handsome young farmers whose uncle had been a distinguished Member of
Parliament.’ wrote Bigelow in the April 1881 Harper s “The last time 1 had
<een them was in a London drawingroom. This time they tramped me through

‘he mud and manure of the barn-yard to show me some newly bought stock
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They were boarding with a Dutch farmer at three dollars per week in order to
learn practical farming. Both were thoroughly contented, and looking forward
to the future with pleasure” How amusing of them to regard their future as
here in these lowa cattle yards! “Another young farmer whom I noticed on
horseback with topboots, flannel shirt, sombrero, and belt-knife, was pointed
out to me as the grandson of the author of Paley’s Theology. He was attending
a cattle auction at Lemars, lowa.” The Fre/d’s correspondent, a few months
later, also cited Paley as being a champion bowler at cricket. Philosopher
William Paley's grandson was a gentleman immigrant who disregarded the
code about what a proper occupation should be for one of his class. He entered
the cattle business, not as a fancy breeder in the country-squire style of Captain
Moreton, but as a business partner in a livestock commission house. As a
sideline he went into the nursery trade with a young man from Nottingham
who would enter Oxford the following year—the stint in Iowa a mere in-
terlude. They sold carloads of forest and fruit trees, ornamental and fruit
shrubbery, all “especially adapted to this lattude.”

At the cattle auction in Le Mars, Bigelow also met the son of Thomas
Bayley Potter, “the distinguished honorary secretary of the Cobden Club and
M.P. for Rochdale.” Since Col. James Fenton's tather had also been in Parlia-
ment for Rochdale, the Iowa emigration may have come about through that
connection. Young Potter “had come out only to take a look at the place,
but. . .so fell in love with the life that he decided to invest.”

The Harper's reporter mentioned encountering a man who “had been an
admiral in the royal navy” Probably it was Admiral Sir Arthur Farquhar, an
occasional Towa visitor; his four sons, James, Albert, Mowbray, and William,
“together with an austere aunt Jane Farquhar, went out there and formed
‘Carlogie Ranch’'—Carlogie being the name of their father’s place in these
parts.” wrote Keith Caldwell, a Farquhar descendant. William, Mowbray, and
Jane were on board the Scyzhia, which arrived in New York on 8 April 1881
“My father, who married another Miss Farquhar, went out with his wife to Le
Mars and stayed with them,” Caldwell explained. Admiral Farquhar, whose
father also had been an admiral, entered service in 1829, saw action in the
bombardment of Acre, and participated in a battle against the pirates near
Borneo in 1849. Two years later he married and proceeded to have thirteen
children at regular intervals, all sons at first —which made him a prime pros-
pect for Close Brothers. With navy acquaintance Captain Moreton heading the
colony. emigration seemed an attractive idea. Sons three, four, five, and eight
were the principal settlers at Carlogie Ranch, situated on a small rise overlook-
ing Mink Creek just west of present-day Brunsville, lowa. Admiral Farquhar
bought 1,100 acres from Close Brothers and paid for the construction of a
splendid frame house. An attic water tank provided good water pressure and
the wide veranda on three sides could accommodate many rocking chairs.
There were gleaming wood paneling downstairs, hardwood floors throughout,

=




o L)

o

108 GENTLEMEN ON THE PRAIRIE

imported tiles for the fireplaces, and the kitchen-dining room arrangement was
suitable for a staff of “helps.” An alley of small trees led from the road to the
farmstead. The barns and house, although considerably altered, are still stand-
Ing.”

The Farquhars became a mainstay of the colony, and Admiral Farquhar
came for frequent visits. Jane helped run the houschold, at least until Albert
married the daughter of the Provost of Aberdeen, to which union a son was
born in late February 1888. “The northwestern blizzard heralded his coming,
and the surroundings were somewhat chilly for an unclothed stranger,” wrote a
Le Mars newspaper editor, Charles Dacres, whose father was also an admiral 1n
the Royal Navy. Young Albert, Jr., followed the family tradition of going to
sea and was killed in action in May 1916.°

All the Farquhar brothers participated in various sporting events of the
colony. James for several years was lawn tennis champion of Le Mars. Other
brothers played cricket, competed in foot races, rugby scrimmages, and even
polo, but their names appeared most often in newspaper accounts related to
farming — the prices they got for livestock on the Chicago market or their
introduction of special breeds such as the Clydesdale horse. In 1888 Albert
bought a champion stallion, “Paul Jones,” a highly thought of example.®

Gradually, the Farquhar brothers left Carlogie Ranch: James to British
Columbia. where he entered business; Mowbray joined the Canadian Mounted
Police: and William moved to Joliet, Illinois, upon his marriage to the daugh-
ter of a U.S. Navy officer, whose home was Chicago. “Do you think the name
Carlogie Ranch still survives?” Keith Caldwell, the nephew of these Farquhars
wondered. and answered himself immediately: “I doubt it” But Mrs.
Katherine Dickman, one of eight children raised at Carlogie Ranch after the
Farquhars sold out —although she did not know the name Carlogie —recalled
that her family “was always conscious that we had one of the finest homes
around.” She was particularly intrigued as a little girl by the pass-through
serving window between kitchen and dining room, and she loved the beautiful
fireplace tiles, though the fireplaces themselves were not used because central
heating had been installed.”

Caldwell also mentioned Almeric Paget, “an old friend,” who “used to
stay with us at Cambridge” Paget's name evoked the high social tone of the
colony; his grandfather, the Earl of Uxbridge and Marquess of Anglesey, had
married the daughter of the Earl of Jersey. Young Almeric was educated at
Harrow and Cambridge. He emigrated to America soon after graduation, hav-
ing come under William Close’s persuasive spell. A gregarious, attractive
young man with the very best connections in eastern U.S. society, he fre-
quently toured the country, a houseguest of his parents’ friends. During the
winter of 1883 - 1884 Paget spent six months in the East and New Orleans. He
excelled in cricket and participated in many colony matc hes, as well as foot-
races and other track events. He, too, felt no compunction about what might
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be suitable for a gentleman to “do” when far from home. Paget bought a soap
factory that used the by-products of a pork butchery establishment. Paget and
his partners were expected to bring to the business “the vigor and sagacity and
at the same time the conservative tendencies of the commercial classes of
England, where they received their training.” How amused he must have been
to read that newspaper account!'® One of his partners, Leuric Charles Cobbe,
came from Anglo-Irish landed gentry, one uncle High Sheriff of County Louth,
another a barrister, Inner Temple, London.'* Cobbe and Harry Eller continued
the soap factory after Paget pulled out; they, too, were appraised in the press as
“men of fine business qualities, indomitable energy, and abundant means.” By
1886 the factory, employing nine workers, was producing 50,000 pounds of
soap a week, with two salesmen on the road and one in the St. Paul office.

Paget quit the soap factory to join Fred Close in the movement of Close
Brothers to Pipestone, Minnesota, where he invested in city real estate and
built a large stone building for stores. By 1885 he was reputedly owner of
“considerable property” in Pipestone, but he traveled to Le Mars quite fre-
quently for horse racing and cricket. Paget probably returned to England in
1888 when his father died; but he was back in the States again for his marriage
to Pauline Whitney in 1895, in St. Thomas’s Episcopal Church, New York City.
Pauline was the daughter of William C. Whitney, secretary of the navy under
Grover Cleveland. The Paget/ Whitney wedding was attended by the president
and his wife, the governor of New York, two cabinet ministers, and all of New
York society. Gertrude Vanderbilt was a bridesmaid and Cornelius Vanderbilt
an usher. It was a long way from the soap business in Le Mars, Iowa. Back in
England, Paget became active in charitable causes and in 1918 was created
Baron Queenborough of County Kent. Lord Queenborough had five children,
all girls, and the title became extinct upon his death in 1949.

One of Lord Queenborough’s daughters, Lady Baillie, bought Leeds castle
in 1926, and with Whitney-inherited money restored the historic crenelated
Kentish ragstone structure into what Lord Conway, an authority on European
castles, called “the loveliest castle. . .in the whole world.”** Henry VIII had
brought Ann Boleyn to Leeds; it was also the residence of Eleanor of Castile,
the consort of Edward 1. Three hundred years ago Lord Culpepper owned the
castle when he took the assignment of royal governor of the colony of Virginia
at Jamestown. The superb condition of Leeds castle today, a result of extensive
funds poured into its reconstruction and refurbishment by one of the heirs of

the Whitney/Paget alliance, is an example of what sometimes happened when
gentlemen became immigrants.

POULINEY Bigelow in Harper's also reported
his meeting with a young man who “had been connected with a Shanghai
bank” — probably Herbert Cope, who arrived with his wife in the spring of
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1880, settling in Le Mars near his China-days friend, Adair Colpoys. Cope
began importing teas from the Orient, "pure tea selected for him by old
friends in China and Japan, now shipped directly to him at Le Mars,” for sale
in a local bakery and grocery store."

Herbert Cope’s singular mission in the colony was to prove that William
Close’s opinions on the best way to farm in Iowa were wrong. Close maintained
that western farming —with its cheap, available acres—should be undertaken
on a large scale, farming “less well” than a European was used to, but spread-
ing out to encompass a large area. Cope decided instead to apply British small-
tract farming to the lIowa situation. “To his practical mind,”’ said a newspaper
editor. “it seemed that the rich soil might be made to yield much larger crops
than were generally harvested.” Greater yield per acre, perhaps, but if the total
crop did not amount to sufficient quantity, would this sull be the wisest
course? Cope tried it both ways, buying a tract of 400 acres west of Le Mars that
he planted mostly in corn; and another—only 40 ac res— located a mile from
Captain Moreton's homestead, where he practiced intensive agriculture.'® On
this land Cope built his house, which was protected from northwest winds by 2
slight roll of the prairie—and set back from the road on a gentle elevation
which provided “a fine view of every acre of land on the farm.” He constructed
four tenant houses, sixteen by twenty-four feet, almost exactly the dimensions
of Close Brothers’ houses, two stories high and plastered throughout. Each had
a well, barn, and granary, and so few acres that the tenant would be able to
concentrate on “a very high state of cultivation.” Rural residences such as these
might also appeal to those who worked in Le Mars but preferred to live in the
country. Cope’s home, only slightly larger than those ot his tenants, was sur-
rounded by a lawn, with a neat barn, granary, and other outbuildings a short
distance away.'®

Cope planted five acres in Russian white oats, sowed with a slow-growing
clover: after harvesting the oats, the clover would be a hay crop, which he
expected to cut twice before frost. If indeed Cope's method was new to lowa, it
was taken up by most farmers in succeeding years, with red clover the usual
“under” crop. Cope planted his other fields with “rare and prolific plants, the
seed of which was brought from England, one being the Prickly Comfrey and
the other Lucerne Clover, and both of which make splendid fodder for stock.”
Several acres were devoted to potatoes, again from special English sources. One
of Cope’s gentleman tenants, a Mr. Smith, devoted full time to gardens of
vegetables; many varieties grown had been hitherto unknown in these parts.
Another tenant, Hugh Playfair Chiene, son of Major P. J. Chiene of Ellensbor-
ough, Dumbartonshire, had arrived in 1880 and met his bride through a
friend, Frank Sugden, whose sister Florence Emily, like so many other sisters of

colonists. had come to Iowa to help her brother.*
Herbert Cope tried to publicize his agricultural experiments by dropping
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by the Sentinel or Globe office with the latest crop specimens. He exhibited to
one editor a turnip weighing fourteen pounds, ten ounces, and a stalk of corn
seven feet six inches high and nearly one-half foot in circumference. With corn
like this Cope expected to harvest seventy-five bushels to the acre, considerably
better than the sixty or sixty-five common at that time. On several occasions he
sent his overseer with prime examples of produce; often he went himself,
having plenty of time as a gentleman farmer."’

Cope won prizes at the county fair with his alfalfa and other grasses and
grains. He touted prickly comfrey (a forage plant known for its effectiveness
against diarrhea and dysentery) for hog-feeding, claiming it helped ward off
cholera and other diseases. Cope also persisted in his tea importing, constantly
introducing new varieties, such as black tea from Japan. On the whole, his
agricultural efforts did not have the impact he hoped. Fellow colonists contin-
ued in their large-scale western farming ways, paying little heed to his re-
sults. The newspaper editors enjoyed his company, however. “Herbert
Cope. . .showed us the Christmas number of the London Graphic, and we
confess it to be the finest piece of pictorial magazine work we have ever seen.”
He was full of the latest news from Hong Kong and carried with him copies of
Anglo-Chinese newspapers.'®

The severe winter of 1883-1884 helped make up Cope’s mind about
lowa. In February 1884 he rented out the 400-acre tract and turned over his
residence, Troscoed, where his daughter had been born 1n 1882, to still another
tenant, on a five-year lease. He planned to live permanently in England. The
tea business? Three days before departure he announced that “his tea business
here is entirely discontinued, and that he has no agent for the sale of tea” This
commodity could still be gotten from Lee Hoo, who ran a Le Mars fancy
grocery. Cope returned to North America a few years later, settling in Medicine
Hat, Alberta."

Cope’s China-days friend, Adair Colpoys, son of the rector of Droxtford,
Hampshire, graduate of Trinity College, Cambridge, lived first in China and
then Australia, where he happened upon a copy of Close’s brochure. When he
learned Cope would be in the lowa colony, Colpoys decided to emigrate, but
he had a look at Rugby, Tennessee, first. He chose Le Mars, and not being
especially interested in farming, became a businessman in real estate, loans,
and finally insurance. Together with another Englishman who also became a
lifelong settler in Le Mars (A. C. Colledge), Colpoys insured the property of
Britons throughout the area.

With unabashed snobbery, every famous family name in the colony was
cherished; it served as the stamp of approval on every other participant’s pres-
ence. The Jervis brothers, Ronald and Cecil, were pups with Captain Moreton
in the summer of 1881 when their sister, Lady Harris, and her husband, a
noted cricketer, stopped by on their American tour (a heat wave, the tempera-
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ture at 102 degrees, made cricket-playing impossible). Ronald Jervis was a
third son, twenty-three years old when he emigrated to lowa with his younger
brother Cecil. Their father was Viscount St. Vincent. A career in Iowa agricul-
ture seemed a more solid prospect than basing their expectations on some fluke
in the primogeniture system that might bring about a place for them in the
Jervis family scheme. They bought a farm for $9,000 in 1882, the same place
Alfred “Baby” Shaw had sold in 1881 for $6,000. Cecil didn't stay long in
lowa, however, and Ronald, too, gave up and returned to England and even-
tually became Viscount St. Vincent, outliving other claimants.

When the Fie/d reporter visited Le Mars in July 1881 he was chauffeured
about the colony by Hugh Hornby (who would succumb to illness and die six
months later). “Mr. Hornby brings up a light buggy and a fast pair of trotters
one very sunny morning to the House of Lords for me, and preszo the capital of
the colony is left behind, and, with a passing glimpse of the well-cultivated
farm of Messrs. Warren, Maclagan, and Watson, we are on the prairie.” They
passed many English farms, “and at length drew bridle at the end of twenty
miles. to find ourselves at the door of the wonderfully comfortable house of
Mr. White Marsh, of Weatherfield, Essex.” Close had sent him out the previous
January, and by now Marsh had miraculously established himself; house and
barns built. fields broken and planted. “We had driven through hay to the
horse’s knees on this property for some time; fairly good looking sheep dotted
the hill some half-a-mile off, and everything had the air of solidity and com-
fort.. . .Mr. White Marsh was then an absentee; so on the backward trail we
put up at his neighbour’s. . . .English servants, English cooking, and thorough
English neatness and cleanliness characterised this property also.”

When the reporter stopped at Captain Moreton’s— “Lord Hobart, when I
was there, was mowing. . .." He was the only son of the assistant secretary in
the Indian Department, and